#### UNIVERSIDADE DE LISBOA Faculdade de Medicina



# DISSECTING FUNCTIONAL AND MOLECULAR SIGNATURES OF ANTI-TUMOUR MYELOID CELLS *IN VIVO*

Ana Raquel Vicente Lopes

Supervisor: Karine Serre, PhD Co-Supervisor: Bruno Silva-Santos, PhD

Dissertação especialmente elaborada para obtenção do grau de Mestre em Oncobiologia

2018

#### UNIVERSIDADE DE LISBOA Faculdade de Medicina



# DISSECTING FUNCTIONAL AND MOLECULAR SIGNATURES OF ANTI-TUMOUR MYELOID CELLS *IN VIVO*

Ana Raquel Vicente Lopes

Supervisor: Karine Serre, PhD Co-Supervisor: Bruno Silva-Santos, PhD

Dissertação especialmente elaborada para obtenção do grau de Mestre em Oncobiologia

2018

A impressão desta dissertação foi aprovada pelo Conselho Científico da Faculdade de Medicina de Lisboa em reunião de 19 de Fevereiro de 2019. "Nothing in life is to be feared, it is only to be understood. Now is time to understand more, so that we may fear less" - Marie Curie

> Ao meu maior fã, Avô

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Agradecimentos	. i
Abbreviation List	. iii
Abstract	. vii
Resumo	. ix
Chapter 1: Introduction	.1
1. The Immune System	.1
1.1. Innate and adaptive arms of the immunity	.1
1.2. Myeloid cells - Ontogeny and Functions	. 3
1.2.1 Monocytes	. 4
1.2.2. Macrophages	4
1.2.2.1. Tumour-associated Macrophages (TAMs)	6
1.2.3. Neutrophils	8
1.2.3.1. Tumour-associated Neutrophils (TANs)	8
1.2.4. Myeloid-derived Suppressor Cells	9
2. Nature of Cancer	10
2.1 Tumour microenvironment (TME)	11
2.2. Cancer Immunoediting: From Immune surveillance	
to escape	11
3. Breast Cancer	13
3.1. TAMs in breast cancer	15
3.2. TANS in breast cancer	16
3.3. Tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes in breast cancer	16
4. Immunotherapy	17
4.1. Vaccination Strategies	17
4.2. Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors (ICI)	. 18
4.3. Adoptive T cell transfer therapy	20
5. Macrophages-targeted therapy	21
5.1. Depletion of TAMs	. 21
5.2. Limiting monocytes recruitment	. 22
5.3. Reprogramming of TAMs	. 23
Chapter 2: Hypothesis and Objectives	. 26
Chapter 3: Methods	. 27
1. Mice	. 27
2. Cell lines	. 27
3. In vivo tumour transplantation	. 27
4. In vivo treatments	. 27
5. <i>In vivo</i> depletion and neutralization of specific cell lineages	. 28
6. Flow Cytometry analysis	28
7. In vitro tumour cell proliferation assay	. 30
8. In vitro bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDM)	. 31

9. Killing assay	31
10. RNA isolation, complementary DNA production	
and real-time PCR	31
11. Immunohistochemical assays	32
12. Statistical analysis	33
Chapter 4: Results	34
1. Effect of TLR ligands in combination with	
anti-CD40 on E0771 breast tumour cells	
2. Effect of intra-tumour injection of	
TLR ligands plus anti-CD40 on tumour growth <i>in vivo</i>	35
3. <i>In vivo</i> TLR3/CD40 effect	
on myeloid lineage	37
4. <i>In vivo</i> TLR3/CD40 dependency	
on macrophages	38
5. TLR3/CD40 treatment induces anti-tumour	
macrophages	39
6. Role of IL-18. TNF- $\alpha$ and iNOS in response to	
TLR3/CD40	41
7. <i>In vivo</i> re-challenge of TLR3/CD40 treatment	
and immunologic memory	45
8. Required cells for tumour complete eradication	
upon treatment	46
9. Effector functions of CD8+ T cells upon treatment	
with TLR3/CD40	47
10. Indirect pathway between macrophages	
and CD8+ T cells	49
11. In vivo anti-tumour effect of other TLR ligand in combination	
with anti-CD40 and dependency on neutrophils	49
Chapter 5: Discussion	51
1. Experimental limitations	51
2. TLR3/CD40 treatment acts on macrophages	
and leads tumour complete remission	52
3. In vivo TLR4/CD40 anti-tumour effect	
depends on neutrophils	56
4. Long-term goal of our findings	56
5. Translation and implication of our findings	57
Supplementary Figures	60
References	65

## AGRADECIMENTOS

Porque acredito que este trabalho é mais um passo na minha vida profissional, dedico-o a todos aqueles que, de uma forma directa ou indirecta, estiveram envolvidos na concretização desta tese de mestrado e que sem eles nada disto seria possível.

Em primeiro lugar quero agradecer ao Professor Bruno Silva-Santos pela confiança, entusiasmo e pela oportunidade de poder aprender com os melhores. Agradeço também a todos os elementos do laboratório, sem excepção, pela boa disposição, entreajuda e discussões científicas. Um muito obrigada à Natacha pela paciência por lhe estar sempre a interromper para fazer perguntas "administrativas".

Um agradecimento muito especial a toda a equipa que trabalhou directamente comigo. À Karine agradeço-lhe toda a confiança que depositou em mim para desenvolver este projecto, por todo o conhecimento transmitido e por toda a paciência ao longo deste último ano. Obrigada pela disponibilidade e sinceridade, mas principalmente pela oportunidade que me deu de errar, de aprender e de crescer como cientista. Quero igualmente agradecer à Sofia por toda a ajuda na execução experimental, disponibilidade, simpatia e acima de tudo por todos os conselhos. Um grande obrigada às duas por tudo o que me ensinaram, quer na ciência, quer para a vida.

Como é óbvio também não poderia deixar de agradecer aos meus dois companheiros, não só de mestrado, mas também de limpeza da sala de cultura: Tiago e Daniel. A eles junto também o Carlos e o Henning a quem agradeço todas as conversas e discussões científicas. Um obrigada também muito especial ao Miguel pelas nossas conversas e dados partilhados para esta tese.

Quero ainda aproveitar para agradecer aos elementos vizinhos dos laboratórios do Professor Luís Graça e Marc Veldhoen pelos protocolos, reagentes e simpatia. Um obrigada também ao laboratório do Professor Luís Costa, mais especificamente à Professora Sandra Casimiro, pelos reagentes necessários para optimizar a técnica de imunohistoquímica.

Gostaria também de agradecer a todos os membros das unidades que utilizei ao longo deste último ano por toda a simpatia e disponibilidade: biotério e citometria de fluxo. Um obrigada muito especial a todos os elementos da unidade de Histologia com quem passei os últimos meses: Tânia, Ana Rita, Pedro e Vitor. Obrigada por todo o apoio, dedicação e discussões. Posso dizer que o vosso "Livro das respostas" também foi um grande incentivo e ajuda nos momentos mais difíceis.

Um muito obrigado aos meus dois pilares, Sara e Henrique, não só por todas as palavras de encorajamento, força e ânimo que me deram, mas também pela vossa amizade e pelas conversas descontraídas. Um obrigada também muito especial a todos os meus colegas do Pavilhão do Conhecimento por todo o apoio, partilha de ideias e discussões científicas durante este último ano.

Por fim, mas não menos importante, um enorme obrigada à minha família, sem a qual esta etapa não teria sido concretizada. Aos meus avós, tios e primos por acreditarem em mim, vibrarem com os meus feitos e por se orgulharem como orgulham. À minha mãe, cuja disponibilidade é total quando se trata de me apoiar e que fez com que todas as minhas preocupações se transformassem em resoluções. Ao meu pai, que apesar de não demonstrar o que sente, quero agradecer-lhe por todo o apoio e acima de tudo pela liberdade de escolha, pois nunca foi capaz de pôr em causa o caminho que quis seguir, mesmo que ás vezes não pareça ser o mais estável: obrigada por me proporcionares chegar até aqui nos meus estudos.

Ao Lívio, só me resta agradecer-lhe por todo o seu amor, suporte e felicidade partilhada ao longo destes oito anos. Obrigada pela compreensão, por ouvires as minhas preocupações e desabafos, mas acima de tudo por toda a paciência que tens para o meu mau feitio e humor!

Foi efectivamente um ano cheio de obstáculos e muito intenso, mas tornou-se muito mais fácil de ultrapassar tendo pessoas como vocês para superar todas as dificuldades. E apesar de este trabalho ter o meu nome, tem uma pitada de todos vocês e muito pouco de só meu. A todos vocês: Muito obrigada/ Thank you/ Merci beaucoup/ Grazie mille/ Muchas gracias / Brigadão (com sotaque brasileiro)/ Vielen Dank!

## **ABBREVIATION LIST**

АСТ	Adoptive cell transfer
ADCC	Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity
ADCP	Antibody-dependent cell-mediated phagocytosis
ALL	Acute lymphocytic leukemia
AML	Acute myelogenous leukemia
AP	Alkaline phosphatase
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
A2aR	Adenosine 2a receptor
BCG	Bacillus-Calmette Guerin
BMDM	Bone marrow -derived macrophages
BLBC	Basal-like breast cancer
BTLA	B and T cell lymphocyte attenuator
В7-НЗ	B7 homolog 3
CAR	Chimeric antigen receptor
CCL	C-C motif chemokine ligand
CCR	C-C motif chemokine receptor
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CLL	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia
CSF1	Colony-stimulating factor 1
CSF1R	Colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor
CTL	Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4
CTV	Cell track violet
DAMP	Damage-associated molecular pattern
DC	Dendritic cell
DMEM	Dulbelcco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
ER	Estrogen receptor
Fas	First apoptosis signal
FasL	First apoptosis signal ligand
FCS	Fetal Calf Serum
FDA	U.S. Food and Drug Administration
FMO	Fluorescence minus one
G-CSF	Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
gp100	Glycoprotein 100
HBV	Hepatitis B virus

HCC	Hepatocellular carcinoma
HER2+	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HIF	Hypoxia-inducible factor
HNSCC	Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma
HPV	Human papillomavirus
HRG	Histidine-rich glycoprotein
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell
IC	Immune complex
ICI	Immune checkpoint inhibitor
IFN	Interferon
IFN-γ	Interferon-γ
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IL	Interleukine
ILC	Innate lymphoid cell
IMM JLA	Instituto de Medicina Molecular   João Lobo Antunes
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide sythase
IP	Intraperitoneal
IT	Intratumoural
IV	Intravenous
LAG-3	Lymphocyte activation gene-3
M1	Classically activated macrophages
M2	Alternatively activated macrophages
mAb	Monoclonal antibody
MAGE-A3	Melanoma-associated antigen 3
MART-1	Melanoma-associated antigen recognized by T cells
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
mCRPC	Metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer
M-CSF	Macrophage colony-stimulating factor
M-CSFR	Macrophage colony-stimulating factor receptor
MDSC	Myeloid-derived suppressor cell
MEM NEAA	Minimum Essential Medium Non-Essential Amino Acids
МНС	Major histocompability complex
M-MLV	Moloney Murine Leukemia Virus
MMP	Metalloproteinase
MPO	Myeloperoxidase
miRNA	Micro-RNA
NET	Neutrophil extracellular traps
NHL	Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma
NO	Nitric Oxide
NSCLC	Non-small cell lung cancer
NY-ESO-1	New York esophageal squamous cell carcinoma

OS	Overall survival
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PBS	Phosphate Buffer Saline
PD-1	Programmed cell death protein 1
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PD-L1	Programmed cell death protein ligand 1
РМА	Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate
PR	Progesterone receptor
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
PSA	Prostatic acid phosphatase
P/S	Penicillin/Streptomycin
RBC	Red Blood Cell
Rag2 <sup>-/-</sup> γc <sup>-/-</sup>	Rag2 <sup>-/-</sup> common gamma chain
RCC	Renal cell carcinoma
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
rpm	Rotations per minute
RT	Room temperature
scFv	Single-chain fragment variant
SIRPα	Signal regulatory protein $\alpha$
sVEGF	Soluble vascular endothelial growth factor
TAA	Tumour-associated antigen
TAM	Tumour-associated macrophages
TAN	Tumour-associated neutrophils
TCR	T cell receptor
TIL	Tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes
TIM-3	T cell immunoglobulin-3
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor $meta$
Th1	T helper type 1 cell
Th2	T helper type 2 cell
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TME	Tumour microenvironemt
TNBC	Triple-negative breast cancer
TNF- $\alpha$	Tumour necrosis factor $\alpha$
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
Treg	Regulatory T cell
TSA	Tumour-specific antigen
TSLP	Thymic stromal lymphopoiectin
UC	Urothelial carcinoma
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VISTA	V-domain Ig suppressor of T cell activation
WT	Wild-type

## ABSTRACT

The tumour microenvironment is a heterogeneous ecosystem that can be densely populated by immune cells, both of lymphoid and myeloid origin. Usually, up to 50% of the immune infiltrate can be constituted by a multitude of myeloid cells that, accordingly to environmental cues, can either act as anti-tumoural or pro-tumoural effector cells.

Plasticity is a widely accepted hallmark of myeloid cells and to date there has been a disproportionate attention on pro-tumour over anti-tumour myeloid cell functions. However, we believe that more efforts should be put on understanding how to enhance the protective activity of myeloid cells in cancer. In this thesis, to study myeloid cells as they perform anti-tumour effector functions *in vivo*, we took advantage of their inherent capacity to respond to maturing agents such as TLR ligands and co-stimulatory agonists.

We found that in the orthotopic E0771 mammary tumour model, the injection of TLR3 ligand plus anti-CD40 mAb was able to induce tumour regression in a macrophage-dependent manner. These macrophages were stimulated to produce specific pro-inflammatory cytokines and enzymes. In addition, CD8+ T cells were activated, thus promoting a cytotoxic response leading to the complete eradication of tumours in TLR3/anti-CD40 treated mice.

These results led us to question whether other distinct TLR ligands could induce complete remission of the tumour, potentially dependent on different anti-tumour myeloid cell lineages. Indeed, we found that TLR4 ligand in combination with anti-CD40 mAb induced tumour elimination in a neutrophildependent manner.

Altogether, in this thesis we were successfully able to shape the tumour microenvironment towards boosting the anti-tumour potential of macrophages and neutrophils using different and non-overlapping treatments.

In sum, our results lay the groundwork for further studies that will combine unbiased approaches (transcriptomics) with *in situ* assessment of the biology, functionality and differentiation program of anti-tumour macrophages and neutrophils. In the longer run, we hope such knowledge will help to design new strategies to manipulate myeloid cells in order to unleash their anti-tumour potential and thus contribute to more efficient cancer immunotherapies.

**Keywords:** macrophages, neutrophils, TLR ligands, anti-CD40 agonist mAb, cancer immunotherapy

### Resumo

Ao longo dos últimos anos, o aumento do conhecimento acerca do sistema imunitário e da sua importância na destruição das células tumorais tem levado ao desenvolvimento de novas estratégias imunoterapêuticas. Estas estratégias representam uma nova era na área da oncologia e têm como principal objectivo estimular e potenciar uma resposta imune. Porém, apesar de todos os resultados clínicos notáveis, uma fração significativa dos pacientes não responde à imunoterapia. Esta resistência é o resultado da capacidade das células tumorais manipularem o microambiente e promoverem imunossupressão local permitindo-lhes escapar ao reconhecimento e eliminação por células imunes.

O microambiente tumoral tem sido alvo de grande atenção por parte dos investigadores por estar directamente envolvido na progressão tumoral. Para além das células neoplásicas, este é também constituído por diversas populações celulares, tais como as do estroma ou das linhagens linfóide e mielóide do sistema imunitário. Habitualmente, mais de 50% da infiltrado imune é composto por células mielóides que, de acordo com as informações que recebem do microambiente, podem estimular ou inibir a resposta imunitária anti-tumoral.

As células mielóides têm uma grande plasticidade e até hoje tem havido uma atenção desproporcional entre as células que promovem o crescimento do tumor (pró-tumorais) relativamente às que tentam travar o seu crescimento (anti-tumorais). Contudo, acreditamos que deveriam ser feitos mais esforços de modo a perceber de que forma poderíamos aumentar a actividade protectora destas células. Para isso, neste trabalho utilizou-se um modelo ortotópico de células tumorais mamárias de ratinho (E0771) com o objectivo de estudar a actividade anti-tumoral das células mielóides durante o desenvolvimento tumoral *in vivo*, tirando partido do facto de estas serem capazes de responder a vários sinais, mais especificamente a ligandos de receptores de Toll (TLR) e moléculas co-estimuladoras.

Nesta tese foi possível demonstrar que *in vivo*, a injecção intra-tumoral dos ligandos de TLR2/1 (Pam3CSK4), 2/6 (Pam2CSK4), 3 (Poly I:C), 4 (LPS) e 9 (CpG) em combinação com o agonista anti-CD40, levou à remissão total do tumor. Além disso, *in vitro* estes ligandos de TLR não têm um impacto directo na proliferação das células tumorais, o que significa que o efeito destes tratamentos deverá ocorrer através da manipulação das células células que constituem o microambiente tumoral.

O Poly I:C é uma molécula de RNA de cadeia dupla associada a infeções virais e que consegue ser muito semelhante à activação que é feita aquando do aparecimento de um tumor. *In vitro* foi ainda possível observar que este imunoestimulador, em combinação com o anticorpo agonista anti-CD40, é um dos que menos afecta a expressão de moléculas do complexo maior de imunohistocompatibilidade classe I e II bem como dos marcadores

imunossupressores dos ligandos de PD-1 das células tumorais. Com isto, decidimos dissecar os mecanismos específicos de acção pelos quais o tratamento intra-tumoral com o Poly I:C em combinação com o anticorpo agonista anti-CD40 levavam à eliminação do tumor. Desta análise, concluiu-se o efeito era dependente dos macrófagos (CD11b+ F4/80+ Ly6C+/-), uma vez que após a depleção destas células o tratamento deixou de funcionar. Descobrimos ainda que o tratamento levou a um aumento da produção de citocinas pró-inflamatórias, tais como IL-1 $\beta$  e TNF- $\alpha$  ou mesmo enzimas, como o iNOS pelos macrófagos. Paralelamente a este aumento, houve uma diminuição da expressão do marcador imunossupressor PD-L1 nos ratinhos que tinham sido tratados em comparação com os não tratados.

Os nossos resultados mostraram ainda que, após a re-injecção das células tumorais E0771 na glândula mamária de ratinhos onde o tumor já tinha sido eliminado, este não voltava a crescer. Este resultado sugere assim a capacidade de este tratamento com o ligando do TLR3 em combinação com o agonista anti-CD40 criar uma memória imunológica capaz de reconhecer o tumor como estranho e eliminá-lo. Sabendo que as células T CD8+ estão associadas à memória imunológica e são altamente citotóxicas, colocámos então a possibilidade de estas terem também um papel na eliminação do tumor uma vez que a produção de TNF-  $\alpha$  e IFN- $\gamma$  por estas células era aumentada pelo tratamento. As células T CD8+ mostraram então ser fundamentais para a eliminação o tumor, sendo que a sua depleção evitava a regressão tumoral. dependente das células T CD8+. Além disso, as células T CD8+, cuja produção de TNF- $\alpha$  e IFN- $\gamma$  é aumentada pelo tratamento, mostraram ser fundamentais para

Através destas descobertas foi então possível construir um modelo dividido em dois passos (*two-step model*) onde o tratamento com o ligando de TLR3 em combinação com o anticorpo agonista anti-CD40 leva à activação dos macrófagos e mais tarde, de uma forma directa ou indirecta (via células dendríticas), as células T CD8+ são também activadas e tornam-se capazes de gerar uma resposta citotóxica contra os tumores, levando à sua total erradicação nos animais tratados.

a eliminação do tumor, uma vez que a sua depleção evitava a regressão tumoral.

Posteriormente analisámos a acção de outros ligandos de TLR na capacidade de indução de remissão total do tumor e de activação de outras células com propriedades propriedades anti-tumorais da linhagem mielóide: os neutrófilos. Chegámos à conclusão de que, em animais onde era feita a depleção destas células através do anticorpo anti-Gr1, a injecção intra-tumoral do Pam3CSK4, Pam2CSK4 e CpG com o anticorpo agonista anti-CD40 continuava a gerar uma resposta anti-tumoral resultando na regressão do tumor. Porém, com a injecção intra-tumoral do ligando de TLR4 em combinação com o agonista anti-CD40, em ratinhos depletados para neurófilos mostrou-se ineficaz na indução de regressão tumoral. Estes resultados levaram-nos a concluir que a injecção do ligando TLR4 com o anticorpo agonista anti-CD40 não só levava à regressão total

do tumor, mas também actuava directamente nos neutrófilos, tornando-os antitumorais. No entanto, são necessários estudos mais detalhados para perceber de que forma é que este tratamento funciona tal como foi feito para os macrófagos através do tratamento com o Poly I:C em combinação com o anticorpo anti-CD40.

Neste projecto fomos então capazes de alterar o microambiente tumoral e, em particular, de estimular a capacidade anti-tumoral dos macrófagos e dos neutrófilos através de diferentes tratamentos.

Em suma, os resultados nesta tese são promissores e levam-nos a ambicionar por mais estudos que sejam capazes de decifrar quais os programas de transcrição e diferenciação responsáveis por tornar estas células imunes antitumorais. No futuro, acreditamos que estes resultados nos poderão ajudar a desenvolver novas estratégias para manipular e aumentar o poder anti-tumoral destas células mielóides, de modo a melhorar a eficácia da imunoterapia do cancro.

**Palavras-chave:** macrófagos, neutrófilos, ligandos de TLR, agonista anti-CD40, imunoterapia do cancro

## **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

#### 1. The Immune System

Despite being surrounded by harmful organisms, toxins and the threat of our own transformed cells, humans manage to survive largely because of our immune system. The principal challenge for the host is to detect the pathogens or transformed cells and mount a rapid defense response. This response is classically divided into two components accordingly to the speed and specificity of the reaction: the innate or natural and adaptive or acquired immunity (Beutler, 2004)(Figure 1).

#### **1.1. Innate and adaptive arms of the immunity**

Innate immune response includes not only chemical barriers, such as lysozyme in tears or low pH in the stomach, but also physical barriers like the epithelium in the skin and cilia in airways in order to keep invaders out. In vertebrates, the innate immune response is the first line of defense against infectious disease and is characterized by a quick response that is executed in part through the expression of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), which are fundamental for the recognition of a wide range of pathogens. Such PRRs include NOD-like receptors or C-type lectin receptors, but toll-like receptors (TLRs) were the first described and have been extremely studied as possible targets in several types of diseases, like cancer. This particular interest for TLRs comes from the fact that they are fundamental sensor molecules involved in the recognition of pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and initiate a signaling cascade that leads to the expression of several inflammatory cytokines and chemokines necessary to arm the host cell against the pathogen (Kawai & Akira, 2011; Medzhitov & Janeway, 2002). This natural system is largely composed and dependent upon myeloid cells: professional immunocytes that are able to engulf and destroy pathogens (monocytes/macrophages, neutrophils, and dendritic cells (DCs)), and cells that produce inflammatory mediators (basophils, eosinophils and mast cells) (Tonegawa, 1983).

The adaptive arm is constituted by lymphocytes: B and T cells (Burnet, 1958). B cells develop in the bone marrow and upon stimulation, secrete antibodies that are able to remember previous antigen encounters and quickly eliminate extracellular microorganisms (Delves & Roitt, 2000). T cells originate from the thymus, and may further be divided in  $\alpha\beta$  T cells (large subset) and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, according to the chains that constitute their T cell receptor (TCR).  $\alpha\beta$  T cells can be segregated into helper CD4+ T cells and cytotoxic CD8+ T cells. These cells circulate and are activated in secondary lymphoid organs by antigen-presenting cells (APCs) that process antigens and display specific cell proteins at their surface, known as major histocompability complex (MHC) (Cooper & Alder,

2006). Regarding helper CD4+ T cells, they can be divided into three major subtypes with distinct phenotypes: T helper type-1 (Th1), T helper type-2 (Th2) and T helper type-17 (Th17) cells. Th1 cells secrete interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$  and tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- $\beta$ , which make these cells highly antiinflammatory. On the other hand, Th2 cells secrete several interleukins (ILs), such as IL-4 or IL-10 and are not only involved in the elimination of extracellular parasites, but also on the activation of B cells. Finally, Th17 cells secrete IL-6, IL-17, IL-22 and TNF- $\alpha$ . They are involved in tissue inflammation, autoimmunity and in the combat of extracellular bacteria and fungi. Regulatory T cells (Tregs) also derive from naive CD4+ T cells and they secrete IL-10 and transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\beta$ . They are immunosuppressive and are involved in the regulation of immune responses, maintenance of tolerance to self-antigens and prevention of autoimmune diseases (Kaiko, Horvat, Beagley, & Hansbro, 2007).

By contrast to  $\alpha\beta$  T cells, most  $\gamma\delta$  T cells populate epithelial tissues where they quickly respond to stress signals expressed by local cells (Hayday, 2009).

T cell activation is complex, requiring cognate antigen recognition and activation signals from professional APCs such as appropriate costimulatory molecules (CD80 and CD86) and cytokine signaling. Upon activation, T cells proliferate and differentiate into specific effectors. This is regulated by the induction of selective transcriptional programs that lead to the acquisition of effector functions characteristic of CD4+ or CD8+ T cells. For instance CD4 helper T cells usually produce cytokines while CD8+ cytotoxic T cells express effector molecules such as perforin and granzymes (Nicholson, 2016).

Importantly, innate responses occur to the same extend independently of the number of times a pathogen is encountered, while the adaptive system is able to mount a stronger and more specific response during second challenges (Elves, Roitt, Mackay, & Rosen, 2000).

Cells of the adaptive immune system are dependent upon the myeloid compartment: without antigen presentation by innate immune cells (e.g. DCs), and without production of cytokines from innate origin (IL-12, type I IFNs and TNF), adaptive immune responses are not induced. With this in mind, we can say that while adaptive and innate immunity work hand in hand, adaptive immunity depends on innate immunity. This report aims at understanding the role of myeloid cells in cancer. Therefore, we will pay particular attention onwards to the detailed introduction of the myeloid compartment.



Figure 1: Cells from innate and adaptive immune systems. Based on Dranoff, 2004.

#### **1.2. Myeloid cells - Ontogeny and Functions**

Myeloid cells, that arise from pluripotent hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) in the bone marrow, are specialized "sentinels" and fighters of the innate immune system, being of key importance in the containment of infection.

Myeloid cells are the most abundant nucleated hematopoietic cells in the human body, are extremely short-lived (usually, less than three days) and are composed of monocytes/macrophages, DCs, and granulocytes (neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils and mast cells) (Gabrilovich, Ostrand-rosenberg, & Bronte, 2012) (Figure 2).



**Figure 2: Hematopoiesis under normal physiological conditions.** Based on Gabrilovich, Ostrand-rosenberg, & Bronte, 2012.

#### 1.2.1. Monocytes

During steady state, circulating monocytes have a half-life of one to three days and constitute ~5-10% of peripheral circulation leukocytes in humans (van Furth & Cohn, 1968; Gordon & Taylor, 2005; Yona et al., 2013). These cells are equipped with a set of TLRs, which makes them able to recognize and remove microorganisms, lipids and dying cells by phagocytosis. Upon danger signals, monocytes are rapidly recruited to the tissue, where they can differentiate into anti-inflammatory macrophages or dendritic cells (Nahrendorf et al., 2007).

Therefore, these cells are highly plastic, being able to change their functional phenotype accordingly to the stimulus received from the environment.

Studies already have shown that mice deficient in colony-stimulating factor 1 (CSF1) or its receptor, CSF1R are very important for both monocyte differentiation and survival (Dai et al., 2002).

#### 1.2.2. Macrophages

Historically, macrophages were first identified in the late 19<sup>th</sup> century by Élie Metchnikoff because of their phagocytic nature (Metchnikoff, 1892). This discovery gave him Noble Prize in Physiology or Medicine in 1908 together with Paul Ehrlich.

Ontogenically, tissue-resident macrophages derive from at least three

different sources: the embryonic yolk sac, the fetal liver and the bone marrow. During embryogenesis, the first organ to be populated is the brain with macrophages that arise from the yolk sac: microglia. Later on, the fetal liver is populated by macrophages derived from the yolk sac and they give rise to tissue-resident macrophages in several organs, such as bone, lung, liver, spleen, pancreas and kidney (osteoclasts, alveolar, kupffer, splenic, pancreas and kidney macrophages, respectively) and persist into adulthood (Ginhoux & Guilliams, 2016; Guerriero, 2018) (Figure 3). Upon homeostatic changes, such as infections, cardiovascular diseases, obesity (metabolic imbalance) or cancer, bone marrow- derived macrophages also play a crucial role in inflammatory and reparatory responses during pathogenic infection and tissue injury (Cassado, 2015; Mosser & Edwards, 2008; J. Yang, Zhang, Yu, Yang, & Wang, 2014).

As soon as a pathogen enters in the host by any route, macrophages that are embedded in all tissues will be rapidly attracted to the invasive organism (Beutler, 2004). They are capable of engulfing and killing pathogens and throughout the secretion of chemotactic cytokines, they can also recruit other innate and adaptive cells to the site of infection (e.g. neutrophils or T cells, respectively). Even though pathogen detection and phagocytosis can provide the initial stimulus, the activity of macrophages can be increased by cytokines released by CD4+ T cells, such as interferon gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ), which is one of the most potent macrophage activator (Duque & Descoteaux, 2014).

Macrophages, although not as efficient as DCs, are also APCs. They are able to initiate an adaptive immune response to most pathogens by presenting antigens to CD4+ T cells via MHC II (Beutler, 2004).

They are highly heterogeneous, which means that they can adapt to distinct tissue environments and are also able to develop niche-specific functions (Cassado, 2015).



Figure 3: Macrophages Ontogeny. Based on Guerriero 2018.

#### 1.2.2.1 Tumour-associated macrophages (TAMs)

Macrophages are able to change their physiology in response to epigenetic modifications or different environmental cues, such as cytokine signals (Galli, Borregaard, & Wynn, 2011; Sica & Mantovani, 2012). Mirroring Th1 and Th2 responses, the bioactive state of macrophages is a dynamic process characterized by different populations with distinct functions such as: classically (M1) and alternatively (M2) activated macrophages. M2 macrophages can be further divided into M2a, M2b, M2c and M2d (Gordon, 2003; Mantovani et al., 2004) (Figure 4).

M1-like or classically activated macrophages play central roles in host defense and anti-tumour immunity. This can be explained by the fact that PAMPs and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) act in synergy with natural killer and T cell-derived IFN- $\gamma$  in order to polarize macrophages via STAT1. This signaling induces a program characterized by the production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species that increase microbicidal and tumouricidal activities (Mosser & Edwards, 2008; Sindrilaru et al., 2011). Classical M1 cells are high producers of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-12, IL-23, IL1- $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 (Sica & Mantovani, 2012). In tumourigenesis, M1 generally act as potent antitumour effectors by antagonizing the suppressive activities of pro-tumoural cells, such as M2 or myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) (Nardin & Abastado, 2008). However, macrophages gradually lose their anti-tumour properties and acquire a more pro-tumorigenic phenotype during tumour progression (Lança & Silva-santos, 2012).

M2a or alternatively activated macrophages are anti-inflammatory, regulate wound healing, and their polarization is a programmed response by STAT6-activating cytokines IL-4 and IL-13 (Gordon & Taylor, 2005).

IL-1 receptor ligands, immune complexes (ICs) and lipopolysaccharides (LPS) elicit M2b polarization and they are considered immune regulators. They secrete IL-1, IL-6, IL-10 and also TNF- $\alpha$ . The third type, M2c, is elicited by IL-10, TGF –  $\beta$  and glucocorticoids. Usually they are involved in tissue repair and remodeling. M2d activation is elicited by IL-6 and is known to enhance the induction and growth of tumour cells through angiogenesis (Duluc et al., 2007; Y. Liu & Cao, 2015; Martinez & Gordon, 2014; Mosser & Edwards, 2008).

In general, M2-like macrophages have mainly immunosuppressive activity (Murray & Wynn, 2011) and these pro-tumor macrophages can display pleiotropic functions within tumors, from enhancing tumor cell survival and proliferation (Mantovani, Marchesi, Malesci, & Laghi, 2017), to inducing angiogenesis (Ono, Torisu, Fukushi, Nishie, & Kuwano, 1999), and suppressing local anti-tumor lymphocyte-based immunity (Ruffell et al., 2014; Zelenay et al., 2015). They also promote cancer dissemination through extracellular matrix reorganization (Finkernagel et al., 2016), and consequently both lymph and blood intravazation that promotes metastization (Storr et al., 2012).

Therefore, macrophages can either maintain tissue homeostasis by serving various housekeeping functions, including host defense, inflammatory responses and anti-tumour capacities or be subverted by continuous insult, suppressing these functions.

*In vitro* and *in vivo* studies have revealed that macrophages can mediate chemotherapy resistance by providing specific survival factors and/or activating anti-apoptotic programs in cancer cells (Castells et al., 2012; Correia & Bissell, 2012). Prognostic significance of TAMs in human cancers has been established by epidemiological evidence showing a positive correlation between high numbers of TAMs and poor patient outcome in some types of cancer, namely head and neck, oral, thyroid, lung, breast, liver, pancreatic, bladder, kidney, ovarian and endometrial cancers as well as Hodgkin lymphoma (Gentles et al., 2015; Ruffell & Coussens, 2015; Steidl et al., 2010; Q. Zhang et al., 2012). Still, there are few cases where high TAM density has also been associated with increase in survival in other types of cancers, such as colon and gastric. This means that the prognostic significance of TAMs is still controversial and highlights the importance of establishing the type/stage of cancer and the phenotype and functional activities of the TAMs (Forssell et al., 2007; Ruffell & Coussens, 2015; Satoshi, O. Hiroyuki, I. Dhar, D. Toshiyuki, F. Shuhei, U. Mitsuo, T. Nobutaka, S. Masaki, I. Gen Ichiro, 2003; Q. Zhang et al., 2012).



Figure 4: Macrophage polarization during tumour progression. Based on Weagel, 2015.

#### **1.2.3.** Neutrophils

In humans, neutrophils account for 50% to 70% of all circulating leukocytes, and they have a very short half-life of few hours in the circulation. Not surprisingly, more than half of the bone marrow is dedicated to the production of neutrophils (Beutler, 2004; Edwards, 1994). Like other hematopoietic cells, neutrophils are formed in the bone marrow in response to several cytokines, principally to granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) (Borregaard, 2010).

In order to respond to invaders, neutrophils have specific receptors that are able to induce intracellular signals that lead to pathogen-killing capacities. In response to pro-inflammatory stimuli in the tissue, neutrophils rapidly accumulate at sites of infection and inflammation, being specialized at exerting anti-microbial activities. This fully activated state of neutrophils is characterized by the acquisition of phagocytic capabilities, generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), release of granule proteins and neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) (Pitrak, 1997; Stuehr & Nathan, 1989).

As a matter of fact, when performing NETosis we can say that they act like "kamikazi". Upon infection, neutrophils follow chemokine gradients in order to target the invader but it simultaneously causes collateral tissue damage through the discharge of toxic mediators that also result in their own death (C. Nathan, 2006).

#### **1.2.3.1.** Tumour-associated neutrophils (TANs)

Like macrophages, neutrophils are also highly plastic within the tumour microenvironment. Therefore, they can either exert anti-tumour functions (N1) or pro-tumoural functions (N2). Indeed, evidence from animal models suggests that towards distinct tumour-derived signals (e.g. TGF- $\beta$  or the chemokine ligand 17 (CCL17)), neutrophils are able to shift from an anti-tumoral to a more pro-tumoural phenotype (Fridlender et al., 2009; Mantovani, 2009; Mantovani, Cassatella, & Costantini, 2011; Mishalian et al., 2014).

Several epidemiological evidences suggest that neutrophil infiltration within some types of tumours may be associated with poor outcome. Neutrophils have been reported to support tumour growth not only by the production of angiogenic factors and matrix-degrading enzymes (Fridlender et al., 2009; Gregory & Houghton, 2011; Pekarek, Starr, Toledano, & Schreiber, 1995; Shojaei, Singh, Thompson, & Ferrara, 2008), but also through promotion of metastasis (Mantovani et al., 2011; Tazawa et al., 2003) and suppression of anti-tumor immune responses (Mócsai, 2013; Schmielau & Finn, 2001). This negative correlation has been reported in human gliomas (Fossati et al., 1999), metastatic and localized renal cell carcinoma (Donskov, 2013; Jensen et al., 2009), head and neck (Trellakis et al., 2011) esophageal squamous cell (J. Wang et al., 2014), bronchoalveolar and hepatocellular carcinomas, and also in pancreatic neoplasias (Reid et al., 2011). Conversely, in few instances, TANs have also been associated with good prognosis, for example in gastric carcinoma (Caruso et al., 2002). Thus, similarly to their myeloid's cousin macrophages, the role of neutrophils within the tumours may be different, depending on several factors (e.g. type of the tumour) and there is still a lot of work to do in order understand if their presence is associated with good or bad prognosis and if this can be associated to a specific type of cancer (Caruso et al., 2002; J. jing Zhao et al., 2012; Q. Zhao et al., 2012).

In mouse models, TAN depletion led to a decrease in tumour growth (Fridlender et al., 2009; Nozawa, Chiu, & Hanahan, 2006; Pekarek et al., 1995). For instance, these cells can become more pro-tumorigenic (N2) in the presence of TGF- $\beta$  and blocking this cytokine converts neutrophils to a more anti-tumorigenic (N1) phenotype, which makes them more capable of killing tumor cells and reduces the level of immunosuppression in the tumor microenvironment (Fridlender et al., 2009). By contrast, IFN- $\beta$  has been suggested to polarize neutrophils to the N1 phenotype (Jablonska, Leschner, Westphal, Lienenklaus, & Weiss, 2010).

#### 1.2.4. Myeloid-derived Suppressor Cells

In the last few years, MDSCs have emerged as negative regulators in many pathologic conditions, including cancer. These suppressor cells can be divided in two large groups: granulocytic or polymorphonuclear MDSCs (PMN-MDSCs) and monocytic MDSCs (M-MDSCs). While PMN-MDSCs are very similar to neutrophils, M-MDSCs are more identical to monocytes (Gabrilovich, Ostrandrosenberg, & Bronte, 2012). A third small population of MDSCs currently termed as early-stage MDSCs has also been described and includes cells with colonyforming activity and other myeloid precursors. However they only have been yet described in humans (Dumitru, Moses, Trellakis, Lang, & Brandau, 2012).

MDSCs display a more immature phenotype and morphology, leading to a relatively weak phagocytic activity, high expression of arginase and secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines (Umansky, Blattner, Gebhardt, & Utikal, 2016; Youn, Collazo, Shalova, Biswas, & Gabrilovich, 2012). This phenotype is strongly associated with functional immunosuppression and therefore, intensive clinical studies already identified MDSCs as a valuable predictive marker in cancer and extensive efforts in MDSC targeting are ongoing (Solito et al., 2014). For instance, recent studies in mice already showed that inhibition of MDSCs during immunotherapy also increases its therapeutic effect (Davis et al., 2017; Du Four et al., 2016; Highfill et al., 2014; Iida et al., 2017; Kamran, Kadiyala, & Castro, 2017; Lu et al., 2017).

Of note in the present work we have refrained to use the nomenclature of MDSC and favoured the usage of myeloid cell lineage associated with their

localization.

#### 2. Nature of Cancer

Tumours show marked heterogeneity between tumour types (brain, lungs, kidney), patients with the same tumour and within the tumour mass itself (e.g. clonal evolution) (Weinberg, 2014).

The hallmarks of cancer by Hanahan and Weinberg, recognized ten major characteristics that are: proliferative signaling, evasion from growth suppressors, resisting apoptosis, unlimited multiplication, stimulating angiogenesis, promotion of invasion and metastasis, genome instability and mutation, reprogramming of energy metabolism, evasion from immune destruction and tumour enhanced inflammation (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).

Tumours can arise both by internal factors (germline or somatic mutations) and environmental factors (tobacco, diet, radiation, infections) (Weinberg, 2014).

Internal factors, driven by (hereditary/germline or acquired/somatic) genetic alterations have been described. For instance, members of the Ras pathway are well-known oncogenes that are commonly mutated, leading to augmented or constitutive activation, in several types of cancer. Dysregulation on this signaling pathway can give rise to several neoplasias, such as hepatocellular carcinoma (L. Li et al., 2016), melanoma, non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC), ovarian or thyroid cancers (Burotto, Chiou, Lee, & Kohn, 2014). Contrarily, genetic alterations leading to inactivation of the p53 protein, a tumour suppressor gene, also known as the guardian of the genome, is very common in almost all human cancers, such as brain, esophagus, lung, breast, liver, reticuloendothelial and hematopoietic tissues (Hollstein, Sidransky, Vogelstein, & Curtis, 1991).

The environment in which people live contributes a lot to incidence of neoplasms. This major risk factor can be demonstrated by several epidemiological studies of migrant populations, for example. Japanese rates of stomach cancer can be 6 to 8 times higher if we compare with Americans in Hawaii. Nonetheless, when Japanese people migrate into Hawaii, within a generation their cancer rates start to be similar to Hawaii's. This suggests that the differing cancer rates are not due to genetic differences between the Japanese and the Hawaii's people (Peto, 2001). Other example is the Seventh-Day Adventists, whose religion does not support smoking habits, heavy drinking and consumption of meat. What was found was that they die much less from cancer compared to the general population. Hence, all these epidemiological studies indicate that our lifestyle and environment are also one of the dominant determinants of cancer incidence (Anand et al., 2008; Weinberg, 2014).

The link between inflammation and cancer is not new. In 1863, Virchow hypothesized that the origin of neoplasms was at sites of chronic inflammation

by the observation of leukocytes infiltration within tumours. Moreover, many malignancies are indeed initiated by infections. For instance, Hepatitis C in the liver predisposes to liver carcinoma and chronic Helictobacter pylori infection is the world's leading cause of gastric cancer (Beaugerie et al., 2013; Ernst & Gold, 2000; Kuper, Adami, & Trichopoulos, 2000; Shacter & Weitzman, 2002). Infections by viral agents may also transform cells by inserting active oncogenes into the host genome. Examples of these are the human papilloma virus (HPV), human herpesvirus 8 (HHV8) or Epstein-Barr virus associated with cervical carcinoma, Kaposi's sarcoma and lymphomas, respectively (Boshart et al., 1984; Mesri et al., 1996; Ok, Papathomas, Medeiros, & Young, 2013). In addition, it is estimated that 15 to 20% of all deaths from cancer worldwide are liked to chronic inflammation that predisposes individuals to several types of cancer (F. Balkwill & Mantovani, 2001). Indeed, clinical evidence supports the strongest association between chronic inflammation and neoplasms in people with inflammatory bowel diseases, such as chronic ulcerative colitis or Crohn's disease, which are more susceptible to get colon cancer.

#### 2.1. Tumour microenvironment (TME)

The TME is a complex framework, densely populated by fibroblasts, myofibroblasts, mesenchymal stem cells, adipocytes and extracellular matrix (ECM). It is also made of recruited/expanded cell types, such as growing blood vessels and immune cells, both of lymphoid and myeloid origins (Coussens, Zitvogel, & Palucka, 2013; Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011; Mantovani, Allavena, Sica, & Balkwill, 2008). Collectively, tumour-infiltrating immune cells can shape the disease course, influence response to treatment and consequently have an important prognostic value (Gentles et al., 2015).

Tumour progression results from the crosstalk between these different immune cell types, the surrounding supporting tissue (stroma) and the tumour cells themselves (F. R. Balkwill & Mantovani, 2012; Gordon & Martinez, 2010). Typically, tumour-infiltrating myeloid cells can represent up to or over 50% of the TME and they may exert a dual role on tumour development and progression. Hence, immune cells can directly eliminate nascent tumour cells or be part of an anti-tumoural response, but they can also be recruited and trained by tumour cells to promote tumourigenesis (discussed on section 2.2. Cancer Immunoediting) (Grivennikov, Greten, & Karin, 2011; Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).

# 2.2. Cancer ImmunoEditing: from immune surveillance to escape

In 1883, William Coley used live bacteria (streptococcal organisms) to treat cancer and at the time, when the immune system was still unknown, he thought that it was the infection itself that was inducing cancer shrinkage. It took many more years and a better understanding of the lymphocytes to realize that the immune system could recognize transformed malignant cells as non-self and control their growth (Y. Yang, 2015). The evidence that the immune system could in fact control tumour growth led first Lewis Thomas and some years later Frank Burnet to propose the concept of immune surveillance (Swann & Smyth, 2007). This theory defends that cells and tissues are constantly monitored by an ever-alert immune system, and it has the ability to identify and destroy nascent tumours, acting as a primary defense against neoplasms (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011; Swann & Smyth, 2007). Over the last decade, studies using mouse models and human patients have demonstrated that the immune system continuously patrols tumour formation. For instance, many induced tumours can be rejected by spontaneous immune responses and immunodeficient mice develop higher numbers and faster growing tumours. In addition, tumours formed in normal mice are qualitatively different from those that form in the absence of a functional immune system (Dunn, Bruce, Ikeda, Old, & Schreiber, 2002). Importantly the presence of tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) has been shown to correlate with improved survival of a great variety of solid tumor types, including primary and metastatic melanoma (Clark et al., 1989; Clemente et al., 1996), advanced ovarian adenocarcinoma (L. Zhang et al., 2003), gastric carcinoma (Ishigami et al., 2000), squamous cell lung carcinoma (Villegas et al., 2002) and colorectal cancer (Coca et al., 1997).

Notwithstanding, most recently was demonstrated that the immune system not only can protect the host against tumours but also selects the ones that are less immunogenic, helping the most resistant tumour cells to grow (Dunn, Old, & Schreiber, 2004). This evidence led Gavin Dunn, Robert Schreiber and others to redefine the cancer immunosurveillance hypothesis into cancer immunoediting, which comprises three different phases: *elimination*, *equilibrium* and *escape* (Dunn et al., 2004; Schreiber, Old, & Smyth, 2011) (Figure 5).

The *elimination* phase consists in the recognition and elimination of tumour cells by the immune cells. Molecularly, the role of host effector molecules, such as IFN- $\gamma$ , perforin, Fas/FasL, NKG2D and TRAIL are well recognized (Dunn et al., 2004).

The following step in cancer immunoediting is the *equilibrium* phase. Some of the sporadic tumour cells that manage to survive immune destruction may then be subjected to immunoediting processes. Thus, this phase involves a continuous elimination of tumour cells at the same time that there is an Darwinian selection of the most resistant and lower immunogenic tumour cells (Dunn et al., 2004). Equilibrium is probably the longest phase and may occur over a period of many years. In fact, it has been estimated that it can be a 20year interval between initial carcinogen exposure and clinical detection of the tumour (Dunn et al., 2004; Loeb, Loeb, & Anderson, 2003). For instance, the appearance of metastatic melanoma ~1-2 years after renal transplantation was observed in two patients from the same donor. Sixteen years before, the same donor was treated for melanoma and was considered tumour-free at the time of the transplantation (MacKie, Reid, & Junor, 2003). We can speculate that cancer cells may have been kept in equilibrium in the donor, but by the continuous administration of immunosuppressive drugs they got activated and started to grow (Dunn et al., 2004).

In the *escape* phase, this new population of tumour clones that is able to sculpt forces of the immune system, can now grow and expand until become clinically detectable (Dunn et al., 2004).

At this stage the inflammatory immune cells and cytokines within the TME can promote, rather than suppress, tumour growth (F. Balkwill & Mantovani, 2001; Mantovani et al., 2008). This dual role by which the immune system can suppress and/or promote cancer growth will be described in more detail below.



**Figure 5: The three phases of cancer immunoediting: elimination, equilibrium and escape.** Adapted from Garg, et al., 2012.

#### 3. Breast Cancer

This project is focused on breast cancer because it is the most commonly diagnosed type of malignancy and the first leading cause of cancer-related death in women (Ferlay et al., 2015). There are several risk factors for breast cancer,

like genetics, age, low rates of breastfeeding, being overweight, lack of exercise, smoking and eating unhealthy food (Singletary, 2003). Breast cancer can be a highly curable disease when detected early, but it can become a mortal disease when discovered too late. Therefore, access to high quality of care leading to early diagnosis can be very important (Barnard, Boeke, & Tamimi, 2015).

The way breast cancer is categorized and treated is largely based on biology-driven therapies. This is a perfect example on how understanding the physiology of the tumour cells led to development of very efficient treatment strategies. Nowadays, the most useful way to predict prognosis and responsiveness to treatments is stratifying patients accordingly to the expression of three receptors on breast cancer cells. Thus, immunohistochemistry (IHC) is widely used to assess the expression of estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and overexpression of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2+). When none of the three receptors are expressed, this type of breast cancer is defined as triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC). This specific type of neoplasm makes up 10-30% of all breast cancers, is associated with younger age, higher stage at diagnosis and therefore, poorer prognosis. When these patients are treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy and show a pathological complete response on resection, then prognostic is very good. However, the prognosis is worse and with a higher incidence of recurrences when patients fail to show a pathological complete response (Jia, Shanmugam, Sethi, & Bishayee, 2016; Masuda et al., 2013; Murria et al., 2015). Thus, novel therapeutic strategies are critically needed for relapsing patients that become resistant to chemotherapy.

While the therapeutic potential of biology-driven therapies has been exploited, it is clear that the immunologic response modification has not yet been fully explored in breast cancer. Stunning successes of cancer immunotherapy in melanoma, lung cancer, acute lymphoblastic leukemia and other cancers reflect the power of T cell immunity. Although, for a long time breast cancer was considered "cold" (that is with low immune infiltrate), growing evidence strongly suggest that immune status is a useful marker to predict the risk of primary and recurrent or metastatic (secondary) breast cancer. In fact, T cells and NK cells (and their cytokine release patterns) are implicated in both primary and secondary prevention of breast cancer. This leads to the hypothesis that immunotherapy might be an option for treatment of breast cancer patients. After a lagging start, efforts to develop effective immune therapy for patients with breast cancer are beginning to raise hope. However, a better understanding of the immune responses in breast cancer will be critical to the design of novel strategies. In the next sections, we will discuss the tumour-immune cell infiltrate in relation with prognosis and the different strategies for immunotherapy in general and applicable to breast cancer.

#### 3.1. TAMs in breast cancer

Macrophages are key players in the normal physiology of the breast, and consequently they are also implicated in the pathologic breast cancer conditions (Gouon-Evans, Lin, & Pollard, 2002). Interestingly, TAMs are prominent components of the immune infiltrate in the breast cancer microenvironment and are correlated with poor prognosis in patients with breast cancer (Mantovani, Marchesi, Porta, Sica, & Allavena, 2007; Noy & Pollard, 2014), since their inhibition leads to tumour growth delay. For instance, by using a highly selective small molecule that blocks CSF1R signalling, which drives the recruitment of TAMs to the tumour milieu, the number of macrophages decreases and it is accompanied by an increase in the infiltration of CD8+ T cells and limited mammary tumor growth (Strachan et al., 2013). In addition, by blocking the signalling of IL-10, one of the main by-product of TAMs, it was possible to improve the response to standard chemotherapeutic agents (paclitaxel and carboplatin) by enhancing the expression of IL-12 by intratumoural DCs and promoting a productive CD8+ T cell response (Ruffell et al., 2014).

As tumour-drivers, TAMs can affect the course of breast cancer development in several ways, including tumour progression and therapeutic resistance. It has been already described that TAMs, within tumour bed, may release "chemoprotective" factors, such as cathepsin B and cathepsin S that can protect tumour cells from the cytotoxic effects of several chemotherapeutic agents. In fact, TAMs have been already associated with tamoxifen resistance in postmenopausal patients (Xuan et al., 2014).

TAMs also promote metastasis formation (J. Chen et al., 2011; Quian & Pollard, 2010). For instance, a specific G protein-coupled to receptor 132 (Gpr132) acts as a sensor on macrophages and they can respond to the lactate that it is released by cancer cells due to the low oxygen supply and increased sugar metabolism. Consequently, macrophages change their phenotype to M2, which facilitates metastization of breast cancer cells. As a result, Gpr132 deletion in mouse models reduces M2 macrophages and blocks the appearance of metastasis in the lung. In fact, lower Gpr132 expression in breast cancer patients positively correlates with metastasis-free survival (P. Chen et al., 2016). Kuan and her team also found that tumour-derived IL-1 $\alpha$  acting on TAMs was able to induce the expression of the thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), which is a critical cytokine for tumour survival. Aggressive types of breast cancer can led to the formation of metastasis and, in this case, TSLP blocker reduced the number of metastasis in the lungs (Kuan & Ziegler, 2018).

Thus, all these evidence that the presence of TAMs is associated with poor prognosis in over 80% of breast cancer cases and resistance to therapy, makes TAMs an attractive target (to deplete or manipulate) for therapeutic intervention (Bingle, Brown, & Lewis, 2002).

#### 3.2. TANs in breast cancer

Concomitant to previous findings of a higher presence of TAMs and worse prognosis in breast cancer patients, TANs can also help tumours to grow. A study by Soto-Perez-de-Celis and colleagues showed that the presence of TANs is bigger in the most aggressive histologic subtype of breast cancer: TNBC (Soto-Perez-de-Celis, Chavarri-Guerra, Leon-Rodriguez, & Gamboa-Dominguez, 2017).

The production of G-CSF or TGF- $\beta$  can induce neutrophils to exert protumoural functions (N2) and help tumours to grow faster. Additionally, breast cancer cells can also induce N2 to produce Oncostatin, which is an IL-6-like cytokine that then stimulates cancer cells to secrete vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), promoting angiogenesis. The lack of IFN- $\beta$  also induce TANs to secrete matrix metalloproteinases (gelatinase B/MMP-9) that destroy the ECM and consequently promote invasion and metastization of tumour cells in other organs (Fridlender et al., 2009; Piccard, Muschel, & Opdenakker, 2012).

Nonetheless, further research into the functional and molecular characterization of TANs in breast cancer, as well as their relationship with response to treatment and prognosis is needed.

#### 3.3. Tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes in breast cancer

Low immune recognition through reduced expression of MHC I and/or increased expression of immunosuppressive molecules that result in a decreased lysis of tumour cells by CD8+ cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) are welldocumented escape mechanisms of breast tumour cells (Andre et al., 2013; Caras et al., 2004). Thus, the importance of the immune system in breast cancer is starting to be recognized. For example, recent evidence have shown that tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) could predict response to therapy (chemotherapy) and improve prognosis both in HER2+ and TNBC (Adams et al., 2014; Dieci et al., 2015; Loi et al., 2013). More specific, regarding HER2+ therapy with trastuzumab, TILs are very important in the efficacy of this type of treatment (Gennari et al., 2004; Salgado et al., 2015). Trastuzumab results in the activation and/or recruitment of several innate immune cells (such as macrophages and NK cells) and increases the susceptibility of tumour cells to antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxic (ADCC) (Arnould et al., 2006). This leads to release of tumour-antigens that can then serve to activate T cells, which will eliminate the tumour.

We believe that the characterization not only of the subtype, but also the immune infiltrate of breast cancer will allow the identification and stratification of patients that may respond better to different available therapies, making TILs within the TME a useful biomarker for clinical practice.
#### 4. Immunotherapy

Over the past decades, our increased knowledge about the immune system and its importance in the destruction of cancer cells has led to the development of new immunotherapeutic strategies that aim to stimulate the immune system to "fight back". These include vaccination strategies, immune checkpoint inhibitors and T cell therapies, which represent a turning point in modern oncology (Vanneman & Dranoff, 2014; Y. Yang, 2015). Yet, despite all the remarkable clinical results, some cancer patients do not respond to these immunotherapies. As previously described, this resistance is likely due to the ability of tumour cells to manipulate their microenvironment, promoting local immunosuppression that allows escape to immune recognition and elimination (Drake, Jaffee, & Pardoll, 2006).

Activating the immune system has also risks. Some patients develop harmful side effects when their immune system attacks healthy cells, such as in a mild way diarrhea because of inflammation in the intestine and some endocrine disorders, some skin rashes, and in more complicated consequences autoimmune diseases, brain hemorrhages. Nevertheless there have been encouraging results from clinical trials to reduce these side effects (Kroschinsky et al., 2017).

The last few years have seen many promising developments in anticancer immunotherapies. However, there is still much work to do to help to get new drugs from the bench through clinical trials and then to the bedside.

### 4.1. Vaccination therapies

The introduction of vaccines against infectious agents revolutionized medicine by preventing a lot of diseases. In contrast, cancer vaccines are mostly designed to boost the body's natural defenses to fight cancer by inducing cellular immune responses. Thus, the cancer vaccine leads to activation of T lymphocytes specific for tumour associated-antigens (TAA) or tumour specificantigens (TSA) that will allow recognition and elimination of tumour cells.

U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has already approved two types of cancer vaccines: prophylactic vaccines against the hepatitis B virus (HBV) and human papilloma virus (HPV) to prevent liver and cervical cancers, respectively (Ogholikhan & Schwarz, 2016; Stanley, 2007). For treatment, there is one dendritic cell-based vaccine for patients with asymptomatic or minimally symptomatic metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (mCRPC), called Sipuleucel-T (Provenge) (Cheever & Higano, 2011). This vaccine consists in autologous transplant of peripheral-blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs), including APCs. They are activated *ex vivo* with PA2024, which is a recombinant fusion protein constituted by a prostate antigen (prostatic acid phosphatase - PSA) conjugated with an immune-cell activator (GM-CSF) (Kantoff et al., 2010). After their activation, they are re-injected into the patient and are efficient in the

activation of the immune system against PSA-expressing tumour cells. Sipuleucel-T showed a benefit on OS of patients in three double blind randomized phase III clinical trials: D9901, D9902A and IMPACT.

Several other vaccines that have as their principal target, specific tumour antigens, have also shown promising results, like e75 peptide/NeuVax, which is a peptide vaccine for the treatment of HER2+ breast and also ovarian cancers (Chablani, 2013; Mittendorf, Holmes, Ponniah, & Peoples, 2008). PROSTVAC-VF is being used for the treatment of mCRPC and is a genetic vaccine that combines the PSA and three co-stimulatory molecules for T cell activation (Madan, Arlen, Mohebtash, Hodge, & Gulley, 2009). Other therapeutic cancer vaccine that got surprising results in patients with NSCLC is CIMAvax-EGF, which generates a specific humoral response against the epidermal growth factor (EGF) itself. This vaccine also comprises the *Neisseria meningitis* outer protein P64k and Montanide ISA 51 as adjuvants in order to potentiate the immune response (Saavedra et al., 2018).

Another approach is also to target biologic features that are important for the growth of the tumour, like the blood supply. Thus, in order to avoid the formation of new blood vessels, an anti-angiogenic vaccine from placentaderived endothelial cell lysates pretreated with IFN-  $\gamma$  to enhance immunogenicity, has also being developed: ValloVax (Wagner et al., 2015, 2017).

Although several preclinical studies in mice have provided great evidence of the capacity of this type of vaccines, clinical translation has been proved to be challenging. For instance, critical questions regarding this approach that need to be solved are the development of a new way to overcome the antigen immunogenicity and tumour immunosuppression (Jacques Banchereau & Palucka, 2017; Bowen, Svrivastava, Batra, Barsoumian, & Shirwan, 2018).

### 4.2 Immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICI)

One of the tumour defense mechanisms is to inhibit specific cells of our immune army by interfering with ICI pathways. Hence, tumour cells can by themselves or by promoting the microenvironment induce engagement of two of the very well-known co-inhibitory molecules expressed by T cells, namely cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and program cell death 1 (PD-1).

CTLA-4 plays a critical role in the priming phase of the immune response and its binding inhibits T cell activation in lymphoid organs, leading to a decrease of the production of IL-2 and arrest of cell cycle (Brunner et al., 1999). Programmed death protein 1 (PD-1) also acts as a negative regulator that limits the production of IFN- $\gamma$  and T cell proliferation, increases T cell apoptosis and contributes to T cell exhaustion in peripheral tissues (Dong et al., 2002). Therefore, to fight cancer, these brakes need to be removed in order to get a stronger immune response. Accordingly, antagonist monoclonal antibodies have been generated.

The monoclonal antibody (mAb) Ipilimumab, also known as Yervoy, is a blocking antibody for CTLA-4 and it got FDA approval in 2011 for patients with unresectable or metastatic melanoma. Patients that received this treatment were followed up for 10 years and showed an overall survival (OS) of 9.5 months with a 3-year survival rate around 21% (Hodi et al., 2010; Schadendorf et al., 2015). Several mAbs against PD-1 have also being developed, like Nivolumab and Pembrolizumab, respectively known as Opdivo and Keytruda, have demonstrated to significantly improve the progression-free survival (5.1 months against 2.2 months) and OS (72.1% against 42.1%) of patients with melanoma (without BRAF mutation) (Robert et al., 2015). Presently, Nivolumab was already approved for several types of neoplasias, such as renal cell carcinoma (RCC), Hodgkin lymphoma, head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC), urothelial carcinoma (UC), colorectal cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and colorectal cancer (with high microsatellite instability). Regarding Pembrolizumab approval, it is already used for the treatment of melanoma, NSCLC, HNSCC, Hodgkin lymphoma, UC and gastric cancer (Gong, Chehrazi-Raffle, Reddi, & Salgia, 2018).

Inhibitors of the principal ligands of these receptors, such as programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1), are also being used in the clinic, for example Atezolizumab, known as Tecentriq, for NSCLC and Avelumab, known as Bavencio, for UC (Gong et al., 2018).

Combinations blocking these two axis (CTLA-4 and PD-1/PDL-1) leads to an increase of the efficacy of these cancer therapies in comparison with single treatments (Peng, Lizée, & Hwu, 2013; Reck et al., 2013; Wolchok et al., 2013). In addition, several combinations, including the concomitant or sequential evaluation of chemotherapy or radiotherapy with immunotherapy are already providing significant results. Therefore, it is likely that the future of immunotherapy is combining different approaches to create trained antitumour lymphocytes able to attack and break down the defenses of tumours by unleashing their own immune defense against cancer (Lazzari et al., 2018; Melero et al., 2015).

New inhibitory pathways and drugs blocking CD233 or lymphocyte activation gene-3 (LAG-3), T cell immunoglobulin-3 (TIM-3), CD272 or B and T cell lymphocyte attenuator (BTLA), V-domain Ig suppressor of T cell activation (VISTA), CD73 or adenosin 2a receptor (A2aR) and CD276 or B7 homolog 3 (B7-H3) are also under investigation (Marin-Acevedo et al., 2018; Melero et al., 2015).

Despite the clear efficacy of immunotherapy, regrettably only a small proportion of patients benefit and are sensitive to ICI treatments. Thus, several challenges, including immune-related adverse effects, intrinsic (e.g. absence of tumour antigen, low or down regulation of MHC, change in the antigen presenting machinery) and microenvironmental extrinsic factors (Tregs, MDSCs, M2 macrophages and other immune checkpoints) can contribute for this resistance (Jenkins, Barbie, & Flaherty, 2018; Linardou & Gogas, 2016; Zaretsky et al., 2016). In order to overcome these issues, it is absolutely necessary to understand these mechanisms for the design of new and better therapeutic strategies.

#### 4.3 Adoptive T cell transfer therapy

The basis of adoptive cell transfer (ACT) consists on the infusion of tumor-specific T cells. Various strategies are envisaged for ACT relying on different sources of anti-tumour T cells, and these include TILs, T cell receptor (TCR)-engineered T cells, and chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells. TILs are extracted from patients, selected and expanded *ex vivo* by their ability to kill tumour cells and the best killers are then re-infused back into patients. Usually, their re-administration is made after lymphodepletion and in combination with immunostimulatory agents (Restifo, Dudley, & Rosenberg, 2012; Vacchelli et al., 2013).

The first clinical trial from Steven Rosenberg, demonstrated that this cell transfer therapy induced a remarkable durable complete response in 22% of patients with metastatic melanoma. In the same study, 95% of these complete responses are ongoing beyond the years (S. A. Rosenberg et al., 2011). Furthermore, Dr. Rosenberg and his team also described a very interesting case report of a woman with chemorefractory hormone receptor-positive metastatic breast cancer. She was treated with TILs that were reactive to 4 out of 62 different mutations, in combination with IL-2 and Pembrolizumab. After 22 months, this woman is cancer-free. These results suggest that this type of approach is very promising and because only depends on the mutations and not the cancer type, it might be further extended to a broader spectrum of neoplasias (Zacharakis et al., 2018).

Genetically modified TCR therapies consist in the transference of specific gene sequences to the T cell to encode new TCR  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  chains with different peptide specificity. Several clinical trials already showed the feasibility and the potential of this technique in patients with metastatic melanoma or sarcoma. In these cases, T cells were transduced with a TCR directed against the melanoma antigen recognized by T cells (MART-1), melanoma-associated antigen 3 (MAGE-A3), glycoprotein 100 (gp100) and New York esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (NY-ESO-1) (Johnson et al., 2009; Morgan et al., 2006, 2013; Robbins et al., 2011; Sharpe & Mount, 2015).

Another strategy, CAR T cell approach, has been developed in order to improve the potential of ACT. A promising therapy is the so-called chimeric antigen receptor (CAR). In this technique, cells are removed from the blood of patients and then they need to be armed with tumour-specific receptors by genetic engineering before being re-introduced into the patients (Hinrichs & Rosenberg, 2014). CARs are constituted by three different parts (from outside to inside): an extracellular tumour antigen recognition domain of the single-chain fragment variant (scFv) derived from an antibody, a transmembrane domain and an intracellular T cell activation domain (C. A. Ramos & Dotti, 2011).

CAR T cells are marking the beginning of a new era in cancer immunotherapy and the real therapeutic value of these genetically engineered cells is being specially demonstrated in B-cell malignancies. In 2010, a case report has shown great results using CD19 CAR T cells as a treatment for lymphoma patients (Kochenderfer, Wilson, Janik, Dudley, & Stetler-stevenson, 2010). Since then, CARs have been shown impressive clinical outcomes and result of that was the FDA first CAR T cell therapy approval - Kymriah (Tisagenlecleucel) - in the summer of 2017 for kids and young adults with B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL).

However, this type of immunotherapy failed to work so well in solid tumours and so far the results are still modest. The presence of physical barriers, antigen loss in tumour cells, lack of unique antigens and the immunosuppressive TME of solid tumours are currently the biggest challenges to overcome (Kato et al., 2017; Yu et al., 2017). Furthermore, CAR T-cells also attack normal tissues involving the heart, lung, brain and liver and this also needs to be taken into account in order to get the best of this therapy (Xia et al., 2017).

Importantly, for all limitations and challenges of these immunotherapeutic strategies, this is why the combination with myeloid cell targeting might be interesting and there are already some promising results with these approaches (discussed on section 5. Myeloid targeted therapy). Thus, given the multifaceted modulatory nature of myeloid cells, we believe that a wider impact on cancer immunotherapy will require reinforcement on the antitumour effector mechanisms within the TME.

### 5. Macrophages-targeted therapy

Nowadays, approved cancer immunotherapy aims at harnessing T cells to fight cancer. However, TAMs can display cytotoxic and potent pro-phagocytic functions as well as promote an anti-tumoural microenvironment making them extremely attractive therapeutic targets. In this section we show how a better understanding of the molecular requirements that induce and maintain antitumour function in TAMs can lead to development of novel therapeutic options (Figure 6).

### 5.1. Depletion of TAMs

CSF1 through engagement of its receptor CSF1R delivers a critical signal for the generation of monocyte progenitors, not only in the bone marrow

(hematopoiesis) but also for TAMs within tumours. Thus, this pathway is a target to selectively deplete TAMs and consequently prevent them to display pro-tumoural features. For instance, genetic loss of CSF1 results in a delay on mammary tumour progression, leading to a significantly reduced number of metastasis in lung and also in neuroendocrine tumour models, like pancreatic cancer (Lin et al., 2001; Linde et al., 2018; Zhu et al., 2014). Treatment of PyMT mice with paclitaxel in combination with anti-CSF1R significantly reduced the tumour burden, vessel density and increased cytotoxic T cell infiltration compared with treatment with paclitaxel alone (DeNardo et al., 2011). Moreover, CSF1R inhibitors in combination with anti-PD-1 significantly led to tumour regression in melanoma patients that did not respond to immune checkpoint blockade (Neubert et al., 2018).

Overall, preliminary results suggest that targeting the CSF1/ CSF1R axis is a promising strategy. Therefore, several antibodies and small molecules are being tested in clinical trials in various types of tumours, such as pancreatic, prostate and breast cancer (Casseta & Pollard, 2018).

#### 5.2. Limiting monocytes recruitment

Other strategy for targeting TAMs is to block monocyte recruitment to the TME through the monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) also known as CCL2 - C-C chemokine receptor type 2 (CCR2) axis. CCL2 released by tumour cells, or monocytes/macrophages, is a chemoattractant for cells that express the receptor CCR2, mainly monocytes, and also T and NK cells (Deshmane et al., 2009). Thus, inhibition of CCL2 has shown to be correlated with a reduction in tumour growth and metastasis in different models of lung, breast, liver or prostate cancers (Li, et al., 2013). Hence, new CCL2-blocking agents are being tested in clinical trials, such as Carlumab (CNTO 888). Yet, results of these trials are not completely conclusive. In one hand, in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer patients, this mAb although well tolerated, did not showed a complete blocking of the CCL2/CCR2 axis nor anti-tumour activity (Pienta et al., 2013; Brana et al., 2015). In another hand, results from other study showed a transient CCL2 suppression and preliminary anti-tumour activity in patients with advanced solid malignances, such as colorectal, prostate or ovarian cancers (Sandhu et al., 2013). Therefore, the future of blocking the CCL2/CCR2 pathway requires a better understanding of the biology of this chemokine receptor. Notwithstanding, a CCR2 antagonist was able to disrupt the CCL2-CCR2 axis, which lead to reduction in the numbers of TAMs, causing the inhibition of tumour growth and metastization in a mouse model of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (Sanford et al., 2013; Nywening et al., 2016).

#### 5.3. Reprogramming of TAMs

Preclinical data indicate that it is possible to educate TAMs to become more tumouricidal and reject neoplastic cells. For instance, IFN- $\gamma$  is able to switch M2 TAMs to M1 phenotype in human ovarian tumours (Duluc et al., 2009). Moreover, zoledronic acid or CpG oligonucleotide are also potential molecules found to repolarize pro-tumoural into anti-tumoural macrophages in mammary and liver mouse tumours, respectively (Coscia et al., 2010; Huang et al., 2012).

Macrophages are phagocytic and they are able to "eat" tumour cells. However, tumour cells can express CD47, which is a "don't eat me" signal that binds to the signal regulatory protein alpha (SIRP $\alpha$ ) receptor on macrophages, preventing phagocytosis. Irving Weissman has pioneered the therapeutical potential of the CD47/SIRP $\alpha$  axis, for his demonstration that treatment of human non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL)-engrafted mice with a blocking anti-CD47 antibody reduced tumour burden, while combination treatment with rituximab led to elimination and cure of lymphoma (Chao et al., 2010). Intensive work followed and currently various mAb (Hu5F9-G4, SRF231, ALX148, CC-90002) have been designed to block CD47 and TTI-621 is already in clinical trials. Interestingly, a supra molecule consisting of an inhibitor of the CSF1R and a SIRP $\alpha$ -blocking antibody was shown to enhance the polarization from M2 to M1 and significantly improved anti-tumour and anti-metastatic efficacies in melanoma and breast cancer models (Kulkarni et al., 2018). A second "don't eat me" signal, the inhibitory receptor LILRB1 that is expressed by macrophages and suppresses their phagocytic activity, is engaged by MHC I molecules on tumour cells, and could provide another therapeutic avenue (Barkal et al., 2017).

Activation of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway also plays an important role in polarization of TAMs to an anti-tumour phenotype using for instance TLR agonists or anti-CD40 mAbs. Indeed, these agents are not only being tested in clinical trials but some are already in use in the clinic, either as monotherapy or in combination with conventional therapies (Adams, 2009; Yang & Zhang, 2017).

TLR ligands have powerful immunostimulatory properties by inducing antigen uptake, processing and presentation by DCs, leading to T-cell activation and therefore represent promising immunotherapeutic strategy with highest potential to treat cancer (Adams, 2009; Cheever, 2008). FDA already approved both bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG) and imiquimod for clinical use. BCG, which stimulates TLR2, TLR4 and also TLR9, is approved for bladder cancer. The use of this agent is also under clinical evaluation for other types of neoplasias, such as melanoma, acute myelogenous leukemia (AML), colon, urotherial and breast cancers (Dols et al., 2003; Gutterman et al., 1976; Morton et al., 1974; Morton et al., 2007; Powles et al., 1975; Vermorken et al., 1999). Imiquimod, which targets TLR7, is indicated for the treatment of basal cell carcinoma and actinic keratosis (pre-malignant condition). In pre-clinical models, TLR7 ligand also showed an anti-tumour activity in melanoma and breast cancer skin metastasis (Adams, et al., 2008; Adams et al., 2012; Green et al., 2007; Green et al., 2008; Kobold et al., 2016; Menzies et al., 2017).

Although more studies need to be performed, the use of TLR agonists in the clinic is promising and their synergy with standard therapies has been successfully demonstrated both in murine models and clinical trials. For example, using TLR9 ligand (CpG) as a source of antigen in combination with an anti-OX40 antibody showed that this treatment was able to cure, not only multiple types of transplanted mice, but also a spontaneous model of breast cancer (Sagiv-Barfi et al., 2018). Moreover, a specific TLR9 agonist (IMO-2055) has also been tested in lung or renal cancers, for instance. In a clinical trial, NSCLC patients treated with IMO-2055 in combination with erlotinib and bevacizumab showed potential anti-tumour activity (Smith et al., 2014).

CD40 is also an attractive molecule to target given that it is expressed not only by some lymphoma and solid tumour cells themselves but also by immune cells. For instance, CD40 expression has been identified on a range of tumour cells, comprising almost 100% of B cell neoplasms. It is well described that anti-CD40 antibodies can be used to eradicate lymphomas in experimental murine models and also provides protection against re-challenge through rapid induction of cytotoxic T cells (French et al., 1999; Nowak et al., 2003; Todryk et al., 2001). Dacetuzumab and Lucatumumab, two anti-CD40 agonists with high potential, are being tested for hematological malignancies, such as chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CCL), multiple myeloma (MM) and NHL (Hassan et al., 2014).

The effect on these B cell-related cancer types is multiple: it promotes ADCC and antibody-dependent cell-mediated phagocytosis (ADCP), as well as rendering highly immunogenic tumor cells through an increase of tumor-antigen-load and antigen-presenting properties (Rakhmilevich et al., 2012).

In addition, some other solid malignancies also express CD40, such as melanoma and breast, lung, ovary, renal, and bladder cancers (Cooke et al., 1999; Gallagher et al., 2002; Sabel et al., 2000; Thomas et al., 1996; Vonderheide et al., 2007; Wingett et al., 1998). In some of these neoplasms, engagement of anti-CD40 has been shown to inhibit proliferation, but mainly opsonization of the tumour cells render them susceptible to killing by immune cells (macrophages and NK cells) (Bereznava & Chechun, 2007).

Finally, anti-CD40 can also act directly on immune cells (e.g. macrophages, DCs or B cells) and exert its effects by a wide range of different mechanisms to stimulate anti-tumour immunity, including: upregulation of MHC molecules, production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. IL-12) or boosting APC function (Remer et al., 2017; Casseta & Pollard, 2018).

Currently, there are two agonistic anti-CD40 being tested in clinical trials for solid tumours: CP-870,893 and RO7009789. Although there are some

common adverse effects, including cytokine release syndrome and alterations in immune cell numbers, the treatment has been well tolerated leading to an antitumour activity, either alone or in combination with standard chemotherapy (Beatty et al., 2013; Nowak, et al., 2015; Vonderheide et al., 2007; Vonderheide et al., 2013).

Treatment with anti-CD40 mAb in combination with anti-CSF1R antibodies, which was already described in section 5.1 (Depletion of TAMs), has also shown to reprogram TAMs before their depletion, creating a proinflammatory milieu able to elicit myeloid and lymphoid responses. Consequently, this lead to an increase not only on anti-tumour efficacy but also in the survival of preclinical models of colon cancer (Hoves et al., 2018; Perry et al., 2018; Verona et al., 2017). Moreover, it was already shown that anti-CD40 mAb together with conventional chemotherapy plus anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 was able to overcome the resistance to immune checkpoint blockade in the poorly immunogenic pancreatic cancer (Winograd et al., 2015).

Altogether, preclinical and clinical studies on TAMs have shown encouraging progress and targeting them seems to be a promising strategy for cancer treatment. However, concretization as a solid weaponery in cancer therapy requires a better understanding of how the anti-tumour features are regulated, whether all the TAMs can perform them or there is a labour partition amongst subsets, and whether killing options are selected for specific tumour cell types. Therefore, our project aims to address some of these aspects by using TLR ligands synergizing with anti-CD40 mAbs as potential immunotherapeutic agents.



Figure 6: Clinical application of TAMs. Based on L. Yang & Zhang, 2017.

### **CHAPTER 2: HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES**

Nowadays, there has been a disproportionate attention on pro-tumour myeloid cell functions over anti-tumour myeloid cell functions. We believe that more efforts should be put on understanding how to enhance the protective activity (anti-tumour function) of myeloid cells and in fact, our team has already demonstrated the anti-tumour capabilities of myeloid cells.

One of the papers identified a crosstalk between IL15-dependent patrolling monocytes and NK cells that strongly prevent lung metastasis in primary tumour-bearing mice (Kubo, Mensurado, Gonçalves-Sousa, Serre, & Silva-Santos, 2017). More recently, another study showed that ROS-producing neutrophils could inhibit IL-17+  $\gamma\delta$  T cell functions in the tumour bed, suppressing their pro-tumoural functions. All these findings go in accordance with our hypothesis that myeloid cells can have anti-tumour functions and they can crosstalk with different lymphoid subsets (Mensurado et al., 2018).

Our main goal in this thesis was to manipulate myeloid cells (macrophages and neutrophils) and in particular to study their anti-tumour effector functions *in vivo* to eliminate cancer. Thus, we took advantage of their inherent capacity to respond to maturing agents such as TLR ligands and co-stimulatory receptor agonists.

#### Building on this, the main objectives of this thesis were:

- Demonstrate that myeloid cells can be induced to inhibit mammary tumour growth *in vivo*;
- Dissect mechanisms of action of TLR3 ligand with anti-CD40 agonist that act on macrophages and characterize anti-tumour macrophage phenotype and functions;
- Determine the best combination of TLR ligand with anti-CD40 agonist that induces tumour regression in a neutrophil-dependent manner.

### **CHAPTER 3: METHODS**

#### 1. Mice

C57Bl/6J wild-type (WT) mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratories. TCR- $\alpha^{-/-}$ , Rag2<sup>-/-</sup> common gamma chain (Rag2<sup>-/-</sup> $\gamma$ c<sup>-/-</sup>), IFN- $\gamma^{-/-}$  and BATF3 <sup>-/-</sup> immunodeficent mice were obtained from Jackson Laboratory.

Mice were kept in specific pathogen-free facilities at Instituto de Medicina Molecular | João Lobo Antunes (IMM|JLA) and all experimental procedures were performed according to guidelines approved by the local and national ethics committees.

### 2. Cell lines

E0771 triple negative mammary adenocarcinoma tumour cell line was kindly provided by Dr. Sérgio Dias (IMM|JLA) and the L929 cell line was a kind gift from Dr. Ângelo Chora (IMM|JLA).

Cells were defrosted and maintained in Dulbelcco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% Fetal Calf Serum (FCS; Gibco by Life Technologies) and 1% of penicillin/streptomycin (P/S; Gibco by Life Technologies) at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

Cells were split every three or four days. For long-term storage, cells were ressuspended in FCS supplemented with 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO; Sigma) and stored at -80°C.

#### 3. In vivo tumour transplantation

During the exponential growth phase, E0771 tumour cells were washed with phosphate buffer saline (PBS), incubated with Tryple Express (Gibco by Life Technologies) for three to four minutes at  $37^{\circ}$ C and ressuspended in PBS. One million viable E0771 tumour cells were injected in the mammary fat pad of each mouse in a final volume of  $50\mu$ l (diluted in PBS).

Tumour growth was measured using a caliper and calculated as (length x width x width)/2 ( $mm^3$ ).

#### 4. In vivo treatments

To induce tumour regression, treatments were injected directly within the tumour (IT) in a final volume of  $50\mu$ l. TLR ligands were mixed with  $15\mu$ g of an agonist anti-CD40 mAb (3.84mg/ml; BioXcell; FGK4.5). We used the following TLR ligands: TLR2/1 (Pam3CSK4) (1mg; Invivogen; tlrl-pms), TLR2/6 (Pam2CSK4) (20  $\mu$ g; Invivogen; tlrl-pm25-1), TLR3 ligand (Poly I:C) (50ug; InvivoGen; tlrl-picw), TLR4 ligand (LPS B5 Ultrapure) (2-25ug; InvivoGen; tlrlpb5lps), TLR7 (Imiquimod Vaccigrade) (20  $\mu$ g; InvivoGen; vac-imq) and TLR9 (CpG) (20  $\mu$ g; InvivoGen; tlrl-2395-1).

# 5. *In vivo* depletion and neutralization of specific cell lineages

For macrophage depletion: three and one days before and one day after the treatment followed by every 3 days, clodronate-containing liposomes (Liposoma) were injected as follows 180  $\mu$ g intravenous (IV) and 40  $\mu$ g intratumoural (IT).

For inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) inhibition: 1000  $\mu$  g of Aminoguanidine Hydrochloride (Abcam) or 280  $\mu$ g of 1400W (Abcam) were injected intraperitoneal (IP) every day. 50  $\mu$ g of Aminoguanine Hydrochloride and 30  $\mu$ g of 1400W inhibitions were injected IT every day.

For TNF- $\alpha$  and IL1 $\beta$  neutralization: one day before and one day after the treatment, followed by every three to four days, 250  $\mu$ g of TNF- $\alpha$  (XT3.11; BioXcell) and 50  $\mu$ g of IL1 $\beta$  (B122; BioXcell) blocking antibodies were both injected IP. 30  $\mu$ g of TNF- $\alpha$  and 20  $\mu$ g of IL1 $\beta$  were injected IT.

For CD8+ T cell depletion: 200  $\mu$ g of anti-CD8 (YTS 156 and YTS 169) were a kind gift from Dr. Luís Graça. Anti-CD8 was injected IP and 50  $\mu$ g IT every five days.

For neutrophil depletion:  $150 \ \mu g$  of anti-Gr1 (BioXcell) was injected IV and  $50 \ \mu g$  were injected IT every three and one day before and also every three days after treatment.

### 6. Flow Cytometry analysis

To assess immune response and anti-tumour effector functions, mice were sacrificed and tumours were resected and weighed. Spleen was used for single colour staining.

Tumours were cut into small pieces and digested for thirty minutes at 37°C with a shaker at 1000 rotations per minute (rpm) in 1.5ml DMEM plus collagenase I (0.4mg/ml; Worthington Biochemical Corporation), collagenase IV (1mg/ml; Worthington Biochemical Corporation) and DNAse (10 $\mu$ g/ml; Sigma) per tumour. In order to lyse erythrocytes, 500 $\mu$ l of red blood cell lysis (RBC lysis) (BD Pharma Lyse) was added after tumour digestion to osmotically lyse them.

To assess myeloid or lymphoid cell depletion, blood samples were collected from mice facial vein (~4 drops) into eppendorf tubes with  $50\mu$ l of heparin.  $500\mu$ l of RBC lysis (BD Pharma Lyse) was added to each blood sample, eppendorfs' were centrifuge for five minutes at 2000 rotations per minute (rpm) and the supernatant was carefully removed. This process was repeated two more times to remove the majority of red blood cells.

For surface staining, cells were incubated with  $25\mu$ l of RPMI-1640 medium (cRPMI; Gibco by Life Technologies) supplemented with 10% Fetal Calf Serum (FCS) (Gibco by Life Technologies), 1% penicilin/streptomicin (P/S) (Gibco by Life Technologies), minimum essential medium non-essential amino acids (MEM NEAA) (100X; Gibco by Life Technologies), hepes buffer solution (1M; Gibco by Life Technologies) and sodium pyruvate (100mM; 100X; Gibco by Life Technologies) and 2-mercaptoethanol (50mM; Gibco by Life Technologies). All these in the presence of Fc-block anti-mouse CD16/32 (clone: 93; Invitrogen) with the antibodies presented in Table 1, for one hour at room temperature (RT) and in the dark.

After surface staining, cells were treated with a special dye that allows selective exclusion of dead cells. Various kits were used accordingly to manufacturer's instructions, such as: Zombie Aqua fixable viability kit (Biolegend), Zombie Violet fixable viability kit (Biolegend) and Live Dead fixable Near-IR dead cell stain kit (Invitrogen) for twenty minutes at RT in the dark.

For myeloid intracellular cytokine staining, cells were stimulated with TLR4 ligand (LPS B5 Ultrapure) (1 $\mu$ g/ml; InvivoGen; tlrl-pb5lps) and IFN- $\gamma$  (50ng/ml; PeproTech) for four hours at 37°C. For T cell intracellular cytokine staining, cells were stimulated with phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) (200ng/ml; Sigma) and Ionomycin (1 $\mu$ g; Sigma) for four hours at 37°C. Brefeldin-A (10 $\mu$ g/ml; Sigma) plus Monensin (5 $\mu$ M; eBioscience) were added during the last two hours. Cells were stained for surface markers and intracellular staining was performed with the Foxp3/Transcription Factor Staining Buffer set (Invitrogen by Thermo Fisher Scientific), following the manufacturer's instructions. Intracellular staining was performed for one hour at room temperature and in the dark or overnight (ON) at 4°C with monoclonal antibodies (see Table 1).

Cells were analyzed on FACS Fortessa (BD Bioscience). Compensation was performed using cells from the samples analyzed and stained with single antibodies. Data was analyzed using FACS Diva and FowJo software (FlowJo, LLC). Cell gating strategy was performed as described in Figure 1A-B on supplementary data.

Antibody	Clone	Company	
CD45	30F11	Biolegend	
CD11b	M1/70	Biolegend	
Ly6G	1A8	Biolegend	
Ly6C	HK1.4	eBioscience	
F4/80	BM8	eBioscience	
CD11c	N418	Biolegend	
MHC II	M5/114.15.2	Biolegend	
PD-L1	10F.9G2	Biolegend	
CD19	6D5	Biolegend	
CD3	17A2	Biolegend	
CD4	GK1.5	Biolegend	
CD8	53-6.7	Biolegend	
IL1β	NJTEN3	Invitrogen	
TNF-α	MP6-XT22	eBioscience	
iNOS	CXNFT	eBioscience	
IFN-γ	XMG1.2	Biolegend	

*Table 1* - List of antibody clones and respective manufacturer used in flow cytometer analysis. All antibodies are anti-mouse.

#### 7. In vitro tumour cell proliferation assay

In order to assess the effect of TLR ligands and anti-CD40 mAb, E0771 tumour cells were incubated with cell track violet (CTV) (2  $\mu$ g/ml diluted in PBS; Molecular Probes) at RT for twenty minutes and in the dark.

After incubation, cells were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for five minutes and washed with cDMEM. Tumour cells were ressuspended in cDMEM and fifty thousand cells were distributed per well in a 6 well plate and incubated with IFN- $\gamma$  (20ng/ml, PetroTech), TLR ligands alone (10ng/ml; InvivoGen) and TLR ligand plus anti-CD40 mAb (6ng/ml; BioXcell) during seventy-two hours. Three days later, cells were washed with 500ul of PBS and incubated with 100 $\mu$ l of Tryple Express for three to four minutes at 37°C. cDMEM was added to stop the action of trypsin and cells were transferred to a 96-well plate (V bottom). After centrifugation at 1000 rpm for 5 minutes, supernatant was discarded and cells were also stained to check the expression of MHC I H-2K<sup>d</sup> (AF6-88.5; Biolegend), MHC II (M5/114.15.2; Biolegend), as well as the immunosuppressive markers PD-L1 (10F.9G2; Bioloegend) and PD-L2 (TY25, Biolegend). After one hour at room temperature, cells were centrifuge at 1000 rpm for five minutes, the supernatant was discarded and cells were also stained to check cell death with Live Dead (Invitrogen) and Annexin V (Biolegend).

Finally, all the data was acquired in a FACS Fortessa and analyzed using FACS Diva and FlowJo software (FlowJo, LLC).

#### 8. In vitro bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDM)

To generate BMDM, bone marrow cell suspension from femurs and tibias of mice were seeded at four million cells in bacterial dishes. These cells were incubated with 10ml of RPMI (Gibco by Life Technologies) supplemented with 10% FCS, 1/5 penicillin-streptomycin and 30% L929 cell supernatant (a mouse fibroblast cell line that produces macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF)). Three days later, 10ml of RPMI supplemented media was added to the bacterial dishes. On day 6, the supernatant was removed from the culture and attached cells were washed and removed with a pipette. Cells were counted and re-plated in RPMI supplemented media at a density of two million five thousand cells/well (6-well plate). In the next day, cells were polarized with various conditioning media as follows: M0 condition (received media alone containing M-CSF); classical activation M1 condition (received LPS B5 Ultrapure at 0.1  $\mu$ g/ml, from InvivoGen; tlrl-pb5lps + IFN- $\gamma$  at 0.05  $\mu$ g/ml, from PetroTech); alternative activation M2a condition (received IL-4 at 0.05  $\mu$ g/ml + IL-13 at 0.05  $\mu$ g/ml, both from PeproTech); M2c condition (received IL-10 at 0.05  $\mu$ g/ml, from PeproTech); and stimulation with TLR3 ligand ( $100\mu g/ml$ ; InvivoGen) plus anti-CD40 mAb ( $5\mu g/ml$ ; BioXcell - FGK4.5).

Cells were harvested twenty-four hours post-stimulation and collected either for killing assays, real-time PCR or flow cytometry analysis.

### 9. Killing assay

Twenty thousand E0771 tumour cells were seeded in a 96-well plate (U bottom) and left at 37°C during, at least one hour, to settle down. One hundred thousand polarized macrophages (after twenty-four hours) were added to the tumour cells. The assay was performed during twenty-four hours in the incubator at 37°C.

In the next day, Brefeldin-A ( $10\mu g/ml$ ; Sigma) plus Monensin ( $5\mu M$ ; eBioscience) were added during 2 hours and then the cells were stained and analyzed as previously described on section 6. Flow Cytometry Analysis.

## 10. RNA isolation, complementary DNA (cDNA) production, and real-time PCR

Total RNA was extracted using the High Pure RNA Isolation kit (Roche) according to the manufacturer's instructions. mRNA was prepared from BMDM using High Pure RNA Isolation kit (Roche). Reverse transcription was performed with random oligonucleotides (Invitrogen) using MMLV reverse transcriptase (Promega) for one hour at 42°C. Relative quantification of specific cDNA species to endogenous references  $\beta 2$  microglobulin was carried out using SYBR chemistry on ViiA7 cycler (Applied Biosystems). The C<sub>T</sub> for the target gene was

subtracted from the  $C_T$  for endogenous references and the relative amount was calculated as 2<sup>-deltaCT</sup>. Primer sequences are listed in Table 2.

Primer	Forward	Reverse
β2 microglobulin	5' - CATACGCCTGCAGAGTTAAGCA	5' - ATCACATGTCTCGATCCCAGTAGA
ΙΙ_1β	5' - CGGACCCCAAAAGATGAAGG	5' - GCCACAGCTTCTCCACAGCCA
Tnf_α	5' - TCTTCTCATTCCTGCTTGTGG	5' - GGTCTGGGCCATAGAACTGA
Nos2	5' - CCCTTCAATGGTTGGTACATGG	5' - ACATTGATCTCCGTGACAGCC

*Table 2* - List of primers used for Real-Time PCR.

### **11. Immunohistochemical assays**

Mice were sacrificed by CO<sub>2</sub> asphysiation followed by cervical dislocation. The tumours were harvested, fixed in formol and processed for paraffin embedding. Serial  $4 \mu$  m sections were used in order to do immunohistochemistry for F4/80 (macrophages), myeloperoxidase (neutrophils), CD3 (T cells) and Von Willebrand Factor (endothelial cells). Briefly, using standard protocols, antigen heat-retrieval was performed in Dako PT module, followed by incubation with the primary and secondary antibodies conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (HRP) or alkaline phosphatase (AP) for one hour, at RT and in the dark, as shown in Table 2. Tissues were washed and incubated with ENVISION kit (Peroxidase/DAB detection system, Dako Corp) and HIGHDEF red IHC chromogen (AP; Enzo Life Sciences) during thirty minutes, at RT and in the dark. Negative controls included the absence of primary antibodies. Images were acquired in a NanoZoomer (Hamamatsu) and analyzed using Nanozoomer Digital Pathology (Hamamatsu) and Image] software (NIH).

Primary antibody	Company	Secondary antibody	Company
		Peroxidase-	Jackson
FITC rat anti-mouse	Biolegend	conjugated AffiPure	ImmunoResearch
F4/80		Goat anti-rat IgG	LABORATORIES, INC.
		(H+L)	
Myeloperoxidase	Dako	Polyview Plus AP	Enzo Life Sciences
(MPO) rabbit anti-rat		(anti-rabbit)	
Rabbit anti-human	Dako	Polyview Plus AP	Enzo Life Sciences
CD3		(anti-rabbit)	
Rabbit anti-human	Dako	Polyview Plus AP	Enzo Life Sciences
Von Willebrand		(anti-rabbit)	
Factor			

Table 3 - List of primary and secondary antibodies used and respective company.

### 12. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software Inc.).

In tumour growth measurement graphs presented in this study, each individual value is plotted.

In other graphs presented, each individual value is plotted and the nonparametric Mann-Whitney test was performed to assess differences between two groups. Every time we had more than two groups to compare, the ordinary one-way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's multiple compared test was performed. Results are presented as p-values: \*  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*  $p \le 0.01$ , \*\*\*  $p \le 0.001$  and were considered to be statistical significant. Every time we do not present the p-value it means that results are not significant.

### **CHAPTER 4: RESULTS**

## 1. Effect of TLR ligands in combination with anti-CD40 mAb on E0771 breast tumour cells

Evidence shows that TLRs are expressed not only in immune cells but also in tumor cells, and that the activation of TLRs contributes to both inhibition and promotion of various tumors, with unclear underlying mechanisms (Du, Jiang, Cleveland, Liu, & Zhang, 2016; Shi, Chen, Ye, Yao, & Li, 2016). Thus, we first assessed the effect of various TLR ligands with anti-CD40 mAb in order to assess if this combination could have a direct impact on tumour cells. To address this question, E0771 cells were stained with a cell tracker that allows monitoring their proliferation. TLR ligands plus anti-CD40 mAb, or IFN- $\gamma$  as a positive control (Y. Zhao et al., 2013) to block proliferation, were added and cells were incubated for three days.

Surprisingly, flow cytometry analysis indicated that IFN- $\gamma$  did not affect the proliferation of E0771 cells. The majority of TLR ligands tested *in vitro* had no impact on E0771 cell proliferation. Only TLR7 ligand resulted in inhibition of proliferation (Figure 7A).

Moreover, we also assessed the phenotype of these cells, namely the expression of MHC I and MHC II, which are very important molecules rendering the tumour cells susceptible to an immune response. PD-L1 and PD-L2 expression was also assessed in order to understand if any of the treatments could upregulate these well-established immunosuppressive markers (Figure 7B).

As expected IFN- $\gamma$  induces expression of MHC I and MHC II as well as PD-L1 and PD-L2. TLR2/1 and TLR7 ligand in combination with anti-CD40 mAb showed some differences in the expression of MHC molecules and ligands of PD-1 and also in tumour cell proliferation, respectively (Supplementary figure 2A-E). Thus, we decided to assess the effect of injection of TLR2/6, TLR3, TLR4 or TLR9 ligands in combination with plus anti-CD40 mAb *in vivo*.



Figure 7: *In vitro* proliferation and phenotype of E0771 tumour cells in the presence of TLR ligands plus anti-CD40 mAb. Fifty thousand tumour cells were incubated alone (red), with with IFN- $\gamma$  (blue) or different TLR ligands plus anti-CD40 mAb (blue), as indicated in a 6-well plate. Then, seventy-two hours later cells were detached and analysed by FACS. (A) Representative histograms of E0771 tumour cells proliferation. (B) Representative plots of the expression of MHC I, MHC II, PD-L1 and PD-L2, respectively.

### 2. Effect of intra-tumour injection of TLR ligands plus anti-CD40 mAb on tumour growth *in vivo*

For *in vivo* experiments, mice were transplanted with  $1 \times 10^6$  E0771 breast adenocarcinoma tumour cells in the mammary fat pad.

Tumour growth was monitored and when size reached between 50-100mm<sup>3</sup>, mice were treated with an intra-tumour injection of individual TLR ligand in the presence of agonist anti-CD40 mAb (Figure 8A).

Intra-tumour injection of all TLR ligands plus anti-CD40 mAb consistently led to a complete remission in most treated animals (Figures 8B-E).



**Figure 8: TLR2/1, TLR2/6, TLR3, TLR4 and TLR9 ligands in combination with anti-CD40 mAb intra-tumour injection induced tumour remission. (A)** Schematic representation of the schedule for tumour injection (green) and adjuvant injection (grey line). E0771 tumour growth in non-treated (blue circle; n=3) and treated mice (purple squares; n=3/4). On day 13 (blue arrow), mice were injected with **(B)** TLR2/6 ligand, **(C)** TLR3 ligand, **(D)** TLR4 ligand and **(E)** TLR9 ligand, all in the presence of anti-CD40 mAb (blue arrow). Statistical analysis was performed using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test.

TLR3 ligand is a double stranded RNA molecule and it was already reported that viral infections can induce acute inflammation and potent antitumour immune responses (Shime et al., 2012). We also confirmed that TLR3 ligand or anti-CD40 mAb alone were not sufficient, and that only the combination led to tumour complete remission *in vivo* (Supplementary figure 3). Besides this, we also concluded this treatment had no direct impact on tumour cell proliferation or changes on the expression of specific markers, as previously shown. Therefore, we decided to dissect further the specific mechanisms of action by which IT treatment with TLR3 ligand plus anti-CD40 mAb, henceforth called TLR3/CD40 treatment, led to complete remission.

### 3. In vivo TLR3/CD40 effect on myeloid lineage

In order to understand if the treatment with TLR3/CD40 was dependent on the myeloid lineage, we used Rag2<sup>-/-</sup> $\gamma c^{-/-}$  mice, which lack B, T, NK and innate lymphoid cell (ILC) function. As Rag2<sup>-/-</sup> $\gamma c^{-/-}$  mice have myeloid cells but lack the lymphoid lineage it is an interesting model to study the importance of each lineage for the treatment outcome. If myeloid cells were irrelevant for the treatment outcome one would expect no differences in tumour growth upon treatment. Interestingly, we found that TLR3/CD40 treatment promoted a delay in tumour growth (Figure 9A-B), which could only be detected by looking to fold increase (Figure 9C). Similar results were observed in TCR $\alpha^{-/-}$  mice which do not have  $\alpha\beta$  TCR (CD4+ neither CD8+ T cells) (Figure 9D-E). This suggests that the anti-tumour effect of TLR3/CD40 depends on myeloid cells. However, it also suggests that the complete eradication of the tumour is T-cell dependent.



**Figure 9: Tumour growth delay in Rag2**-/- $\gamma$  c/- and TCR  $\alpha$ -/- mice. (A) Schematic representation of the schedule for tumour injection (green) and adjuvant injection (grey line). (B) E0771 tumour growth in non-treated mice (blue circle; n=5) and treated mice with TLR3/CD40 IT (purple squares; n=6) every three days since day 13 (blue arrows). (C) Fold increase after TLR3/CD40 treatment in non-treated mice (blue circle; n=5) and treated mice (purple squares; n=6) every three days since day 13 (blue arrows). (D) E0771 tumour growth in non-treated mice (blue circle; n=4) and treated mice with TLR3/CD40 IT (purple squares; n=5) every three days since day 13 (blue arrows). (E) Fold increase after TLR3/CD40 treatment in non-treated mice (purple squares; n=5) every three days since day 13 (blue arrows). (E) Fold increase after TLR3/CD40 treatment in non-treated mice (blue circle; n=4) and treated mice (purple squares; n=5) every three days since day 13 (blue arrows). Statistical analysis was performed using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test.

#### 4. In vivo TLR3/CD40 dependency on macrophages

Macrophages are known to have a dual role during cancer progression (Biswas & Mantovani, 2010; Mantovani, Sozzani, Locati, Allavena, & Sica, 2002; Mosser & Edwards, 2008; Ruffell, Brian; Affara, Nesrine & Coussens, 2012). Therefore, to confirm that these cells played a role in tumour rejection, macrophages were depleted from WT mice using clodronate-containing liposomes. Consistent with the results already shown by Miguel Pinto in his master thesis (Pinto, 2017), we found that TLR3/CD40 failed to induce tumour regression when macrophages were depleted (Figures 10A-B). Thus, *in vivo* TLR3/CD40 anti-tumour effect depends on macrophages.



**Figure 10:** TLR3/CD40 intra-tumour injection is macrophage dependent. (A) Schematic representation of the schedule for tumour injection (green), clodronate-liposomes injection both intra-tumour and intravenously every 2 to 3 days (blue) and adjuvant injection (grey line). (B) E0771 tumour growth in non-treated mice (blue circle; n=1), treated mice with TLR3/CD40 (purple squares; n=4) and treated mice with TLR3/CD40 and depleted in macrophages with clodronate-containing liposomes (pink triangles; n=4). On days 7, 9 and 12 (grey arrows) mice were depleted in macrophages, both IT and IV and on day 10 (blue arrows), mice were injected with TLR3/CD40 treatment. Statistical analysis was performed using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test.

### 5. TLR3/CD40 treatment induces anti-tumour macrophages

Given that the treatment with TLR3/CD40 was dependent on macrophages, the phenotype of these cells was assessed.

Three days after treatment, anti-tumour effectors amongst CD11b<sup>+</sup> Ly6C<sup>(+/-)</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> macrophages were induced. This was revealed by a significant increase in the proportion of TNF- $\alpha^+$  IL-1 $\beta^+$  producing macrophages (Figure 11A). We also observed that, in CD11b<sup>+</sup>Ly6C<sup>-</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> macrophages, there was an

increase in the production of iNOS on treated compared to non-treated mice (Figure 11B).



**Figure 11: Upregulation of the expression of IL-1** $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and iNOS by macrophages. (A) Representative FACS plots (left) and respective graphic (right) from tumours of non-treated and treated mice, seventy-two hours after treatment showing the frequency of IL1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  (CD11b<sup>+</sup> Ly6C<sup>(+/-)</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>) and **(B)** iNOS by macrophages (CD11b<sup>+</sup> Ly6C<sup>-</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup>). Statistical analysis was performed using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test.

Paralleled to this, the expression of the immunosuppressive marker PD-L1 was also assessed. We found that there was a reduction in the percentage of myeloid cells (CD11b+ cells) expressing high levels of PD-L1 within regressing compared to progressing tumours (Figure 12A; Supplementary figure 4). These results, which are consistent to what Miguel Pinto showed in his thesis (Pinto, 2017), indicate that the treatment leads to a change in the myeloid cell functions towards a more anti-tumoural phenotype.

These results led us to assess the role of these pro-inflammatory cytokines and enzymes in the response to the treatment with TLR3/CD40. 40



**Figure 12: Downregulation of the expression of PD-L1 upon treatment. (A)** FACS plots (left) and respective graphic of the percentage of PD-L1 (right) from tumours of non-treated and treated mice seventy-two hours after the treatment. Statistical analysis was performed using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test.

# 6. Role of IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ and iNOS in response to TLR3/CD40

To understand the direct effect of TLR3/CD40 on macrophages we used BMDM. Hence, we measured gene expression on BMDM that were polarized in various conditions during 24 hours. We compared M1, M2a, M2c conditions and also in the presence of TLR3/CD40. While *ll-1* $\beta$  was upregulated by TLR3/CD40, *Nos2* messenger appears selective to M1 condition. *Tnf-* $\alpha$  was upregulated both in M1 condition and by TLR3/CD40 (Figures 13A-C).



**Figure 13: Gene expression in BMDM. (A), (B)** and **(C)** Respective gene expression of *ll-1* $\beta$ , *Tnf-* $\alpha$  and *Nos2* expression in polarized and treated macrophages that were in contact with E0771 tumour cells during 24 hours (M0, M1, M2a and M2c, n=5; TLR3/CD40 n=6).  $\beta 2$  *microglobulin* was used as endogenous reference and statistical analysis was performed using Tukey's multiple compared test.

We also went on to measure iNOS protein levels by intracellular FACS staining on BMDM polarized in various conditions. This analysis showed that the proportion of iNOS-expressing BMDM were induced at much higher levels in M1 compared to TLR3/CD40-stimulated macrophages. Nevertheless, although to a much lesser extent, iNOS was also induced in TLR3/CD40-stimulated macrophages (Figure 14A).



**Figure 14: Upregulation of iNOS in M1 macrophages. (A)** Representative FACS plots (right) and graphic (right) from polarized and treated macrophages. Statistical analysis was performed using Tukey's multiple compared test.

In order to decipher which factor mediates the anti-tumour effect of the treatment, we decided to block IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and iNOS production by using agents already reported to work *in vivo*. We found that, while IL-1 $\beta$  and iNOS are dispensable for tumour eradication, TNF- $\alpha$  is required for the induction of tumour regression by TLR3/CD40 because this treatment does not work when the production of TNF- $\alpha$  is neutralized (Figures 15A-D).

Further investigation is required to determine the specific role of TNF- $\alpha$ . This effector molecule could impact directly the tumour cells by preventing proliferation or even induce cell death. Macrophages activated *in vivo* with TLR3/CD40 could also act on the tumour microenvironment through, for instance, induction of T cell responses against tumour and/or inhibition of angiogenesis.



**Figure 15:** Role of IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and iNOS upon treatment. (A) Schematic representation of the schedule for tumour injection (green), adjuvant injection (grey line) and blocking of IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and inhibition of iNOS (pink). (B) E0771 tumour growth in non-treated mice (blue circle; n=3), treated mice with TLR3/CD40 (purple squares; n=3) and treated mice with TLR3/CD40 and IL-1 $\beta$  neutralization (pink triangles; n=4). On days 11, 13, 16 and 20 (grey arrows) mice were injected with the IL1 $\beta$  blocker, both IT and IV and on day 12 (blue arrow), mice were injected with TLR3/CD40 (purple squares; n=3) and treated mice (blue circle; n=3), treated mice with TLR3/CD40 (purple squares; n=3) and treated mice with TLR3/CD40

and TNF- $\alpha$  neutralization (pink triangles; n=5). On days 11, 13, 16 and 20 (grey arrows) mice were injected with the TNF- $\alpha$  blocker, both IT and IV and on day 12 (blue arrow), mice were injected with TLR3/CD40 treatment. **(D)** E0771 tumour growth in non-treated mice (blue circle; n=3), treated mice with TLR3/CD40 (purple squares; n=2), treated mice with TLR3/CD40 and 1400W iNOS inhibitor (pink triangles; n=4) and treated mice with TLR3/CD40 and Aminoguanidine Hydrochloride iNOS inhibitor (yellow triangles; n=2). Since day 16 (grey line), mice were injected every day with the iNOS inhibitor, both IP and IT and on days 15, 18, 21, 24 and 30 (blue arrows), mice were injected with TLR3/CD40 treatment. Statistical analysis was performed using Tukey's multiple compared test.

### 7. *In vivo* re-challenge of TLR3/CD40 treatment and immunologic memory

We also went to determine if the tumour regression induced by TLR3/CD40 was long lasting and could prevent "experimental" relapses. Thus, after tumour complete eradication, we waited about 20 days and mice received a second injection of 1x10<sup>6</sup> E0771 tumour cells on the contralateral side of the first injection (Figure 16A). We found that tumour cells were not able to establish a tumour mass, showing that tumour-free survivors were resistant to tumour re-implantation and indicating the generation of a long-lasting adaptive immunity against E0771 tumour cells (Figure 16B). This is consistent with the results already shown by Miguel Pinto in his thesis (Pinto, 2017).



**Figure 16: Long-lasting adaptive immunity by tumour-free survivors. (A)** Schematic representation of the schedule for tumour injection (green), adjuvant injection (grey line) and re-challenge (red line). **(B)** E0771 tumour growth in non-treated mice (blue circle; n=7), treated mice with TLR3/CD40 (purple squares; n=7) on days 18 and 21 (blue arrows). Mice were re-injected on day 55 (red arrow). Statistical analysis was performed using the non-parametric

### 8. Required immune cells for tumour complete eradication upon treatment

Given that the treatment with TLR3/CD40 led to long-lasting memory and protected against novel tumour challenge, CD8+ T cells could be the key players in the complete eradication of the tumour. To assess the role of CD8+ T cells we used a depleting anti-CD8 mAb. Thus, tumour-bearing mice were depleted in CD8+ T cells and then received TLR3/CD40 treatment (Figure 17A).

CD8+ T cell depletion was confirmed by blood analysis using FACS on the day of the first treatment (Supplementary figure 5).

Consistent with the results already shown by Miguel Pinto in his master thesis (Pinto, 2017), the treatment failed to induce tumour regression when CD8+ T cells are depleted, indicating that CD8+ T cells are responsible for tumour eradication upon treatment (Figure 17B).

Importantly, between days 13 and 18, the treatment induced a control in tumour growth in a CD8+ T cell-independent manner. This suggests that early after treatment macrophages are likely the effectors controlling tumour progression while after one week the CD8+ T cells are the effectors required to eliminate the tumour. Altogether, these results suggest a two-step effect of the TLR3/CD40 treatment. First, macrophages get activated and can limit tumour expansion through direct or indirect tumour killing. Second, they may also participate in the priming of CD8+ T cells, which in turn will induce complete tumour elimination.



**Figure 17: CD8+ T cells are necessary for tumour eradication upon TLR3/CD40 intratumour injection. (A)** Schematic representation of the schedule for tumour injection (green), adjuvant injection (grey line) and depleting anti-CD8 (pink) injection both IT and IP every five days. **(B)** E0771 tumour growth in non-treated mice (blue circle; n=4), treated mice with TLR3/CD40 (purple squares; n=4) on days 12, 18 and 21 (blue arrows) and treated mice with TLR3/CD40 and depleted on CD8+ T cells with anti-CD8 mAb (pink squares; n=7) on days 12, 17 and 22 (grey arrows). Statistical analysis was performed using Tukey's multiple compared test.

# 9. Effector functions of CD8+ T cells upon treatment with TLR3/CD40

To determine the effector functions of CD8+ T cells, the production of TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  was assessed by FACS. Consistent with the results already shown by Miguel Pinto in his master thesis (Pinto, 2017), we found that treated mice were capable of producing high amounts of these effectors in comparison to non-treated mice. These results demonstrate that CD8+ T cells responded to the treatment and upregulated anti-tumour effector functions (Figure 18).



**Figure 18**: **TLR3/CD40 treatment increases anti-tumour CD8+ T effectors in the tumour.** Representative FACS plots (left) and graphic (left) from tumours of non-treated and treated mice, showing the frequency of TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  by CD8+ T cells ten days after treatment with TLR3/CD40. Statistical analysis was performed using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test.

IFN- $\gamma$  was also found to be critical for the treatment-induced tumour regression as TLR3/CD40 ligand plus anti-CD40 failed to induce tumour growth delay or tumour regression in IFN- $\gamma$  <sup>-/-</sup> mice (Figure 19A-B).



**Figure 19**: **IFN**- $\gamma$  **is important for the treatment to work. (A)** Schematic representation of the schedule for tumour injection (green) and adjuvant injection every three days, since day 13 (grey line). **(B)** E0771 tumour growth in non-treated (blue circle; n=4) and treated mice with TLR3/CD40 (purple squares; n=4) in IFN- $\gamma$ - $\gamma$ - $\gamma$ -mice. Mice were injected with TLR3/CD40 IT every three days, since day 13 (blue arrows). Statistical analysis was performed using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test.

## 10. Indirect pathway between macrophages and CD8+ T cells

Until now, we have evidence that in a mouse model of mammary tumour, macrophages respond to the combination of TLR3/CD40 and that tumour eradication is mediated by CD8+ T cells. This led us to question the role of cells that are critical to cross-present tumour antigens to CD8+ T cells. In particular, IT CD103+ DCs have been identified as active APCs in the tumor microenvironment that process antigens and are crucial to the induction of an anti-tumoural T-cell response. These CD103+ DCs have a unique property to cross-present antigens to CD8+ T cells. The development of these DCs has been shown to rely on the transcription factor BATF3. Although we never observed differences between the accumulation of CD103+ DCs in the tumour upon treatment (data not shown) we decided to determine their role upon treatment. To do so, we treated tumour-bearing role of BATF3 -/- mice, which lack the so-called CD103+ BATF3+ DC1.

We found that upon TLR3/CD40 IT injection, the treatment failed to induce tumour regression, suggesting that this type of DCs might have a role in CD8+ T cell activation (Figures 20A-B).



**Figure 20: Dendritic cells are important in tumour eradication upon treatment with TLR3/CD40. (A)** Schematic representation of the schedule for tumour injection (green) and adjuvant injection (grey line). **(B)** E0771 tumour growth in non-treated mice (blue circle; n=4) and treated mice with TLR3/CD40 IT (purple squares; n=4) on days 14 and 18 (blue arrows). Statistical analysis was performed using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test.

# 11. *In vivo* anti-tumour effect of other TLR ligand in combination with anti-CD40 and dependency on neutrophils

In analogy with macrophages, TANs can exert pro-tumoural as well as anti-tumoural functions (Fridlender et al., 2009; Mantovani, 2009; Mantovani et

al., 2011). Thus, to understand if a specific TLR ligand plus anti-CD40 was generating an anti-tumour response dependent on neutrophils, this myeloid subset was depleted with anti-Gr1 every three to five days (Figure 21A).

We found that TLR4 ligand plus anti-CD40, henceforth called as TLR4/CD40, failed to induce tumour regression upon neutrophil depletion (Figure 21B). Importantly, neutrophils are dispensable for the elimination of tumour triggered by the other TLR ligands (Supplementary figure 6A-B), suggesting that TLR4/CD40 is the only one that is capable of inducing tumour regression in a neutrophil-dependent manner.

These results suggest that the local signaling pathways capable of shaping macrophage and neutrophil responses to the tumour are different and non-overlapping.



**Figure 21:** *In vivo* **TLR4/CD40 anti-tumour effect depends on neutrophils. (A)** Schematic representation of the schedule for tumour injection (green), anti-Gr1 injection both intratumour and intravenously every 3 to 5 days (blue) and adjuvant injection (grey line). **(B)** E0771 tumour growth in non-treated mice (blue circle; n=3), treated mice with TLR4/CD40 (purple squares; n=3) and treated mice with TLR4/CD40 and depleted on neutrophils with anti-Gr1 (pink triangles; n=3). On days 9, 12, 16, 19 and 24 (grey arrows) mice were depleted on neutrophils both IV and IP. On day 13 (blue arrow), mice were injected with TLR4/CD40 IT. Statistical analysis was performed using Tukey's multiple compared test.

### **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION**

Nowadays, there is still a lack of information characterizing the antitumour functions, phenotype and transcriptional programs of myeloid cells. Consequently, our work aimed to study these cells in the context of tumour responses. For that, we successfully found *in vivo* conditions to induce macrophages and neutrophils to perform anti-tumour functions upon stimulation with TLR3 or TLR4 ligand both in combination with agonist anti-CD40 mAb, respectively. This anti-tumour phenotype consistently led to tumour complete remission in the majority of treated mice.

We explored the effects of TLR3/CD40 stimulation and found that, although macrophages produced pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , and high amounts of iNOS, only TNF- $\alpha$  is required for tumour remission. Moreover, tumour-free survivors were resistant to tumour re-implantation indicating a long-lasting adaptive immunity that was dependent on CD8+ T cells. Regarding the treatment with TLR4/CD40, further studies need to be done in order to dissect the mechanisms behind the potentiation of anti-tumour neutrophils.

In this chapter we will discuss the experimental limitations of our model, as well as propose alternative approaches. Afterwards we will hypothesize on the mechanisms involved in our model, discuss future work and conclude with the implications of our findings.

### 1. Experimental limitations

In this thesis we used an orthotopic mouse transplanted tumour model. These transplantable mouse models have permitted great discoveries in the oncoimmunology field. An example is the identification of immune checkpoints and the development of the immune checkpoint blockers. The importance of these discoveries is demonstrated by the number of patients, whose prognosis was very unfavorable, and who have had their lives prolonged of many years. The attribution of the Nobel Prize of Physiology and Medicine 2018 to James Allison and Tasuku Honjo clearly exemplified the remarkable outcome of discoveries that were first observed in transplantable tumour mouse models.

However, this transplantable tumour approach system has a main weakness as it bypasses the tumorigenesis phase and the long-term establishment and modulation of the immune response as it occurs in humans. Transplanted tumour progression lacks many features of natural carcinogenesis and they also grow very rapidly, which are critical differences with human tumours (Ngiow, Loi, Thomas, & Smyth, 2016; Sanmamed, Chester, Melero, & Kohrt, 2016). It is well known that most of immunotherapies fail to provide similar effects in humans compared with mice. In fact, the rate of successful translation from animal models to clinical trials has been estimated to be less than 8% (Mak, Evaniew, & Ghert, 2014). For all these reasons, we plan to modulate myeloid cells in chemically-induced and oncogene-driven tumour mouse models. These models are much more reliable in terms of tumour development and the constitution of the myeloid compartment should be more representative of naturally developed tumours.

# 2. TLR3/CD40 treatment acts on macrophages and leads to tumour complete remission

Currently, the potential of TLR agonists to induce effective immune responses against tumours has been widely studied, and they are proposed to be used as adjuvant in cancer immunotherapy (Kaczanowska, Joseph, & Davila, 2013; K. Li, Qu, Chen, Wu, & Shi, 2017; Shi et al., 2016). We attempted to dissect the effect of TLR3 ligand on myeloid cells and its effect on the tumour immune response.

One of our objectives was to determine if the anti-tumour effect of TLR3/CD40 was dependent on the cytokines and enzymes produced by macrophages - IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and iNOS.

The role of IL-1  $\beta$  in cancer is controversial. It is a pleiotropic cytokine that in one hand can act as pro-tumoural and induce tumor growth, angiogenesis and consequently metastasis (Elaraj et al., 2006; Lewis, Varghese, Xu, & Alexander, 2006; Voronov et al., 2002) or in another hand, can act as anti-tumoural by increasing antigen-presentation or promoting CD8+ T cell activation (Ghiringhelli et al., 2009; Yao et al., 2017).

As mentioned in section 5 of the introduction, macrophages can also be cytotoxic and kill tumour cells through the production of soluble factors, such as NO or TNF- $\alpha$ .

TNF- $\alpha$  is well-described as a potent pro-inflammatory cytokine known to participate in tumour cell killing (Blankenstein et al., 1991; Urban, Shepard, Rothstein, Sugarman, & Schreiber, 1986). For instance, low-doses of TNF- $\alpha$  can improve the stabilization of blood vessels and tumour perfusion, while it enhances tumour specific immune responses by an increase in T cell infiltration and OS, that is exclusively mediated by CD8+ T cells (Johansson, Hamzah, Payne, & Ganss, 2012). The binding of the TNF- $\alpha$  trimer to TNFR1 causes trimerization of TNFR1, resulting in the formation of a complex formed by TNFR1, TRADD, TRAF2 and RIP that when sustained leads to JNK activation and contributes to tumour cell death (pro-apoptotic pathway) (Wang & Li, 2008). In addition, Kratochvill *et al.* also showed that TNF- $\alpha$  is essential for blocking M2 macrophages in the TME (Kratochvill et al., 2015).

In tumours, NO has been described to have both pro- and anti-tumoural effects. This dichotomy can be explained by the complexity of signaling 52
pathways in tumour cells that can respond to NO in very different ways mainly depending on its concentrations (Rahat & Hemmerlein, 2013). Hypoxia conditions and immunossupressive cytokines can inhibit iNOS activity and lead to low production of NO, supporting tumour growth and metastasis formation. In contrast, NO can also act as an important mediator involved in tumour cell killing (Klimp et al., 2002; MacMicking, Xie, & Nathan, 1997). High levels of NO may lead to tumour apoptosis by enhancing cytochrome c release from the mitocondria and activating caspases. In addition, it was already shown that danger signals could induce iNOS+ macrophages that are critical to tumour rejection. For instance, after low-dose gamma radiation, M2 macrophages can be polarized into M1, leading to the production of NO by macrophages. This NO-producing macrophages where shown to be critical for tumour rejection by the production of Th1 chemokines leading to the recruitment of effector T cells and suppression of angiogenic factors (Klug et al., 2013).

After neutralizing the production of each factor, IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$  and iNOS, *in vivo* we found that TNF- $\alpha$  played a key role in tumour eradication.

*In vitro* killing assays done by Henning Boekhoff in the laboratory using M1-polarised or TLR3/CD40 stimulated macrophages suggested that the M1 conditioning medium (supernatant of polarized M1 macrophages) induced higher tumour cell killing compared of TLR3/CD40 conditioning medium. By contrast, when co-cultured with tumour cells, TLR3/CD40 stimulated macrophages had a higher potential to induce tumour cell killing than M1-polarised macrophages. This led us to hypothesize that M1 macrophages might produce a soluble factor (possibly NO) while TLR3/CD40 stimulated macrophages might act through direct cell contact to kill tumour cells (data not shown).

To assess this we used iNOS inhibitor drugs that are widely recognized to inhibit iNOS. However, we found only limited diminution of NO production from either M1 macrophages or TLR3/CD40 stimulated macrophages. Thus, to definitively determine the potential role of iNOS, we prepared BMDM from iNOS -/- mice. To our surprise, while NO species were not detected (with a Griess assay) in the supernatant of M1 or TLR3/CD40 activated macrophages, tumour killing was only partially inhibited consistent with a mild role for NO (and thus iNOS) as a mechanism leading to tumour cell control *in vivo* (data not shown).

To further dissect the mechanism of action of tumour killing by these BMDM we also plan to use transwells where tumour cells will be plated in the bottom and in the upper chamber the macrophages will be added. A permeable membrane will be separating both tumour cells and macrophages and after an incubation period, we will stain and count the cells in order to see if macrophages had killed the tumour cells. From this experiment we expect to have tumour cell death due to the secretion of other soluble factors (e.g. granzyme, ROS, or even a combination of everything) by macrophages that work to limit tumour growth.

Contact-dependent tumour cell-killing might depend on the expression of TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL), NKG2D or the first apoptosis signal ligand (FasL) by macrophages (Baba et al., 2008; Herbeuval et al., 2003; Klimp et al., 2002; Z. Zhou et al., 2012). We have assessed the expression of cytotoxic molecules by macrophages by real-time PCR. However, none of the markers we have assessed were selectively expressed by TLR3/CD40-stimulated macrophages, leaving the contact-dependent tumour cell-killing mechanism still unresolved (data not shown).

Macrophages are also able to phagocyte tumour cells and one of the mechanisms involves the recognition of tumour cells that express CD47 via expression of SIRP $\alpha$  on macrophages, the "don't eat me" signal. In order to test this *in vivo*, we plan to use a SIRP $\alpha$ -blocking antibody, and see if the TLR3/CD40 induces tumour regression. *In vitro*, we plan to do a phagocytosis assay where fluorescent E0771 tumour cells are incubated with activated BMDM and then we assess the level of fluorescence in macrophages by fluorescence microscopy.

Macrophages can also be anti-angiogenic depending on the stage of the tumour growth and the microenvironmental conditions (Herbeuval et al., 2003; Klimp et al., 2002; C. F. Nathan, 1987). For instance, in the presence of hypoxia, tumours can also secrete GM-CSF, which have been shown to stimulate macrophages to produce IL-12 and a soluble variant of the VEGF receptor 1 (sVEGFR1) in an hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)  $2\alpha$ -dependent manner, which will block VEGF activity and therefore suppress angiogenesis (J. Roda et al., 2012). These anti-angiogenic macrophages have already been described to inhibit breast cancer growth and metastasis and also decrease tumor growth in melanoma mice models (Eubank et al., 2009; J. Roda et al., 2012; J. M. Roda et al., 2012). Other studies blocking IL-4 or even the injection of TLR9 ligand in combination with an antibody specific for the IL-10 receptor into tumourbearing mice can shift TAMs from an M2 to a M1 phenotype (Guiducci, Vicari, Sangaletti, Trinchieri, & Colombo, 2005; Linde et al., 2012). All findings about these anti-angiogenic properties of macrophages show that, when properly instructed, they can target and dissociate the tumour-associated vasculature.

In order to test this hypothesis, we intend to take advantage of *in vitro* and *in vivo* approaches. We will use M1-polarized and TLR3/CD40 treated BMDM and do gene expression to test some angiogenic markers, such as VEGF, angiopoietin or the platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF). Immunohistochemistry, transmigration and scratch assays are also other options that can be used to understand the activity of these macrophages upon treatment *in vitro*. Secretion of pro- or anti-angiogenic factors by BMDM stimulated in various conditions will also be assessed using a chick embryo model, in particular its chorioallantoid membrane (CAM). By using some anti-

angiogenic inhibitors, such as bevacizumab, sunitinib or rapamycin that are already in the clinic, we could also see if TLR3/CD40 treatment induces tumour regression.

It is plausible that anti-tumour macrophages (through either their antiangiogenic, cytotoxic or other unidentified functions) can also participate in DC stimulation that in turn can activate CD8+ T cells. Although Gilfillan and her team already showed that DC1s are not essential for CD8 responses induced by TLR3 ligand immunotherapy in B16 melanoma tumours (Gilfillan et al., 2018), there are other works that emphasize the importance of DCs in priming T cells and promoting anti-tumour responses (Ruffell et al., 2014). In fact, in this thesis we show that BATF3, which is important for the development and function of DC1s, is also important in the response to TLR3/CD40.

In sum, TLR3+CD40 treatment generates anti-tumour macrophages, however, the identification of their anti-tumour functions still needs to be elucidated.

All these results lead us to build our two-step model where the treatment activates macrophages that, in the beginning can act as potent phagocytic killers, secrete soluble factors or even prevent blood supply, leading to a delay in tumour growth. Then, these activated macrophages will, in a direct or indirect way (with the help of DCs), activate CD8+ T cells, which will cause a complete remission of the tumour (Figure 22).



Figure 22: Representation of our proposed two-step model.

## 3. *In vivo* TLR4/CD40 anti-tumour effect depends on neutrophils

An important goal of this thesis was to assess whether other maturing agents also had the potential to change other myeloid cell effectors, in particular neutrophils. Preliminary data showed that upon neutrophil depletion using anti-Gr1 depleting Abs, the treatment with TLR4/CD40 was abolished. This suggested that, in response to TLR4/CD40 treatment, the critical myeloid cell compartment is neutrophil.

In the future, we intend to further characterize neutrophil anti-tumour functions upon TLR4/CD40 treatment. Additionally, we also want to test this treatment in different mouse tumour models (transplantable colon cancer and triple negative breast cancer cell lines - CT26 and 4T1, respectively - in BALB/c, and a melanoma model - B16F10 - in C57BL/6J), similarly to what my colleague Miguel Pinto did for his thesis using TLR3/CD40 (data not shown) (Pinto, 2017). With this we could understand if the stimulation through TLR4 induces tumour regression in various tumour types.

## 4. Long-term goal of our findings

To ensure that macrophages are the key myeloid players involved in TLR3/CD40 treatment we will use LysM-cre CFS1R-Floxed DTR CX3CR1-GFP mice (recently received from Dr. Ana Domingos (IGC, Oeiras, Portugal)) that allow selective macrophage depletion upon injection with diphteria toxin. In the same way to confirm the exclusive role of neutrophils, these mice will be used to assess tumour growth in response to TLR4/CD40 treatment.

In order to decipher some of the questions of our proposed two-step model, we also plan to do immunohistochemistry on tumour samples that have received the TLR3/CD40 treatment. This will help us to understand the localization of specific cells with the TME. For instance, based on our two-step model, we believe that macrophages might be closer to T cells on treated samples. Something that we also want to assess is to whether there are more blood vessels in non-treated mice compared to treated ones. This can also be extended to neutrophils upon treatment with TLR4/CD40. As shown in supplementary figure 7, the technique is already optimized for all the markers and now we intend to increase our number of samples to have statistically relevant results.

In addition, an important unanswered question is as to whether macrophages are locally reprogrammed or if monocyte-derived macrophages are recruited and polarized *in situ* by the treatment. To address this question, we are establishing collaboration with Dr. David Withers (Birmingham, UK) to take advantage of a photo convertible fluorescent protein "Kaede"- transgenic mice. Kaede changes from green to red upon exposure to violet light (Tomura et al., 2008). Thus, in these mice all cells appear green, the tumour can be exposed to violet light inducing all host and tumour-infiltrating immune cells to become red just before the application of the treatment. This way it is possible to distinguish between the response of Kaede-red resident and Kaede-green migrating immune cells. From this model, we expect to see green cells within the tumour, meaning that we have a recruitment of monocytes that will give rise to macrophages upon treatment with TLR3/CD40.

A long-term goal is to decipher the transcriptional program(s) that supports in vivo anti-tumour myeloid cell differentiation. Both anti-tumour macrophages and neutrophils will be analyzed with genome-wide unbiased approaches - transcriptomics. To dissect the diversity of effectors within the macrophage and neutrophil compartments we will perform RNA-sequencing at the single cell level. This will allow a clear understanding as to whether cells share anti-tumoural functions or if there is a clear partition in labour. If the antitumour responses are segregated in exclusive macrophage and neutrophil subsets, analysis at the single level should facilitate the dissection of the transcriptional program controlling a given effector function. This way we anticipate that our approach will provide a unique opportunity for a comprehensive characterization of their properties, phenotype and transcriptional regulation in the pre-clinical cancer setting. We anticipate that a clear delineation of the molecular determinants supporting selective antitumour activities may provide ground to design novel ways to manipulate myeloid cells in the TME. This will help us to unleash their potential to promote an anti-tumour response leading to tumour regression and ultimately eradication.

## 5. Translation and implication of our findings

In this thesis, we demonstrate that different treatments targeting myeloid subsets can change the TME through the alteration of the tumourinfiltrating macrophage or neutrophil responses. However, and as previously discussed, there are some questions that need to be addressed in order to develop new therapeutic tools to bring manipulation of myeloid cells as one more option of immunotherapy for patients. For instance, strategically it will be important to understand if macrophages and neutrophils perform similar or non-overlapping anti-tumour functions. This information would be critical, along with the nature of the tumour and its content in macrophages and neutrophils to define the best treatment and if combination targeting both macrophages and neutrophils would be beneficial.

Nowadays, the available data regarding the clinical efficacy of immunotherapy in treating cancer shows that using combinatory instead of single agents leads to more effective anti-tumour immune responses. This is probably explained by the fact that human cancers are extremely heterogeneous and is also able to escape either to immune recognition or killing. This escape can happen by different mechanisms, such as down-regulation of expression of MHC I, expression of inhibitory ligands for T cells, loss of tumour antigen expression or decreased susceptibility to cytotoxicity. Therefore, all these tumour resistance mechanisms might be overcomed by attacking in several fronts.

In 2006, Uno and colleagues first described that for a successful tumour elimination in mice, the activation of multiple steps was required. They used a "trimAb", which is an immunotherapeutic combination of three antibodies that target the TRAIL-R2, CD40 and CD137 (Uno et al., 2006). Further advances and increased knowledge in the onco-immunology field led to propose that four different arms of immunity need to be modulated to enhance the anti-tumour function of the immune system. The first includes the elimination of immune suppression by attenuating suppressor cells with the TME, such as MDSCs, M2 macrophages or even Tregs. Blocking inhibitory receptors in CTLS like CTLA-4, PD-1, Lag-3 or Tim-3 can also be a strategy. Second, induce immunogenic cancer-cell death by using target therapies against the tumour, such as conventional radiotherapy or chemotherapy, use proteasome inhibitors, vaccines, CAR T cells or oncogene inhibitors. Third, a better response can also be obtained through acting on APCs in order to enhance their adjuvanticity. This can be achieved by using immune adjuvants, like GM-CSF or CD40 agonists. Finally, it is also necessary to promote effector T cell activity using agonists against, for instance, ICOS, CD28, OX40, CD27, cytokines, such as IL-2, or even generate antibodies against molecules that are expressed by tumour cells like CD47 or HER2 (Smyth, Ngiow, Ribas, & Teng, 2015).

Indeed, combining anti-cancer therapies has been essential to achieve complete remission in some cancer patients. A key example of this is the effective treatment of melanoma patients by combining antibodies against the checkpoint inhibitors CTLA-4 and PD-1 (Wolchok et al., 2013). Moreover, promising results have also been achieved by combining immunotherapy agents with chemotherapy (Kim, Choi, Kim, Kang, & Kwon, 2008), radiotherapy (Demaria et al., 2005; Newcomb et al., 2010), target therapies (Knight et al., 2013), using anti-angiogenic agents (Hodi et al., 2014; Yasuda et al., 2013) and by partial surgical resections (Kwon et al., 1999).

Therefore, we believe that the best way to improve the effectiveness of cancer immunotherapies will require targeting anti-tumour immune responses at multiple levels, which may be accomplished through synergistic combination of different strategies. Moreover, it is predicted that the majority of these combinations will be built on the PD-1/PD-L1 immune checkpoint blockade (Mahoney, Rennert, & Freeman, 2015; Melero et al., 2015).

Finally, to make the bridge between the combinatory potential and this report, TLR3/CD40 has a better effect on tumour regression than either TLR3 ligand or anti-CD40 alone (data not shown). Moreover, we can also hypothesize that the combination of TLR3/CD40 with a specific immune checkpoint blocker - anti-PD-1 -, could improve the anti-tumour response of CD8+ T cells.

TLRs have been widely studied and some of them are already being used in the clinic or are in clinical trials. For instance, recently, a group of researchers have developed a new cancer vaccine composed by an adjuvant molecule called Diprovocim (TLR2/1 agonist), which synergizes anti-PD-L1 to eliminate B16 melanoma in mice with one hundred percent success. The researchers are now designing further pre-clinical tests for this vaccine, trying to establish how it works in combination with other anti-cancer therapies (Y. Wang et al., 2018).

In conclusion, the work described in this thesis highlights the antitumour potential of myeloid cells. We expect that future research will clarify all the biology and mechanisms behind this plasticity and the potential of manipulating these cells in order to improve cancer immunotherapy.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES



**Supplementary Figure 1:** Flow cytometry gating strategy of **(A)** myeloid and **(B)** lymphocyte populations infiltrating the tumour.



**Supplementary Figure 2:** Graphic representation of **(A)** E0771 tumour cells proliferation and expression of **(B)** MHC I, **(C)** MHC II, **(D)** PD-L1 and **(F)** PD-L2. Statistical analysis was performed using Tukey's multiple compared test.



**Supplementary Figure 3:** Only the combination of TLR3/CD40 leads to tumour complete regression. Non-treated mice (blue circle; n= 1), treated mice with TLR3 ligand (red triangles; n=3), treated mice with anti-CD40 (yellow triangles; n=2) and treated mice with TLR3 ligand plus anti-CD40 (purple squares; n= 6). Mice were treated IT (blue arrows). Statistical analysis was performed using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test.



Supplementary Figure 4: Fluorescence minus one (FMO) control stain of PD-L1 expression.



**Supplementary Figure 5:** CD8+ T cell depletion confirmed by blood analysis using FACS on the day of the first treatment.



**Supplementary Figure 6:** Neutrophils are dispensable for the elimination of tumour triggered by **(A)** TLR2/6 ligand plus anti-CD40 and **(B)** TLR9 ligand plus anti-CD40.

Non-treated mice (blue circle; n=3), treated mice with TLR ligands plus anti-CD40 (purple squares; n=4) and depleted on neutrophils with anti-Gr1 (red triangles; n=4). Mice were depleted on neutrophils both IV and IP (grey arrows) and injected with TLR ligands plus anti-CD40 IT (blue arrows). Statistical analysis was performed using Tukey's multiple compared test.



**Supplementary Figure 7:** Immunohistochemistry analysis of non-treated tumours at day 22 after tumour injection. Macrophages (F4/80) are brown and neutrophils (MPO), T (CD3+) and endothelial cells/factor VIII (Von Willebrand) are red. Nucleus of cells are counterstained with haematoxylin (400X).

## REFERENCES

- Adams, S., Kozhaya, L., Martiniuk, F., Meng, T. C., Chiriboga, L., Liebes, L., Hochman, T., Shuman, N., Axelrod, D., Speyer, J., Novik, Y., Tiersten, A., Goldberg, J. D., Formenti, S. C., Bhardwaj, N., Unutmaz, D., ... Demaria, S. (2012). Topical TLR7 agonist imiquimod can induce immune-mediated rejection of skin metastases in patients with breast cancer. *Clinical cancer research: an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research*, *18*(24), 6748-57. http://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1149
- Adams, S., O'Neill, D. W., Nonaka, D., Hardin, E., Chiriboga, L., Siu, K., Cruz, C. M., Angiulli, A., Angiulli, F., Ritter, E., Holman, R. M., Shapiro, R. L., Berman, R. S., Berner, N., Shao, Y., Manches, O., Pan, L., Venhaus, R. R., Hoffman, E. W., Jungbluth, A., Gnjatic, S., Old, L., Pavlick, A. C., ... Bhardwaj, N. (2008). Immunization of malignant melanoma patients with full-length NY-ESO-1 protein using TLR7 agonist imiquimod as vaccine adjuvant. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)*, 181(1), 776-84.
- Adams S. (2009). Toll-like receptor agonists in cancer therapy. *Immunotherapy*, 1(6), 949-64. http://doi.org/10.2217/imt.09.70
- Adams, S., Gray, R. J., Demaria, S., Goldstein, L., Perez, E. A., Shulman, L. N., ... Badve, S. S. (2014). Prognostic value of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in triple-negative breast cancers from two phase III randomized adjuvant breast cancer trials: ECOG 2197 and ECOG 1199. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 32(27), 2959–2966. http://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2013.55.0491
- Anand, P., Kunnumakara, A. B., Sundaram, C., Harikumar, K. B., Tharakan, S. T., Lai, O. S., ... Aggarwal, B. B. (2008). Cancer is a preventable disease that requires major lifestyle changes. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 25(9), 2097– 2116. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-008-9661-9
- Andre, F., Dieci, M. V., Dubsky, P., Sotiriou, C., Curigliano, G., Denkert, C., & Loi, S. (2013). Molecular pathways: involvement of immune pathways in the therapeutic response and outcome in breast cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 19(1), 28–33. http://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-2701
- Arnould, L., Gelly, M., Penault-Llorca, F., Benoit, L., Bonnetain, F., Migeon, C., ... Coudert, B. (2006). Trastuzumab-based treatment of HER2-positive breast cancer: An antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity mechanism? *British Journal of Cancer*, 94(2), 259–267. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6602930

- Baba, T., Iwasaki, S., Maruoka, T., Suzuki, a., Tomaru, U., Ikeda, H., ... Ishizu, a. (2008). Rat CD4+CD8+ Macrophages Kill Tumor Cells through an NKG2Dand Granzyme/Perforin-Dependent Mechanism. *The Journal of Immunology*, *180*(5), 2999–3006. http://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.180.5.2999
- Balkwill, F., & Mantovani, A. (2001). Inflammation and cancer: Back to Virchow? *Lancet*, 357(9255), 539–545. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04046-0
- Balkwill, F. R., & Mantovani, A. (2012). Cancer-related inflammation: Common themes and therapeutic opportunities. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, 22(1), 33–40. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2011.12.005
- Banchereau, J., & Palucka, K. (2017). Immunotherapy: Cancer vaccines on the move. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, 15(1), 9–10. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2017.149
- Barkal, A. A., Weiskopf, K., Kao, K. S., Gordon, S. R., Rosental, B., Yiu, Y. Y., ... Maute, R. L. (2017). Engagement of MHC class I by the inhibitory receptor LILRB1 suppresses macrophages and is a target of cancer immunotherapy. *Nature Immunology*. http://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-017-0004-z
- Barnard, M. E., Boeke, C. E., & Tamimi, R. M. (2015). Established breast cancer risk factors and risk of intrinsic tumor subtypes. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta Reviews on Cancer*, 1856(1), 73–85. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbcan.2015.06.002
- Beatty, G. L., Chiorean, E. G., Fishman, M. P., Saboury, B., Teitelbaum, U. R., Sun, W., ... Vonderheide, R. H. (2011). CD40 agonists alter tumor stroma and show efficacy against pancreatic carcinoma in mice and humans. *Science*, 331(6024), 1612–1616. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1198443
- Beatty, G. L., Torigian, D. A., Chiorean, E. G., Saboury, B., Brothers, A., Alavi, A., Troxel, A. B., Sun, W., Teitelbaum, U. R., Vonderheide, R. H., ... O'Dwyer, P. J. (2013). A phase I study of an agonist CD40 monoclonal antibody (CP-870,893) in combination with gemcitabine in patients with advanced pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research*, 19(22), 6286-95.
- Beaugerie, L., Svrcek, M., Seksik, P., Bouvier, A. M., Simon, T., Allez, M., ... Carrat,F. (2013). Risk of colorectal high-grade dysplasia and cancer in a prospective observational cohort of patients with inflammatory bowel

disease. *Gastroenterology*, 145(1), 166–175.e8. http://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2013.03.044

- Bereznaya, N. M., & Checkhun, V. F., (2007). Expression of CD40 and CD40L on tumor cells: the role of their interaction and new approach to immunotherapy. *Exp. Oncol., 29*(1), 2-12.
- Beutler, B. (2004). Innate immunity: An overview. *Molecular Immunology*, *40*(12), 845–859. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2003.10.005
- Bingle, L., Brown, N. J., & Lewis, C. E. (2002). The role of tumour-associated macrophages in tumour progression: Implications for new anticancer therapies. *Journal of Pathology*, 196(3), 254–265. http://doi.org/10.1002/path.1027
- Biswas, S. K., & Mantovani, A. (2010). Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: Cancer as a paradigm. *Nature Immunology*, *11*(10), 889–896. http://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1937
- Blankenstein, T., Qin, Z. H., Uberla, K., Müller, W., Rosen, H., Volk, H. D., & Diamantstein, T. (1991). Tumor suppression after tumor cell-targeted tumor necrosis factor alpha gene transfer. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 173(5), 1047–52. From http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2118861&too l=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract
- Borregaard, N. (2010). Neutrophils, from Marrow to Microbes. *Immunity*, 33(5), 657–670. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2010.11.011
- Boshart, M., Gissmann, L., Ikenberg, H., Kleinheinz, A., Scheurlen, W., & zur Hausen, H. (1984). A new type of papillomavirus DNA, its presence in genital cancer biopsies and in cell lines derived from cervical cancer. *The EMBO journal*, *3*(5), 1151–7. http://doi.org/10.1002/J.1460-2075.1984.TB01944.X
- Bowen, W. S., Svrivastava, A. K., Batra, L., Barsoumian, H., & Shirwan, H. (2018). Current challenges for cancer vaccine adjuvant development. *Expert Review of Vaccines*, *17*(3), 207–215. http://doi.org/10.1080/14760584.2018.1434000
- Brana I., Calles A., LoRusso P.M., Yee L.K., Puchalski T.A., Seetharam S., Zhong B., de Boer C.J., Tabernero J., Calvo E.. Carlumab, an anti-C-C chemokine ligand 2 monoclonal antibody, in combination with four chemotherapy regimens for 67

the treatment of patients with solid tumors: an open-label, multicenter phase 1b study. *Target Oncol.* 10(1):111-23. doi: 10.1007/s11523-014-0320-2.

- Brunner, M. C., Chambers, C. A., Chan, F. K., Hanke, J., Winoto, A., & Allison, J. P. (1999). CTLA-4-Mediated inhibition of early events of T cell proliferation. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950), 162*(10), 5813–20. http://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.175.11.7746
- Burnet, F. M. (1958). The Clonal Selection Theory of Acquired Immunity, 209.
- Burotto, M., Chiou, V. L., Lee, J.-M., & Kohn, E. C. (2014). The MAPK pathway across different malignancies: A new perspective. *Cancer*, *120*(22), 3446–3456. http://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.28864.
- Caras, I., Grigorescu, A., Stavaru, C., Radu, D. L., Mogos, I., Szegli, G., & Salageanu, A. (2004). Evidence for immune defects in breast and lung cancer patients. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 53(12), 1146–1152. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-004-0556-2
- Caruso, R. A., Bellocco, R., Pagano, M., Bertoli, G., Rigoli, L., & Inferrera, C. (2002). Prognostic value of intratumoral neutrophils in advanced gastric carcinoma in a high-risk area in Northern Italy. *Modern Pathology*, 15(8), 831–837. http://doi.org/10.1097/01.MP.0000020391.98998.6B
- Cassado, A. (2015). Revisiting mouse peritoneal macrophages : heterogeneity , development, and function, 6(May), 1–9. http://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2015.00225
- Cassetta, L., & Pollard, W. (2018). Targeting macrophages: therapeutic approaches in cancer. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 17, 887-904. 10.1038/nrd.2018.169
- Castells, M., Thibault, B., Mery, E., Golzio, M., Pasquet, M., Hennebelle, I., ... Couderc, B. (2012). Ovarian ascites-derived Hospicells promote angiogenesis via activation of macrophages. *Cancer Letters*, 326(1), 59–68. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2012.07.020
- Chablani, L. (2013). Breast Cancer Vaccine : Are We There Yet ?, *5*(1), 1–2. http://doi.org/10.4172/jbb.10000e27
- Chao, M. P., Alizadeh, A. a, Tang, C., Myklebust, J. H., Gill, S., Jan, M., ... Weissman, I. L. (2010). Anti-CD47 antibody synergizes with rituximab to promote

phagocytosis and eradicate non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Cell*, *142*(5), 699–713. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.07.044.

- Cheever, MA. (2008). Twelve immunotherapy drugs that could cure cancers. *Immunological Reviews*. 222:357-68. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2008.00604.x.
- Cheever, M. A., & Higano, C. S. (2011). PROVENGE (Sipuleucel-T) in Prostate Cancer: The First FDA-Approved Therapeutic Cancer Vaccine, 17(11), 3520–3527. http://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-3126
- Chen, J., Yao, Y., Gong, C., Yu, F., Su, S., Liu, B., ... Song, E. (2011). CCL18 from Tumor-Associated Macrophages Promotes Breast Cancer Metastasis via PITPNM3. *Cancer Cell*, 19(4), 541–555. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2011.02.006.
- Chen, P., Zuo, H., Xiong, H., Kolar, M. J., Chu, Q., Saghatelian, A., & Siegwart, D. J. (2016). Gpr132 sensing of lactate mediates tumor – macrophage interplay to promote breast cancer metastasis. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1614035114
- Clark, W. H., Elder, D. E., Guerry, D., Braitman, L. E., Trock, B. J., Schultz, D., ... Halpern, a C. (1989). Model predicting survival in stage I melanoma based on tumor progression. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 81(24), 1893–1904. http://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/81.24.1893
- Clemente, C. G., Mihm, M. C., Bufalino, R., Zurrida, S., Collini, P., & Cascinelli, N. (1996). Prognostic value of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in the vertical growth phase of primary cutaneous melanoma. *Cancer*, 77, 1303–1310. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19960401)77:7<1303::AID-CNCR12>3.0.CO;2-5
- Coca, S., Perez-Piqueras, J., Martinez, D., Colmenarejo, A., Saez, M. A., Vallejo, C., ... Moreno, M. (1997). The prognostic significance of intratumoral natural killer cells in patients with colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer*, 79(12), 2320– 2328. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0142(19970615)79:12<2320::AID-CNCR5>3.0.CO;2-P
- Cooper, M. D., & Alder, M. N. (2006). Review The Evolution of Adaptive Immune Systems, 815–822. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.001
- Cooke, P.W., James, N.D., Ganesan, R., Wallace, M., Burton, A., Young, L.S. (1999). CD40 expression in bladder cancer. *J Pathol*, 188(1), 38–43

- Correia, A. L., & Bissell, M. J. (2012). The tumour microenvironment is a dominant force in miltidrug resistance. *Drug Resist Updat*, 39–49. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1743-6109.2008.01122.x.
- Coscia, M., Quaglino, E., Iezzi, M., Curcio, C., Pantaleoni, F., Riganti, C., ... Massaia, M. (2010). Zoledronic acid repolarizes tumour-associated macrophages and inhibits mammary carcinogenesis by targeting the mevalonate pathway. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 14(12), 2803–2815. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00926.x
- Coussens, L. M., Zitvogel, L., & Palucka, A. K. (2013). Neutralizing tumorpromoting chronic inflammation: a magic bullet? *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, *339*(6117), 286–91. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1232227
- Dai, X.-M., Ryan, G. R., Hapel, A. J., Dominguez, M. G., Russell, R. G., Kapp, S., ... Stanley, E. R. (2002). Targeted disruption of the mouse CSF-1 receptor gene results in osteopetrosis, mononuclear phagocyte deficiency, increased primititive progenitor cell frequencies and reproductive defects. *Blood*, 99(1), 111–120. From http://www.bloodjournal.org/content/bloodjournal/99/1/111.full.pdf
- Davis, R. J., Moore, E. C., Clavijo, P. E., Friedman, J., Cash, H., Chen, Z., ... Allen, C. (2017). Anti-PD-L1 Efficacy Can Be Enhanced by Inhibition of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells with a Selective Inhibitor of PI3Kδ/γ. *Cancer Research*, 77(10), 2607–2619. http://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-2534
- Delves, P. J., & Roitt, I. M. (2000). The immune System. *Advances in Immunology*, *343*, 37–49.
- Demaria, S., Kawashima, N., Yang, A. M., Devitt, M. L., Babb, J. S., Allison, J. P., & Formenti, S. C. (2005). Immune-Mediated Inhibition of Metastases after Treatment with Local Radiation and CTLA-4 Blockade in a Mouse Model of Breast Cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 11, 728–734.
- DeNardo, D. G., Brennan, D. J., Rexhepaj, E., Ruffell, B., Shiao, S. L., Madden, S. F., ... Coussens, L. M. (2011). Leukocyte complexity predicts breast cancer survival and functionally regulates response to chemotherapy. *Cancer Discovery*, 1(1), 54–67. http://doi.org/10.1158/2159-8274.CD-10-0028
- Deshmane, S. L., Kremlev, S., Amini, S., & Sawaya, B. E. (2009). Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1): an overview. *Journal of interferon & cytokine research: the official journal of the International Society for*

*Interferon and Cytokine Research, 29*(6), 313-26. http://doi.org/10.1089/JIR.2008.0027

- Dieci, M. V., Mathieu, M. C., Guarneri, V., Conte, P., Delaloge, S., Andre, F., & Goubar, A. (2015). Prognostic and predictive value of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in two phase III randomized adjuvant breast cancer trials. *Annals of Oncology*, 26(8), 1698–1704. http://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdv239
- Dols A., Smith J.W. 2nd, Meijer S.L., Fox B.A., Hu, H.M., Walker, E., Rosenheim, S., Moudgil, T., Doran, T., Wood, W., Seligman, M., Alvord, W.G., Shoof, D., Urba, W.J. (2003). Vaccination of women with metastatic breast cancer, using a costimulatory gene (CD80)-modified, HLA-A2-matched, allogeneic, breast cancer cell line: clinical and immunological results. *Hum Gene Ther*;14(11):1117–1123. 10.1089/104303403322124828
- Dong, H., Strome, S. E., Salomao, D. R., Tamura, H., Hirano, F., Flies, D. B., ... Chen, L. (2002). Tumor-associated B7-H1 promotes T-cell apoptosis: A potential mechanism of immune evasion. *Nature Medicine*, 8(8), 793–800. http://doi.org/10.1038/nm730
- Donskov, F. (2013). Immunomonitoring and prognostic relevance of neutrophils in clinical trials. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, *23*(3), 200–207. http://doi.org/10.1016/J.SEMCANCER.2013.02.001
- Drake, C. G., Jaffee, E., & Pardoll, D. M. (2006). Mechanisms of Immune Evasion by Tumors. *Advances in Immunology*, *90*(1), 51–81. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2776(06)90002-9
- Dranoff, G. (2004). Cytokines in cancer pathogenesis and cancer therapy. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 4(January). http://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1252
- Du, B., Jiang, Q.-L., Cleveland, J., Liu, B.-R., & Zhang, D. (2016). Targeting Toll-like receptors against cancer. *Journal of Cancer Metastasis and Treatment*, 2(12), 463. http://doi.org/10.20517/2394-4722.2016.62
- Du Four, S., Maenhout, S. K., Niclou, S. P., Thielemans, K., Neyns, B., & Aerts, J. L. (2016). Combined VEGFR and CTLA-4 blockade increases the antigenpresenting function of intratumoral DCs and reduces the suppressive capacity of intratumoral MDSCs. *American Journal of Cancer Research*, 6(11), 2514–2531.

- Duluc, D., Corvaisier, M., Blanchard, S., Catala, L., Descamps, P., Gamelin, E., ... Jeannin, P. (2009). Interferon-γ reverses the immunosuppressive and protumoral properties and prevents the generation of human tumorassociated macrophages. *International Journal of Cancer*, *125*(2), 367–373. http://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.24401
- Duluc, D., Delneste, Y., Tan, F., Moles, M., Grimaud, L., Lenoir, J., ... Hebbar, M. (2007). Tumor-associated leukemia inhibitory factor and IL-6 skew monocyte differentiation into tumor-associated-macrophage-like cells. *Blood*, *110*(13), 4319–4331. http://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2007-02-072587
- Dumitru, C. A., Moses, K., Trellakis, S., Lang, S., & Brandau, S. (2012). Neutrophils and granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells: Immunophenotyping, cell biology and clinical relevance in human oncology. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, 61(8), 1155–1167. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-012-1294-5
- Dunn, G. P., Bruce, A. T., Ikeda, H., Old, L. J., & Schreiber, R. D. (2002). Cancer immunoediting: From immunosurveillance to tumor escape. *Nature Immunology*, 3(11), 991–998. http://doi.org/10.1038/ni1102-991
- Dunn, G. P., Old, L. J., & Schreiber, R. D. (2004). The Three Es of Cancer Immunoediting, (4). http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.22.012703.104803
- Duque, G. A., & Descoteaux, A. (2014). Macrophage cytokines : involvement in immunity and infectious diseases, *5*(October), 1–12. http://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00491
- Edwards, S. W. (1994). The development and structure of mature neutrophils. Em *Biochemistry and Physiology of the Neutrophil* (pp. 33–76). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. http://doi.org/10.1017/CB09780511608421.003
- Elaraj, D. M., Weinreich, D. M., Varghese, S., Puhlmann, M., Hewitt, S. M., Carroll, N. M., ... Alexander, H. R. (2006). The role of interleukin 1 in growth and metastasis of human cancer xenografts. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 12(4), 1088–1096. http://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-1603
- Elves, P. J., Roitt, I. M., Mackay, I. R., & Rosen, F. S. (2000). The Immune System. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 343(1), 37-49.

http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM200007063430107

- Ernst, P. B., & Gold, B. D. (2000). The disease spectrum of Helicobacter pylori: The Immunopathogenesis of Gastroduodenal Ulcer and Gastric Cancer. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.*, *54*, 615–40.
- Eubank, T. D., Roberts, R. D., Khan, M., Curry, J. M., Gerard, J., Kuppusamy, P., & Marsh, C. B. (2009). GM-CSF inhibits breast cancer growth and metastasis by invoking an anti-angiogenic program in tumor-educated macrophages. *Cancer Research*, 69(5), 2133–2140. http://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1405.
- Ferlay, J., Soerjomataram, I., Dikshit, R., Eser, S., Mathers, C., Rebelo, M., ... Bray, F. (2015). Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: Sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. *International Journal of Cancer*, 136(5), E359–E386. http://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.29210
- Finkernagel, F., Reinartz, S., Lieber, S., Adhikary, T., Wortmann, A., Hoffmann, N., ... Müller, R. (2016). The transcriptional signature of human ovarian carcinoma macrophages is associated with extracellular matrix reorganization. *Oncotarget*, 7(46). http://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.12180
- Forssell, J., Öberg, Å., Henriksson, M. L., Stenling, R., Jung, A., & Palmqvist, R. (2007). High macrophage infiltration along the tumor front correlates with improved survival in colon cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 13(5), 1472– 1479. http://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2073
- Fossati, G., Ricevuti, G., Edwards, S. W., Walker, C., Dalton, A., & Rossi, M. L. (1999). Neutrophil infiltration into human gliomas. *Acta neuropathologica*, 98(4), 349–54. Obtido de http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10502039
- French, R.R., Chan, H.T., Tutt, A.L., Glennie, M.J. (1999). CD40 antibody evokes a cytotoxic T-cell response that eradicates lymphoma and bypasses T-cell help. *Nat Med*, 5(5), 548–553
- Fridlender, Z. G., Sun, J., Kim, S., Kapoor, V., Cheng, G., Ling, L., ... Albelda, S. M. (2009). Polarization of Tumor-Associated Neutrophil Phenotype by TGF-b:
  "N1" versus "N2" TAN. *Cancer Cell*, 16(3), 183–194. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2009.06.017

Gabrilovich, D. I., Ostrand-rosenberg, S., & Bronte, V. (2012). Coordinated

regulation of myeloid cells by tumours. *Nature Publishing Group*, *12*(4), 253–268. http://doi.org/10.1038/nri3175

- Gallagher, N.J., Eliopoulos, A.G., Agathangelo, A., Oates, J., Crocker, J., Young, L.S. (2002). CD40 activation in epithelial ovarian carcinoma cells modulates growth, apoptosis, and cytokine secretion. *Mol Pathol*, 55(2), 110–120
- Galli, S. J., Borregaard, N., & Wynn, T. A. (2011). Phenotypic and functional plasticity of cells of innate immunity: Macrophages, mast cells and neutrophils. *Nature Immunology*, 12(11), 1035–1044. http://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2109
- Garg, A. D., Krysko, D. V, Golab, J., Vandenabeele, P., & Agostinis, P. (2012). Contribution od ER Stress to Immunogenic Cancer Cell Death, (August). http://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-4351-9
- Gennari, R., Menard, S., Fagnoni, F., Ponchio, L., Scelsi, M., Tagliabue, E., ...
  Zambelli, A. (2004). Pilot Study of the Mechanism of Action of Preoperative Trastuzumab in Patients with Primary Operable Breast Tumors Overexpressing HER2. *Clinical*, 10, 5650–5655. http://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0225
- Gentles, A. J., Newman, A. M., Liu, C. L., Bratman, S. V, Feng, W., Kim, D., ... Alizadeh, A. A. (2015). The prognostic landscape of genes and infiltrating immune cells across human cancers. *Nature Medicine*, 21(8), 1–12. http://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3909
- Ghiringhelli, F., Apetoh, L., Tesniere, A., Aymeric, L., Ma, Y., Ortiz, C., ... Lidereau, R. (2009). Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in dendritic cells induces IL-1  $\beta$  dependent adaptive immunity against tumors, *15*(10), 1170–1179. http://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2028
- Gilfillan, C. B., Kuhn, S., Baey, C., Hyde, E. J., Yang, J., Ruedl, C., & Ronchese, F. (2018). Clec9A + Dendritic Cells Are Not Essential for Antitumor CD8 + T Cell Responses Induced by Poly I:C Immunotherapy. *The Journal of Immunology*. http://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1701593
- Ginhoux, F., & Guilliams, M. (2016). Tissue-Resident Macrophage Ontogeny and Homeostasis. *Immunity*, 44(3), 439–449. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.024
- Gong, J., Chehrazi-Raffle, A., Reddi, S., & Salgia, R. (2018). Development of PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors as a form of cancer immunotherapy: A comprehensive

review of registration trials and future considerations. *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer*, 6(1), 1–18. http://doi.org/10.1186/s40425-018-0316-z

- Gordon, S. (2003). Alternative activation of macrophages. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, *3*(1), 23–35. http://doi.org/10.1038/nri978
- Gordon, S., & Martinez, F. O. (2010). Alternative activation of macrophages: Mechanism and functions. *Immunity*, *32*(5), 593–604. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2010.05.007
- Gordon, S., & Taylor, P. R. (2005). Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 5(December), 953–964. http://doi.org/10.1038/nri1733
- Gouon-Evans, V., Lin, E. Y., & Pollard, J. W. (2002). Requirement of macrophages and eosinophils and their cytokines/chemokines for mammary gland development. *Breast Cancer Research*, 4(4), 155–164. http://doi.org/10.1186/bcr441
- Gregory, A. D., & Houghton, A. M. (2011). Tumor-associated neutrophils: New targets for cancer therapy. *Cancer Research*, 71(7), 2411–2416. http://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2583
- Green, D.S., Bodman-Smith, M.D., Dalgleish, A.G., & Fischer, M.D. (2007). Topical imiquimod and intralesional interleukin-2 increase activated lymphocytes and restore the Th1/Th2 balance in patients with metastatic melanoma. *Br J Dermatol*, 159(3), 606–14 http://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2008.08709.x.
- Green, D.S., Dalgleish, A.G., Belonwu, N., Fisher, M.D., & Bodman-Smith M.D (2008). Phase I/II study of topical imiquimod and intralesional interleukin-2 in the treatment of accessible metastases in malignant melanoma. *Br J Dermatol*, 156(2), 337–345.
- Grivennikov, S. I., Greten, F. R., & Karin, M. (2011). Immunity, Inflammation, and Cancer. *Cell*, *140*(6), 883–899. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.025.
- Guerriero, J. L. (2018). Macrophages: The Road Less Traveled, Changing Anticancer Therapy. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, *24*(5), 472–489. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2018.03.006

- Guiducci, C., Vicari, A. P., Sangaletti, S., Trinchieri, G., & Colombo, M. P. (2005). Redirecting In vivo Elicited Tumor Infiltrating Macrophages and Dendritic Cells towards Tumor Rejection, *Cancer Reseatch*, 65(8), 3437–3446. http://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-4262
- Gutterman, J. U., Cardenas, J. O., Blumenschein, G. R., Hortobagyi, G., Burgess, M. A., Livingston, R. B., Mavligit, G. M., Freireich, E. J., Gottlieb, J. A., ... Hersh, E. M. (1976). Chemoimmunotherapy of advanced breast cancer: prolongation of remission and survival with BCG. *British medical journal*, *2*(6046), 1222-5.
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. *Cell*, *144*(5), 646–674. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Hassan, S.B., Sorensen, J.F., Olsen, B.N., Pedersen, A.E., (2014). Anti-CD40mediated cancer immunotherapy: an update of recent and ongoing clinical trials. *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol*, 36(2), 96-104. http://doi.org/ 10.3109/08923973.2014.890626
- Hayday, A. C. (2009). gd T Cells and the Lymphoid Stress-Surveillance Response. *Immunity*. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2009.08.006
- Herbeuval, J. P., Lambert, C., Sabido, O., Cottier, M., Fournel, P., Dy, M., & Genin, C. (2003). Macrophages from cancer patients: Analysis of TRAIL, TRAIL receptors, and colon tumor cell apoptosis. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 95(8), 611–621. http://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/95.8.611
- Highfill, S. L., Cui, Y., Giles, A. J., Smith, J. P., Zhang, H., Morse, E., ... Mackall, C. L. (2014). Disruption of CXCR2-mediated MDSC tumor trafficking enhances anti-PD1 efficacy. *Science Translational Medicine*, 6(237). http://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3007974
- Hinrichs, C. S., & Rosenberg, S. A. (2014). Exploiting the curative potential of adoptive T-cell therapy for cancer. *Immunol Rev*, 257(1), 56–71. http://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12132.
- Hodi, F. S., Day, S. J. O., Mcdermott, D. F., Weber, R. W., Sosman, J. A., Haanen, J. B.,
  ... Quirt, I. (2010). Improved Surival with Ipilimumab in Patients with Metastatic Melanoma. *N Engl J Med*, 363(8), 711–723. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1003466.

Hodi, F. S., Lawrence, D., Lezcano, C., Wu, X., Zhou, J., Sasada, T., ... Mcdermott, D. 76

(2014). Bevacizumab plus Ipilimumab in Patients with Metastatic Melanoma. *Cancer Immunol Res, 2*(7), 632–642. http://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0053

- Hollstein, M., Sidransky, D., Vogelstein, B., & Curtis, C. (1991). p53 Mutations in Human Cancers. *Science*, *253*(5050), 49–53.
- Hoves, S., Ooi, C. H., Wolter, C., Sade, H., Bissinger, S., Schmittnaegel, M., Ast, O., Giusti, A. M., Wartha, K., Runza, V., Xu, W., Kienast, Y., Cannarile, M. A., Levitsky, H., Romagnoli, S., De Palma, M., Rüttinger, D., ... Ries, C. H. (2018). Rapid activation of tumor-associated macrophages boosts preexisting tumor immunity. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, *215*(3), 859-876. http://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20171440
- Huang, Z., Zhang, Z., Jiang, Y., Zhang, D., Chen, J., Dong, L., & Zhang, J. (2012). Targeted delivery of oligonucleotides into tumor-associated macrophages for cancer immunotherapy. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 158(2), 286–292. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.11.013
- Iida, Y., Harashima, N., Motoshima, T., Komohara, Y., Eto, M., & Harada, M. (2017). Contrasting effects of cyclophosphamide on anti-CTL-associated protein 4 blockade therapy in two mouse tumor models. *Cancer Science*, 108(10), 1974–1984. http://doi.org/10.1111/cas.13337
- Ishigami, S., Natsugoe, S., Tokuda, K., Nakajo, A., Che, X., Iwashige, H., ... Aikou, T. (2000). Prognostic value of intratumoral natural killer cells in gastric carcinoma. *Cancer*, 88(3), 577–583.
- Jablonska, J., Leschner, S., Westphal, K., Lienenklaus, S., & Weiss, S. (2010). Neutrophils responsive to endogenous IFN- β regulate tumor angiogenesis and growth in a mouse tumor model, *120*(4). http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI37223.
- Jenkins, R. W., Barbie, D. A., & Flaherty, K. T. (2018). Mechanisms of resistance to immune checkpoint inhibitors. *British Journal of Cancer*, 118(1), 9–16. http://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2017.434
- Jensen, H. K., Donskov, F., Marcussen, N., Nordsmark, M., Lundbeck, F., & Von Der Maase, H. (2009). Presence of intratumoral neutrophils is an independent prognostic factor in localized renal cell carcinoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 27(28), 4709–4717. http://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2008.18.9498

- Jia, L. Y., Shanmugam, M. K., Sethi, G., & Bishayee, A. (2016). Potential role of targeted therapies in the treatment of triple-negative breast cancer. *Anti-Cancer* Drugs, 27(3), 147–155. http://doi.org/10.1097/CAD.0000000000328
- Johansson, A., Hamzah, J., Payne, C. J., & Ganss, R. (2012). Tumor-targeted TNF stabilizes tumor vessels and enhances active immunotherapy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(20), 7841–7846. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1118296109
- Johnson, L. A., Morgan, R. A., Dudley, M. E., Cassard, L., Yang, J. C., Hughes, M. S., ... Rosenberg, S. A. (2009). Gene therapy with human and mouse T-cell receptors mediates cancer regression and targets normal tissues expressing cognate antigen. *Blood*, 114(3), 535–546. http://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-03-211714
- Kaczanowska, S., Joseph, A. M., & Davila, E. (2013). TLR agonists : our best frenemy in cancer immunotherapy, 93(June). http://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.1012501
- Kaiko, G. E., Horvat, J. C., Beagley, K. W., & Hansbro, P. M. (2007). Immunological decision-making: How does the immune system decide to mount a helper Tcell response? *Immunology*, *123*, 326–338. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02719.x
- Kamran, N., Kadiyala, P., & Castro, M. G. (2017). Immunosuppressive Myeloid Cells' Blockade in the Glioma Microenvironment Enhances the Efficacy of Immune-Stimulatory Gene Therapy. *Molecular Therapy*, 25(1), 232–248. http://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymthe.2016.10.003
- Kantoff, P. W., Higano, C. S., Shore, N. d., Berger, R., Small, E. J., Penson, D. F., ... Schellhammer, P. F. (2010). Sipuleucel-T Immunotherapy for Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 367, 1387– 1396. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1203039
- Kato, D., Yaguchi, T., Iwata, T., Morii, K., Nakagawa, T., Nishimura, R., & Kawakami, Y. (2017). Prospects for personalized combination immunotherapy for solid tumors based on adoptive cell therapies and immune checkpoint blockade therapies 69. *Jpn. J. Clin. Immunol.*, 68–77. From https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/article/jsci/40/1/40\_68/\_pdf

Kawai, T., & Akira, S. (2011). Toll-like Receptors and Their Crosstalk with Other

Innate Receptors in Infection and Immunity. *Immunity*, *34*(5), 637–650. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2011.05.006

- Kim, Y. H., Choi, B. K., Kim, K. H., Kang, S. W., & Kwon, B. S. (2008). Combination Therapy with Cisplatin and Anti-4-1BB. *Cancer Research*, 68(18), 7264– 7269. http://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-1365.
- Klimp, A. H., de Vries, E. G. E., Scherphof, G. L., & Daemen, T. (2002). A potential role of macrophage activation in the treatment of cancer. *Critical reviews in oncology/hematology*, 44(2), 143–61. http://doi.org/10.1016/S1040-8428(01)00203-7
- Klug, F., Prakash, H., Huber, P. E., Seibel, T., Bender, N., Halama, N., ... Scha, K. (2013). Low-Dose Irradiation Programs Macrophage Differentiation to an iNOS + / M1 Phenotype that Orchestrates Effective T Cell Immunotherapy. *Cancer Cell*, 24, 589–602. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2013.09.014
- Knight, D. A., Ngiow, S. F., Li, M., Parmenter, T., Mok, S., Cass, A., ... Smyth, M. J. (2013). Host immunity contributes to the anti- melanoma activity of BRAF inhibitors. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 123(3), 1371–1381. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI66236DS1
- Kobold, S., Wiedemann, G., Rothenfußer, S. & Endres, S. (2014). Modes of action of TLR7 agonists in cancer therapy. *Immunotherapy*, 6(10), 1085–1095. http://doi.org/10.2217/imt.14.75.
- Kochenderfer, J. N., Wilson, W. H., Janik, J. E., Dudley, M. E., & Stetler-stevenson, M. (2010). Eradication of B-lineage cells and regression of lymphoma in a patient treated with autologous T cells genetically engineered to recognize, *116*(20), 4099–4102. http://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2010-04-281931
- Kratochvill, F., Neale, G., Haverkamp, M., Dyer, M. A., Qualls, J. E., Murray, P. J., ...
  Smith, A. M. (2015). TNF Counterbalances the Emergence of M2 Tumor
  Macrophages. *CellReports*, 12(11), 1902–1914.
  http://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.08.033
- Kroemer, G., Galluzzi, L., Kepp, O., & Zitvogel, L. (2013). Immunogenic Cell Death in Cancer Therapy. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 31(1), 51–72. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-100008
- Kroschinsky, F., Stölzel, F., von Bonin, S., Beutel, G., Kochanek, M., Kiehl, M., & Schellongowski, P. (2017). New drugs, new toxicities: Severe side effects of modern targeted and immunotherapy of cancer and their management.

Critical Care. http://doi.org/10.1186/s13054-017-1678-1

- Kuan, E. L., & Ziegler, S. F. (2018). A tumor–myeloid cell axis, mediated via the cytokines IL-1α and TSLP, promotes the progression of breast cancer. *Nature Immunology*. http://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-018-0152-9
- Kubo, H., Mensurado, S., Gonçalves-Sousa, N., Serre, K., & Silva-Santos, B. (2017).
  Primary Tumors Limit Metastasis Formation through Induction of IL15-Mediated Cross-Talk between Patrolling Monocytes and NK Cells. *Cancer Immunology Research*, 5(September), 812–821. http://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0082
- Kulkarni, A., Chandrasekar, V., Natarajan, S. K., Ramesh, A., Pandey, P., Nirgud, J., ... Sengupta, S. (2018). A designer self-assembled supramolecule amplifies macrophage immune responses against aggressive cancer. *Nature Biomedical Engineering*, 1. http://doi.org/10.1038/s41551-018-0254-6
- Kuper, H., Adami, H. O., & Trichopoulos, D. (2000). Infections as a major preventable cause of human cancer. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 248(3), 171–183. http://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2796.2000.00742.x.
- Kwon, E. D., Foster, B. A., Hurwitz, A. A., Madias, C., Allison, J. P., Greenberg, N. M., & Burg, M. B. (1999). Elimination of residual metastatic prostate cancer after surgery and adjunctive cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) blockade immunotherapy. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(26), 15074–9. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.26.15074
- Lança, T., & Silva-santos, B. (2012). The split nature of tumor-infiltrating leukocytes Implications for cancer surveillance and immunotherapy. *OncoImmunology*, *1*(5), 717–725.
- Lazzari, C., Karachaliou, N., Bulotta, A., Viganó, M., Mirable, A., Brioschi, E., ... Gregorg, V. (2018). Combination of immunotherapy with chemotherapy and radiotherapy in lung cancer: is this the begining of the end for cancer. *Therapeutic Advances in Medical Oncology*, 10, 1–12. http://doi.org/10.1177/1758835918762094.
- Lewis, A. M., Varghese, S., Xu, H., & Alexander, H. R. (2006). Interleukin-1 and cancer progression: the emerging role of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist as a novel therapeutic agent in cancer treatment. *J Transl Med*, *4*, 48. http://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5876-4-48

- Li, K., Qu, S., Chen, X., Wu, Q., & Shi, M. (2017). Promising targets for cancer immunotherapy: TLRs, RLRs, and STING-mediated innate immune pathways. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 18(2). http://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18020404
- Li, L., Zhao, G. D., Shi, Z., Qi, L. L., Zhou, L. Y., & Fu, Z. X. (2016). The Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK signaling pathway and its role in the occurrence and development of HCC (Review). *Oncology Letters*, *12*(5), 3045–3050. http://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2016.5110
- Li, M., Knight, D. A., A Snyder, L., Smyth, M. J., & Stewart, T. J. (2013). A role for CCL2 in both tumor progression and immunosurveillance. *Oncoimmunology*, 2(7), e25474. http://doi.org/10.4161/onci.25474.
- Lin, E. Y., Nguyen, A. V., Russell, R. G., & Pollard, J. W. (2001). Colony-stimulating factor 1 promotes progression of mammary tumors to malignancy. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, *193*(6), 727-40.
- Linardou, H., & Gogas, H. (2016). Toxicity management of immunotherapy for patients with metastatic melanoma. *Annals of Translational Medicine*, 4(14), 272–272. http://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2016.07.10
- Linde, N., Casanova-Acebes, M., Sosa, M. S., Mortha, A., Rahman, A., Farias, E., ... Aguirre-Ghiso, J. A. (2018). Macrophages orchestrate breast cancer early dissemination and metastasis. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 1–14. http://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-02481-5
- Linde, N., Lederle, W., Depner, S., Rooijen, N. Van, Gutschalk, C. M., Mueller, M. M., & van Rooijen, N. (2012). Vascular endothelial growth factor-induced skin carcinogenesis depends on recruitment and alternative activation of macrophages. *The Journal of pathology*, 227(1), 17–28. http://doi.org/10.1002/path.3989
- Liu, Y., & Cao, X. (2015). The origin and function of tumor-associated macrophages. *Cellular and Molecular Immunology*, *12*(1), 1–4. http://doi.org/10.1038/cmi.2014.83
- Loeb, L. A., Loeb, K. R., & Anderson, J. P. (2003). Multiple mutations and cancer. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 100(3), 776–81. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0334858100
- Loi, S., Sirtaine, N., Piette, F., Salgado, R., Viale, G., Van Eenoo, F., ... Sotiriou, C. 81

(2013). Prognostic and predictive value of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in a phase III randomized adjuvant breast cancer trial in node-positive breast cancer comparing the addition of docetaxel to doxorubicin with doxorubicin-based chemotherapy: BIG 02-98. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *31*(7), 860–867. http://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2011.41.0902

- Lu, X., Horner, J. W., Paul, E., Shang, X., Troncoso, P., Deng, P., ... DePinho, R. A. (2017). Effective Combinatorial Immunotherapy for Castration Resistant Prostate Cancer. *Nature*, 543(7647), 728-732. http://doi.org/10.1038/nature21676.
- MacKie, R. M., Reid, R., & Junor, B. (2003). Fatal Melanoma Transferred in a Donated Kidney 16 Years after Melanoma Surgery. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 348(6), 567–568. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM200302063480620
- MacMicking, J., Xie, Q., & Nathan, C. (1997). Nitric Oxide and Macrophage Function. *Annual Review of Immunology*, *15*(1), 323–350. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.15.1.323
- Madan, R. a, Arlen, P. M., Mohebtash, M., Hodge, J. W., & Gulley, J. L. (2009). Prostvac-VF: a vector-based vaccine targeting PSA in prostate cancer. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs*, 18(7), 1001–1011. http://doi.org/10.1517/13543780902997928.
- Mahoney, K. M., Rennert, P. D., & Freeman, G. J. (2015). Combination cancer immunotherapy and new immunomodulatory targets. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4591
- Mak, I. W. Y., Evaniew, N., & Ghert, M. (2014). Lost in translation: Animal models and clinical trials in cancer treatment. *American Journal of Translational Research*, 6(2), 114–118. http://doi.org/1943-8141/AJTR1312010
- Mantovani, A. (2009). The Yin-Yang of Tumor-Associated Neutrophils. *Cancer Cell*, *16*(3), 173–174. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2009.08.014
- Mantovani, A., Allavena, P., Sica, A., & Balkwill, F. (2008). Cancer-related inflammation. *Nature*, 454, 436–444. http://doi.org/10.1038/nature07205
- Mantovani, A., Cassatella, M. A., & Costantini, C. (2011). Neutrophils in the activation and regulation of innate and adaptive immunity. *Nature Publishing Group*, *11*(8), 519–531. http://doi.org/10.1038/nri3024

- Mantovani, A., Marchesi, F., Malesci, A., & Laghi, L. (2017). Tumor-Associated Macrophages as Treatment Targets in Oncology. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol*, *14*(7), 399–416. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2016.217.
- Mantovani, A., Marchesi, F., Porta, C., Sica, A., & Allavena, P. (2007). Inflammation and cancer: Breast cancer as a prototype. *The Breast*, *16*, 27–33. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.breast.2007.07.013
- Mantovani, A., Sica, A., Sozzani, S., Allavena, P., Vecchi, A., & Locati, M. (2004). The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends in Immunology*, *25*(12), 677–686. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2004.09.015
- Mantovani, A., Sozzani, S., Locati, M., Allavena, P., & Sica, A. (2002). Macrophage polarization: tumor-associated macrophages as a paradigm for polarized M2 mononuclear phagocytes. *TRENDS in Immunology*, *23*(11), 549–555.
- Marin-Acevedo, J. A., Dholaria, B., Soyano, A. E., Knutson, K. L., Chumsri, S., & Lou, Y. (2018). Next generation of immune checkpoint therapy in cancer: new developments and challenges. *Journal of Hematology & Oncology*, 11(1), 39. http://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-018-0582-8
- Martinez, F. O., & Gordon, S. (2014). The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. *F1000Prime Reports*, 6(March), 1–13. http://doi.org/10.12703/P6-13
- Masuda, H., Baggerly, K. A., Wang, Y., Zhang, Y., Gonzalez-Angulo, A. M., Meric-Bernstam, F., ... Ueno, N. T. (2013). Differential response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy among 7 triple-negative breast cancer molecular subtypes. *Clinical cancer research*, 19(19), 5533–40. http://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0799
- Medzhitov, R., & Janeway, C. A. (2002). Decoding the patterns of self and nonself by the innate immune system. *Science*, *296*(5566), 298–300. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1068883
- Melero, I., Berman, D. M., Aznar, M. A., Korman, A. J., Gracia, J. L. P., & Haanen, J. (2015). Evolving synergistic combinations of targeted immunotherapies to combat cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 15(8), 457–472. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3973

Mensurado, S., Rei, M., Lança, T., Ioannou, M., Gonçalves-Sousa, N., Kubo, H., ...

Silva-Santos, B. (2018). Tumor-associated neutrophils suppress protumoral IL-17+  $\gamma\delta$  T cells through induction of oxidative stress. *PLoS Biology*, *16*(5), 1–21. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2004990

- Menzies, S., Mc Menamin, M. & Barry, R. (2017). Lentigo maligna successfully treated with combination therapy of topical tazarotene and imiquimod. *Clin. Exp. Dermatol.* 149 Suppl 66:66-70.
- Mesri, E. A., Cesarman, E., Arvanitakis, L., Rafii, S., Moore, M. A. S., Posnett, D. N.,
  ... Asch, A. S. (1996). Human Herpesvirus-8/Kaposi's Sarcoma-associated
  Herpesvirus Is a New Transmissible Virus That Infects B Cells. *The Journal* of *Experimental Medicine*, 183, 2385–2390.
  http://doi.org/10.1084/jem.173.4.1021

Metchnikoff, É. (1892). Leçons Sur La Pathologie Comparée de L'inflammation.

- Mishalian, I., Bayuh, R., Eruslanov, E., Michaeli, J., Levy, L., Zolotarov, L., ... Fridlender, Z. G. (2014). Neutrophils recruit regulatory T-cells into tumors via secretion of CCL17 — A new mechanism of impaired antitumor immunity. *International Journal of Cancer*, 135, 1178–1186. http://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.28770
- Mishalian, I., Bayuh, R., Levy, L., Zolotarov, L., Michaeli, J., & Fridlender, Z. G. (2013). Tumor-associated neutrophils (TAN) develop pro-tumorigenic properties during tumor progression. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*, 62, 1745–1756. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-013-1476-9
- Mittendorf, E. A., Holmes, J. P., Ponniah, S., & Peoples, G. E. (2008). The E75 HER2/neu peptide vaccine. *Cancer Immunology, Immunotherapy*, *57*(10), 1511–1521. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-008-0540-3
- Mócsai, A. (2013). Diverse novel functions of neutrophils in immunity, inflammation, and beyond. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *210*(7), 1283–1299. http://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20122220
- Morgan, R. A., Chinnasamy, N., Abate-daga, D. D., Gros, A., Robbins, F., Zheng, Z., ... Rosenberg, S. A. (2013). Cancer regression and neurologic toxicity following anti-MAGE- A3 TCR gene therapy. *J Immmunotherapy*, *36*(2), 133–151. http://doi.org/10.1097/CJI.0b013e3182829903.
- Morgan, R. A., Dudley, M. E., Wunderlich, J. R., Hughes, M. S., Yang, J. C., Sherry, R.
  M., ... Rosenberg, S. A. (2006). Cancer Regression in Patients After Transfer of Genetically Engineered Lymphocytes. *Science*, *314*(5796), 126–129.

http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1129003.

- Morton, D. L., Eilber, F. R., Holmes, E. C., Hunt, J. S., Ketcham, A. S., Silverstein, M. J., & Sparks, F. C. (1974). BCG immunotherapy of malignant melanoma: summary of a seven-year experience. *Annals of surgery*, *180*(4), 635-43.
- Morton, D. L., Mozzillo, N., Thompson, J. F., Kelley, M.C., Faries, M., Wagner, J., Schneebaum, S., Schuchter, L., Gammon, G., Elashoff, R. (2007). *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 25:18\_suppl, 8508-8508
- Mosser, D. M., & Edwards, J. P. (2008). Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. *Nature Publishing Group*, 8(12), 958–969. http://doi.org/10.1038/nri2448
- Murray, P. J., & Wynn, T. A. (2011). Obstacles and opportunities for understanding macrophage polarization. *Jounal of Leukocyte Biology*, 21–23.
- Murria, R., Palanca, S., de Juan, I., Alenda, C., Egoavil, C., Seguí, F. J., ... Bolufer, P. (2015). Immunohistochemical, genetic and epigenetic profiles of hereditary and triple negative breast cancers. Relevance in personalized medicine. *American Journal of Cancer Research*, 5(7), 2330–2343.
- Nahrendorf, M., Swirski, F. K., Aikawa, E., Stangenberg, L., Wurdinger, T., Figueiredo, J.-L., ... Pittet, M. J. (2007). The healing myocardium sequentially mobilizes two monocyte subsets with divergent and complementary functions. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 204(12), 3037–3047. http://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20070885
- Nardin, A., & Abastado, J.-P. (2008). Macrophages and cancer. Frontiers in bioscience: a journal and virtual library, 13, 3494–3505. http://doi.org/10.2741/2944
- Nathan, C. (2006). Neutrophils and immunity: Challenges and opportunities. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 6(3), 173–182. http://doi.org/10.1038/nri1785
- Nathan, C. F. (1987). Secretory products of macrophages. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 79(February), 319–326. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI112815
- Neubert, N. J., Schmittnaegel, M., Bordry, N., Nassiri, S., Wald, N., Martignier, C., ...
   Speiser, D. E. (2018). T cell-induced CSF1 promotes melanoma resistance to
   PD1 blockade. *Science Translational Medicine*, 10(436).

http://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aan3311

- Newcomb, E. W., Lukyanov, Y., Kawashima, N., Alonso-Basanta, M., Wang, S.-C., Liu, M., ... Formenti, S. C. (2010). Radiotherapy Enhances Antitumor Effect of Anti-CD137 Therapy in a Mouse Glioma Model. *Radiation Research*, 173(4), 426–432. http://doi.org/10.1667/RR1904.1
- Ngiow, S. F., Loi, S., Thomas, D., & Smyth, M. J. (2016). Mouse Models of Tumor Immunotherapy. *Advances in Immunology* (1.<sup>a</sup> ed., Vol. 130). Elsevier Inc. http://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ai.2015.12.004
- Nicholson, L. B. (2016). The immune system. *Essays in Biochemistry*, 275–301. http://doi.org/10.1042/EBC20160017
- Nowak, A.K., Robinson, B.W., & Lake, R.A. (2003). Synergy between chemotherapy and immunotherapy in the treatment of established murine solid tumors. *Cancer Res*, 63(15), 4490–4496
- Novak, A.K., Cook, A.M., McDonnell, A.M., Mollward, M.J., Creaney, J., Francis, R.J., Hasani, A., Segal, A., Musk, A.W., Turlach, B.A., McCoy, M.J., Robinson, B.W., & Lake, R.A. (2015). A phase 1b clinical trial of the CD40-activating antibody CP-870,893 in combination with cisplatin and pemetrexed in malignant pleural mesothelioma. *Ann. Oncol.*, *26*(12), 2483–2490. http://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdv387.
- Noy, R., & Pollard, J. W. (2014). Review Tumor-Associated Macrophages : From Mechanisms to Therapy. *Immunity*, 41(1), 49–61. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.010
- Nozawa, H., Chiu, C., & Hanahan, D. (2006). Infiltrating neutrophils mediate the initial angiogenic switch in a mouse model of multistage carcinogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(33), 12493–12498. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0601807103
- Nywening, T. M., Wang-Gillam, A., Sanford, D. E., Belt, B. A., Panni, R. Z., Cusworth, B. M., Toriola, A. T., Nieman, R. K., Worley, L. A., Yano, M., Fowler, K. J., Lockhart, A. C., Suresh, R., Tan, B. R., Lim, K. H., Fields, R. C., Strasberg, S. M., Hawkins, W. G., DeNardo, D. G., Goedegebuure, S. P., ... Linehan, D. C. (2016). Targeting tumour-associated macrophages with CCR2 inhibition in combination with FOLFIRINOX in patients with borderline resectable and locally advanced pancreatic cancer: a single-centre, open-label, dose-finding,

non-randomised, phase 1b trial. *The Lancet. Oncology*, *17*(5), 651-62. doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(16)00078-4

- Ogholikhan, S., & Schwarz, K. B. (2016). Hepatitis vaccines. *MDPI Vaccines*. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-7125(05)70485-5
- Ok, C. Y., Papathomas, T. G., Medeiros, L. J., & Young, K. H. (2013). EBV-positive diffuse large B-cell lymphoma of the elderly. *Blood*, 122(3), 328–340. http://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2013-03-489708.
- Ono, M., Torisu, H., Fukushi, J., Nishie, A., & Kuwano, M. (1999). Biological implications of macrophage infiltration in human tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology*, 43 Suppl(September 1998), S69-71. http://doi.org/10.1007/s002800051101
- Pekarek, B. L. A., Starr, B. A., Toledano, A. Y., & Schreiber, H. (1995). Inhibition of Tumor Growth by Elimination of Granulocytes, *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 181(1), 435-440.
- Peng, W., Lizée, G., & Hwu, P. (2013). Blockade of the PD-1 pathway enhances the efficacy of adoptive cell therapy against cancer. *Oncoimmunology*. http://doi.org/10.4161/onci.22691
- Perry, C. J., Muñoz-Rojas, A. R., Meeth, K. M., Kellman, L. N., Amezquita, R. A., Thakral, D., Du, V. Y., Wang, J. X., Damsky, W., Kuhlmann, A. L., Sher, J. W., Bosenberg, M., Miller-Jensen, K., ... Kaech, S. M. (2018). Myeloid-targeted immunotherapies act in synergy to induce inflammation and antitumor immunity. *The Journal of experimental medicine*, 215(3), 877-893. http://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20171435
- Peto, J. (2001). Cancer epidemiology in the last century and the next decade. *Nature*, *411*(6835), 390–395. http://doi.org/10.1038/35077256
- Pienta K.J., Machiels J.P., Schrijvers D., Alekseev B., Shkolnik M., Crabb S.J., Li S., Seetharam S., Puchalski T.A., Takimoto C., Elsayed Y., Dawkins F., de Bono, J.S. (2013). Phase 2 study of carlumab (CNTO 888), a human monoclonal antibody against CC-chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2), in metastatic castrationresistant prostate cancer. *Invest New Drugs.* 31(3):760-8. doi: 10.1007/s10637-012-9869-8
- Piccard, H., Muschel, R. J., & Opdenakker, G. (2012). On the dual roles and polarized phenotypes of neutrophils in tumor development and

progression. *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*, *82*(3), 296–309. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2011.06.004

- Pinto, M. (2017). Characterization of anti-tumour myeloid cells in an orthotopic mouse model of mammary adenocarcinoma. Tese de Mestrado em Oncologia. Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas Abel Salazar da Universidade do Porto.
- Pitrak, D. L. (1997). Effects of granulocyte-stimulating factor and granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor on the bacteria functions of neutrophils. *Current Opinion in Hematology*, 183–190.
- Powles, R. L., Russell, J., Lister, T. A., Oliver, T., Whitehouse, J. M., Malpas, J., Chapuis, B., Crowther, D., ... Alexander, P. (1977). Immunotherapy for acute myelogenous leukaemia: a controlled clinical study 2 1/2 years after entry of the last patient. *British journal of cancer*, 35(3), 265-72.
- Quian, B., & Pollard, J. (2010). Macrophage Diversity Enhances Tumor Progression and Metastasis. *Cell*, 141(1), 39–51. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.03.014.
- Rahat, M. A., & Hemmerlein, B. (2013). Macrophage-tumor cell interactions regulate the function of nitric oxide. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *4*, 144. http://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2013.00144.
- Ramknmilevich, A. L., Alderson, K. .L., & Sondel, P. M. (2012). T-cell independent antitumour effects of CD40 ligation. *International Reviews of Immunology*, 31(4), 267-278. http://doi.org/10.3109/08830185.2012.698337
- Ramos, C. A., & Dotti, G. (2011). Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-engineered lymphocytes for cancer therapy. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy*, 11(7), 855–873. http://doi.org/10.1517/14712598.2011.573476
- Reck, M., Bondarenko, I., Luft, A., Serwatowski, P., Barlesi., F., Chacko, R., ... Lynch, T. J. (2013). Ipilimumab in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin as first-line therapy in extensivedisease-small-cell lungcancer: Results from a randomized, double-blind, multicenter phase 2 trial. *Annals* of Oncology, 24(1), 75–83. http://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mds213
- Reid, M. D., Basturk, O., Thirabanjasak, D., Hruban, R. H., Klimstra, D. S., Bagci, P.,
   ... Adsay, V. (2011). Tumor-infiltrating neutrophils in pancreatic neoplasia.
   *Modern* Pathology, 24(12), 1612–1619.
   http://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2011.113
- Remer, M., White, A., Glennie, M., Al-Shamkhani, A., Johnson, P. (2017). The use of anti-CD40 mAb in cancer. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, 405:165-207. http://doi.org/ 10.1007/82\_2014\_427
- Restifo, N. P., Dudley, M. E., & Rosenberg, S. A. (2012). Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: harnessing the T cell response. *Nature Publishing Group*, 12(4), 269–281. http://doi.org/10.1038/nri3191
- Robbins, P. F., Morgan, R. A., Feldman, S. A., Yang, J. C., Sherry, R. M., Dudley, M. E., ... Rosenberg, S. A. (2011). Tumor regression in patients with metastatic synovial cell sarcoma and melanoma using genetically engineered lymphocytes reactive with NY-ESO-1. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 29(7), 917–924. http://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.32.2537
- Robert, C., Long, G. V., Brady, B., Dutriaux, C., Maio, M., Mortier, L., ... Ascierto, P.
  A. (2015). Nivolumab in Previously Untreated Melanoma without *BRAF* Mutation. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *372*(4), 320–330. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1412082
- Roda, J. M., Wang, Y., Sumner, L. A., Phillips, G. S., Marsh, C. B., & Eubank, T. D. (2012). Stabilization of HIF-2 Induces sVEGFR-1 Production from Tumor-Associated Macrophages and Decreases Tumor Growth in a Murine Melanoma Model. *The Journal of Immunology*, 189(6), 3168–3177. http://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1103817
- Roda, J., Sumner, L., Evans, R., Phillips, G., Marsh, G., & Eubank, T. (2012). HIF-2α regulates GM-CSF-derived sVEGFR-1 production from macrophages and inhibits tumor growth and angiogenesis1. *J Immunol.*, *187*(4), 1970–1976. http://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1100841.
- Rosenberg, S. A., Yang, J. C., Sherry, R. M., Kammula, U. S., Marybeth, S., Phan, G. Q., ... Dudley, M. E. (2011). Durable Complete Responses in Heavily Pretreated Patients with Metastatic Melanoma Using T Cell Transfer Immunotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res*, 17(13), 4550–4557. http://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0116.
- Ruffell, Brian; Affara, Nesrine & Coussens, L. (2012). Differential Macrophage Programming in the Tumor Microenvironment. *TRENDS in Immunology*, (3), 119–126. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2011.12.001

Ruffell, B., Chang-strachan, D., Chan, V., Rosenbusch, A., Ho, C. M. T., Pryer, N., ...

Coussens, L. M. (2014). Macrophage IL-10 blocks CD8+ T cell-dependent responses to chemotherapy by suppressing IL-12 expression in intratumoral dendritic cells. *Cancer Cell*, *26*(5), 623–637. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2014.09.006.

- Ruffell, B., & Coussens, L. M. (2015). Macrophages and therapeutic resistance in cancer. *Cancer Cell*, 27(4), 462–472. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2015.02.015
- Saavedra, D., Neninger, E., Rodriguez, C., Viada, C., Mazorra, Z., Lage, A., & Crombet, T. (2018). CIMAvax-EGF: Toward long-term survival of advanced NSCLC. Seminars in Oncology. http://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminoncol.2018.04.009
- Sabel, M.S., Yamada, M., Kawaguchi, Y., Chen, F.A., Takita, H., Bankert, R.B. (2000). CD40 expression on human lung cancer correlates with metastatic spread. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*, 49 (2), 101–108
- Sagiv-Barfi, I., Czerwinski, D. K., Levy, S., Alam, I. S., Mayer, A. T., Gambhir, S. S., & Levy, R. (2018). Eradication of spontaneous malignancy by local immunotherapy. *Science Translational Medicine*, 10(426). http://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aan4488
- Salgado, R., Denkert, C., Campbell, C., Savas, P., Nuciforo, P., Aura, C., ... Sherene, L. (2015). Tumor-Infiltrating Lymphocytes and Associations With Pathological Complete Response and Event-Free Survival in HER2-Positive Early-Stage Breast Cancer Treated With Lapatinib and Trastuzumab: A Secondary Analysis of the NeoALTTO Trial. *JAMA Oncology*, 1(4), 448–454. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-46720-7
- Sandhu, S.K., Papadopoulos, K., Fong, P.C., Patnaik, A., Messiou, C., Olmos, D., Wang, G., Tromp, B.J., Puchalski, T.A., Balkwill, F., Berns, B., Seetharam,S., de Bono, J.S., Tolcher, A.W. (2013). A first-in-human, first-in-class, phase I study of carlumab (CNTO 888), a human monoclonal antibody against CCchemokine ligand 2 in patients with solid tumors. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* 71(4):1041-50. doi: 10.1007/s00280-013-2099-8.
- Sanford, D.E., Belt B.A., Panni R.Z., Mayer A., Deshpande A.D., Carpenter D., Mitchem J.B., Plambeck-Suess S.M., Worley L.A., Goetz B.D., Wang-Gillam, A., Eberlein, T.J., Denardo D.G., Goedegebuure S.P., Linehan, D.C. (2013). Inflammatory monocyte mobilization decreases patient survival in pancreatic cancer: a role for targeting the CCL2/CCR2 axis. *Clin Cancer Res.* 19(13):3404-15. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0525.

- Sanmamed, M. F., Chester, C., Melero, I., & Kohrt, H. (2016). Defining the optimal murine models to investigate immune checkpoint blockers and their combination with other immunotherapies. *Annals of Oncology*, 27(7), 1190– 1198. http://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdw041
- Satoshi, O. Hiroyuki, I. Dhar, D. Toshiyuki, F. Shuhei, U. Mitsuo, T. Nobutaka, S. Masaki, I. Gen Ichiro, S. (2003). The degree of macrophage infiltration into the cancer cell Nest is a significant predictor of survival in gastric cancer patients. *Anticancer research*, 23(October 2015), 5015–5022.
- Schadendorf, D., Hodi, F. S., Robert, C., Weber, J. S., Margolin, K., Hamid, O., ...
  Wolchok, J. D. (2015). Pooled analysis of long-term survival data from phase
  II and phase III trials of ipilimumab in unresectable or metastatic
  melanoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 33(17), 1889–1894.
  http://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2014.56.2736
- Schmielau, J., & Finn, O. J. (2001). Activated Granulocytes and Granulocytederived Hydrogen Peroxide Are the Underlying Mechanism of Suppression of T-Cell Function in Advanced Cancer Patients Activated Granulocytes and Granulocyte-derived Hydrogen Peroxide Are the Underlying Mechanism of Su, 4756–4760.
- Schreiber, R. D., Old, L. J., & Smyth, M. J. (2011). Cancer Immunoediting: Integrating Immuniy's Roles in Cancer Suppression and Promotion. *Science*, *331*, 1565–1571. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1203486
- Shacter, E., & Weitzman, S. (2002). Chronic inflammation and cancer. *Diagnostic Imaging*, 1–16. From https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/9d02/ef26527a94dca89fded2600ac1934 feb85dc.pdf
- Sharpe, M., & Mount, N. (2015). Genetically modified T cells in cancer therapy: opportunities and challenges. *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, 8(4), 337–350. http://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.018036
- Shi, M., Chen, X., Ye, K., Yao, Y., & Li, Y. (2016). Application potential of toll-like receptors in cancer immunotherapy: Systematic review. *Medicine*, *95*(25). http://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000003951
- Shime, H., Matsumoto, M., Oshiumi, H., Tanaka, S., Nakane, A., & Iwakura, Y. (2012). Toll-like receptor 3 signaling converts tumor- supporting myeloid cells to tumoricidal effectors. *PNAS*, 109(6), 2066–2071.

http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1113099109

- Shojaei, F., Singh, M., Thompson, J. D., & Ferrara, N. (2008). Role of Bv8 in neutrophil-dependent angiogenesis in a transgenic model of cancer progression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(7), 2640– 2645. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0712185105
- Sica, A., & Mantovani, A. (2012). Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 122(3), 787–795. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI59643DS1
- Sindrilaru, A., Peters, T., Wieschalka, S., Baican, C., Baican, A., Peter, H., ... Scharffetter-kochanek, K. (2011). An unrestrained proinflammatory M1 macrophage population induced by iron impairs wound healing in humans and mice. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 121(3), 985–997. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI44490DS1
- Singletary, S. E. (2003). Rating the Risk Factors for Breast Cancer. Annals of Surgery, 237(4), 474–482. http://doi.org/10.1097/01.SLA.0000059969.64262.87
- Smith, D. A., Concling, P., Richards, D. A., Nermunaitis, J. J., Boyde, T. E., Mita, A. C., de La Bourdonnaye, G., Wages, D., Bexon, A. S. (2014). Antitumor activity and safety of combination therapy with the Toll-like receptor 9 agonist IMO-2055, erlotinib, and bevacizumab in advanced or metastatic non-small cell lung cancer patients who have progressed following chemotherapy. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* 63(8):787-96. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-014-1547-6.
- Smyth, M. J., Ngiow, S. F., Ribas, A., & Teng, M. W. L. (2015). Combination cancer immunotherapies. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, 1–16. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2015.209
- Solito, S., Marigo, I., Pinton, L., Damuzzo, V., Mandruzzato, S., & Bronte, V. (2014). Myeloid-derived suppressor cell heterogeneity in human cancers. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1319(1), 47–65. http://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12469
- Soto-Perez-de-Celis, E., Chavarri-Guerra, Y., Leon-Rodriguez, E., & Gamboa-Dominguez, A. (2017). Tumor-Associated Neutrophils in Breast Cancer Subtypes. Asian Pacific journal of cancer prevention : APJCP, 18(10), 2689– 2693. http://doi.org/10.22034/APJCP.2017.18.10.2689

- Stanley, M. (2007). Prophylactic HPV vaccines. *Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 961–965. http://doi.org/10.2298/A000904068M
- Steidl, C., Lee, T., Shah, S. P., Farinha, P., Han, G., Nayar, T., ... Gascoyne, R. D. (2010). Tumor-Associated Macrophages and survival in Classic Hodgkin's Lymphoma. *The New England journal of medicine*, 362(10). http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1411087
- Storr, S. J., Safuan, S., Mitra, A., Elliott, F., Walker, C., Vasko, M. J., ... Martin, S. G. (2012). Objective assessment of blood and lymphatic vessel invasion and association with macrophage infiltration in cutaneous melanoma. *Modern Pathology*, 25(4), 493–504. http://doi.org/10.1038/modpathol.2011.182
- Strachan, D. C., Ruffell, B., Oei, Y., Bissell, M. J., Coussens, L. M., Pryer, N., & Daniel, D. (2013). CSF1R inhibition delays cervical and mammary tumor growth in murine models by attenuating the turnover of tumor-associated macrophages and enhancing infiltration by CD8+T cells. *OncoImmunology*, 2(12), 1–12. http://doi.org/10.4161/onci.26968
- Stuehr, D. J., & Nathan, C. F. (1989). NITRIC OXIDE A Macrophage Product Responsible for Cytostasis and Respiratory Inhibition in Tumor Target Cells. *Journal Experimental Medicine*, 169(May).
- Swann, J. B., & Smyth, M. J. (2007). Immune surveillance of tumors. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *117*(5), 1137–1146. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI31405.
- Tazawa, H., Okada, F., Kobayashi, T., Tada, M., Mori, Y., Une, Y., ... Hosokawa, M. (2003). Infiltration of Neutrophils Is Required for Acquisition of Metastatic Phenotype of Benign Murine Fibrosarcoma Cells: Implication of Inflammation-Associated Carcinogenesis and Tumor Progression. *American Journal of Pathology*, 163(6), 2221–2232. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63580-8
- Thomas, W. D., Smith M. J., Si, Z., Hersey P. (1996) Expression of the costimulatory molecule CD40 on melanoma cells. *Int J Cancer*, 68(6), 795–801
- Todryk, S.M., Tutt, A.L., Green, M.H., Smallwood, J.A., Halanek, N., Dalgleish, A.G., Glennie, M.J. (2001). CD40 ligation for immunotherapy of solid tumours. *J Immunol Methods* 248(1–2), 139–147

Tomura, M., Yoshida, N., Tanaka, J., Karasawa, S., Miwa, Y., & Miyawaki, A. (2008).

Monitoring cellular movement in vivo with photoconvertible fluorescence protein "Kaede " transgenic mice. *PNAS*, *105*(31), 10871–10876.

- Tonegawa, S. (1983). Somatic generation of antibody diversity. *Nature*, *302*(5909), 575–581. http://doi.org/10.1038/302575a0
- Trellakis, S., Bruderek, K., Dumitru, C. A., Gholaman, H., Gu, X., Bankfalvi, A., ... Brandau, S. (2011). Polymorphonuclear granulocytes in human head and neck cancer: Enhanced inflammatory activity, modulation by cancer cells and expansion in advanced disease. *International Journal of Cancer*, 129(9), 2183–2193. http://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.25892
- van Furth, R., & Cohn, Z. A. 1968. The origin and kinetics of mononuclear phagocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* 128:415–435.doi:10.1084/jem.128.3.415
- Vanneman, M., & Dranoff, G. (2014). Combining Immunotherapy and Targeted Therapies in Cancer Treatment. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 12(4), 237–251. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3237.
- Vermorken J.B., Claessen A.M., Van Tinteren H., Gall H.E., Ezinga, R., Meijer S., Scheper, R.J., Meijer CJ, Bloemena E., Ransom, J.H., Hanna M.G. Jr., Pinedo H.M. (1999). Active specific immunotherapy for stage II and stage III human colon cancer: a randomised trial. *Lancet* 1999; 353(9150):345–350
- Verona, R. I., Wiehagen, K. R., Girgis, N. M., Yamada, D. H., Smith, A. A., Chan, S. R., ... Quigley, M. (2017). Combination of CD40 agonism and CSF-1R blockade reconditions tumor-associated macrophages and drives potent antitumor immunity. *Cancer Immunology Research*, canimm.0258.2017. http://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0258
- Villegas, F. R., Coca, S., Villarrubia, V. G., Jiménez, R., Chillón, M. J., Jareño, J., ... Callol, L. (2002). Prognostic significance of tumor infiltrating natural killer cells subset CD57 in patients with squamous cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer*, 35(1), 23–28. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5002(01)00292-6
- Vonderheide, R.H. (2007) Prospect of targeting the CD40 pathway for cancer therapy. *Clin Cancer Res*, *13*(4), 1083–1088.
- Vonderheide, R.H., Flaherty, K.T., Khalil, M., Stumacher, M.S., Bajor, D.L., Hutnick, N.A., Sullivan, P., Mahany, J.J., Gallagher, M., Kramer, A., Green, S.J., O'Dwyer, P.J., Running, K.L., Huhn, R.D., Antonia, S.J., (2007) Clinical activity and immune modulation in cancer patients treated with CP-870,893, a novel

CD40 agonist monoclonal antibody. J. Clin. Oncol., 25(7), 876-883

- Vonderheide, R. H., Burg, J. M., Mick, R., Trosko, J. A., Li, D., Shaik, M. N., Tolcher, A. W., ... Hamid, O. (2013). Phase I study of the CD40 agonist antibody CP-870,893 combined with carboplatin and paclitaxel in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Oncoimmunology*, 2(1), e23033.
- Voronov, E., Shouval, D. S., Krelin, Y., Cagnano, E., Benharroch, D., Iwakura, Y., ... Apte, R. N. (2002). IL-1 is required for tumor invasiveness and angiogenesis. *PNAS*, 100(5), 2645–2650. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0437939100
- Wagner, S. C., Ichim, T. E., Bogin, V., Min, W.-P., Silva, F., Patel, A. N., & Kesari, S. (2017). Induction and characterization of anti-tumor endothelium immunity elicited by ValloVax therapeutic cancer vaccine. *Oncotarget*, *8*(17), 28595–28613. http://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.15563
- Wagner, S. C., Ichim, T. E., Ma, H., Szymanski, J., Perez, J. A., Lopez, J., ... Kesari, S. (2015). Cancer anti - angiogenesis vaccines : Is the tumor vasculature antigenically unique? *Journal of Translational Medicine*, 1–11. http://doi.org/10.1186/s12967-015-0688-5
- Wang, J., Jia, Y., Wang, N., Zhang, X., Bingxu, T., Guangyu, Z., & Cheng, Y. (2014). The clinical significance of tumor-infiltrating neutrophils and neutrophil-to-CD8+ lymphocyte ratio in patients with resectable esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Journal of Translational Medicine*. http://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-015-1204-2
- Wang, Y., Su, L., Morin, M. D., Jones, B. T., Mifune, Y., Shi, H., ... Beutler, B. (2018). Adjuvant effect of the novel TLR1/TLR2 agonist Diprovocim synergizes with anti-PD-L1 to eliminate melanoma in mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 201809232. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1809232115
- Wang, X., Lin, Y. (2008). Tumor necrosis factor and cancer, buddies or foes? Acta Pharmacologica Sinica, 29(11), 1275-1288. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-7254.2008.00889.x
- Weagel, E., Smith, C., Liu, P.G., Robinson, R., O'Neill, K. (2015). Macrophage Polarization and its role in cancer. J Clin Cell Immunol, 6:338. doi: 10.4172/2155-9899.1000338.
- Weinberg, R. A. (2014). The Biology of Cancer: The Nature of Cancer Chapter 2. In *Garland Science* (pp. 25–56). http://doi.org/10.1016/0160-

9327(82)90105-3.

- Wingett, D.G., Vestal R.E., Forcier, K., Hadjokas, N., Nielson, C.P. (1998). CD40 is functionally expressed on human breast carcinomas: variable inducibility by cytokines and enhancement of Fas-mediated apoptosis. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 50(1), 27–36
- Winograd, R., Byrne, K. T., Evans, R. A., Odorizzi, P. M., Meyer, A. R., Bajor, D. L., Clendenin, C., Stanger, B. Z., Furth, E. E., Wherry, E. J., ... Vonderheide, R. H. (2015). Induction of T-cell Immunity Overcomes Complete Resistance to PD-1 and CTLA-4 Blockade and Improves Survival in Pancreatic Carcinoma. *Cancer immunology research*, 3(4), 399-411. http://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0215
- Wolchok, J. D., Kluger, H., Callahan, M. K., Postow, M. A., Rizvi, N. A., Lesokhin, Alexander MSegal, N. H., ... Sznol, M. (2013). Nivolumab plus Ipilimumab in Advanced Melanoma. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1302369
- Xia, A.-L., Wang, X.-C., Lu, Y.-J., Lu, X.-J., Sun, B., Xia, A.-L., ... Sun, B. (2017). Chimeric-antigen receptor T (CAR-T) cell therapy for solid tumors: challenges and opportunities. *Oncotarget*, 8(52), 90521–90531. http://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.19361
- Xuan, Q. J., Wang, J. X., Nanding, A., Wang, Z. P., Liu, H., Lian, X., & Zhang, Q. Y. (2014). Tumor-associated macrophages are correlated with tamoxifen resistance in the postmenopausal breast cancer patients. *Pathology and Oncology Research*, 20(3), 619–624. http://doi.org/10.1007/s12253-013-9740-z
- Yang, J., Zhang, L., Yu, C., Yang, X., & Wang, H. (2014). Monocyte and macrophage differentiation : circulation inflammatory monocyte as biomarker for inflammatory diseases, 1–9.
- Yang, L., & Zhang, Y. (2017). Tumor-associated macrophages: from basic research to clinical application. *Journal of hematology & oncology*, 10(1), 58. http://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-017-0430-2
- Yang, Y. (2015). Cancer immunotherapy: Harnessing the immune system to battle cancer. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 125(9), 3335–3337. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI83871
- Yao, Y., Chen, S., Cao, M., Fan, X., Yang, T., Huang, Y., ... Qian, Y. (2017). Antigen-

specific CD8+ T cell feedback activates NLRP3 inflammasome in antigenpresenting cells through perforin. *Nature Communications*, *8*(May), 1–17. http://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms15402

- Yasuda, S., Sho, M., Yamato, I., Yoshiji, H., Wakatsuki, K., Nishiwada, S., ... Nakajima, Y. (2013). Simultaneous blockade of programmed death 1 and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 (VEGFR2) induces synergistic anti-tumour effect in vivo. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, 172(3), 500–506. http://doi.org/10.1111/cei.12069
- Yona, S., Kim, K.-W., Wolf, Y., Mildner, A., Varol, D., Breker, M., ... Jung, S. (2013). Fate mapping reveals origins and dynamics of monocytes and tissue macrophages under homeostasis. *Immunity*, 38(1), 79–91. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2012.12.001
- Youn, J.-I., Collazo, M., Shalova, I. N., Biswas, S. K., & Gabrilovich, D. I. (2012). Characterization of the nature of granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 91(1), 167–181. http://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0311177
- Yu, S., Li, A., Liu, Q., Li, T., Yuan, X., Han, X., & Wu, K. (2017). Chimeric antigen receptor T cells: a novel therapy for solid tumors. *Journal of Hematology & Oncology*, 10(1), 78. http://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-017-0444-9
- Zacharakis, N., Chinnasamy, H., Black, M., Xu, H., Lu, Y., Zheng, Z., ... Feldman, S. A. (2018). Immune recognition of somatic mutations leading to complete durable regression in metastatic breast cancer. *Nature Medicine*, 01. http://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0040-8
- Zaretsky, J. M., Garcia-Diaz, A., Shin, D. S., Ordinas, H. E.-, Hugo, W., Hu-Lieskovan, S., ... Ribas, A. (2016). Mutations Associated with Acquired Resistance to PD-1 Blockade in Melanoma. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 375(9), 819– 829. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1604958.
- Zelenay, S., Veen, A. G. Van Der, Bo, J. P., Sergio, A., Sahai, E., Snelgrove, K. J., ... Reis, C. (2015). Cyclooxygenase-Dependent Tumor Growth through Evasion of Immunity. *Cell*, 162, 1257–1270. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.015
- Zhang, L., Conejo-Garcia, J. R., Katsaros, D., Gimotty, P. A., Massobrio, M., Regnani,
   G., ... Coukos, G. (2003). Intratumoral T Cells, Recurrence, and Survival in
   Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 203–213.

- Zhang, Q., Liu, L., Gong, C., Shi, H., Zeng, Y., Wang, X., ... Wei, Y. (2012). Prognostic Significance of Tumor-Associated Macrophages in Solid Tumor: A Meta-Analysis of the Literature. *PLoS ONE*, 7(12), e50946. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0050946
- Zhao, J. jing, Pan, K., Wang, W., Chen, J. gao, Wu, Y. heng, Lv, L., ... Xia, J. chuan. (2012). The prognostic value of tumor-infiltrating neutrophils in gastric adenocarcinoma after resection. *PLoS ONE*, 7(3), 1–6. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0033655
- Zhao, Q., Kuang, D.-M., Wu, Y., Xiao, X., Li, X.-F., Li, T.-J., & Zheng, L. (2012). Activated CD69+ T Cells Foster Immune Privilege by Regulating IDO Expression in Tumor-Associated Macrophages. *The Journal of Immunology*, 188(3), 1117–1124. http://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1100164
- Zhao, Y., Wang, T., Yu, G., Zhuang, D., Zhang, H., Zhao, D., & Yu, A. (2013). Antiproliferation Effects of Interferon-gamma on Gastric Cancer Cells, *14*, 5513– 5518.
- Zhou, P., Shaffer, D. R., Arias, D. A. A., Nakazaki, Y., Elpek, K., Brogdon, J., ... Ploegh, H. L. (2014). In vivo Discovery of Immunotherapy Targets in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Nature*, 506(7486), 52–57. http://doi.org/10.1038/nature12988.
- Zhou, Z., Zhang, C., Zhang, J., & Tian, Z. (2012). Macrophages help NK cells to attack tumor cells by stimulatory NKG2D ligand but protect themselves from NK killing by inhibitory ligand Qa-1. *PLoS ONE*, 7(5). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036928
- Zhu, Y., Knolhoff, B. L., Meyer, M. A., Nywening, T. M., Brian, L., Luo, J., ... DeNardo, D. G. (2014). CSF1/CSF1R Blockade Reprograms Tumor-Infiltrating Macrophages and Improves Response to T Cell Checkpoint Immunotherapy in Pancreatic Cancer Models. *Cancer Research*, 74(18), 5057–5069. http://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-3723.
- Zitvogel, L., Pitt, J. M., Daillère, R., Smyth, M. J., & Kroemer, G. (2016). Mouse models in oncoimmunology. *Nature Publishing Group*. http://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2016.91